

Nova Southeastern University NSUWorks

Theses and Dissertations

Abraham S. Fischler College of Education and School of Criminal Justice

2024

African American Parents and School-Based Parental Involvement at the Secondary Level

Mark A. Dykes Nova Southeastern University

Follow this and additional works at: https://nsuworks.nova.edu/fse_etd

Part of the Education Commons

Share Feedback About This Item

NSUWorks Citation

Mark A. Dykes. 2024. African American Parents and School-Based Parental Involvement at the Secondary Level. Doctoral dissertation. Nova Southeastern University. Retrieved from NSUWorks, Abraham S. Fischler College of Education and School of Criminal Justice. (577) https://nsuworks.nova.edu/fse_etd/577.

This Dissertation is brought to you by the Abraham S. Fischler College of Education and School of Criminal Justice at NSUWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of NSUWorks. For more information, please contact nsuworks@nova.edu.

African American Parents and School-Based Parental Involvement

at the Secondary Level

by Mark A. Dykes

An Applied Dissertation Submitted to the Abraham S. Fischler College of Education and School of Criminal Justice in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Education

Nova Southeastern University 2024

Approval Page

This applied dissertation was submitted by Mark Dykes under the direction of the persons listed below. It was submitted to the Abraham S. Fischler College of Education and School of Criminal Justice and approved in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Education at Nova Southeastern University.

Kathleen Kardaras, PsyD Committee Chair

Matthew Delaney, EdD Committee Member

Kimberly Durham, PsyD Dean

Statement of Original Work

I declare the following:

I have read the Code of Student Conduct and Academic Responsibility as described in the *Student Handbook* of Nova Southeastern University. This applied dissertation represents my original work, except where I have acknowledged the ideas, words, or material of other authors.

Where another author's ideas have been presented in this applied dissertation, I have acknowledged the author's ideas by citing them in the required style.

Where another author's words have been presented in this applied dissertation, I have acknowledged the author's words by using appropriate quotation devices and citations in the required style.

I have obtained permission from the author or publisher—in accordance with the required guidelines—to include any copyrighted material (e.g., tables, figures, survey instruments, large portions of text) in this applied dissertation manuscript.

Mark A. Dykes Name

March 27, 2024

Date

Abstract

African American Parents and School-Based Parental Involvement at the Secondary Level. Mark A. Dykes, 2024: Applied Dissertation, Nova Southeastern University, Abraham S. Fischler College of Education and School of Criminal Justice. Keywords: African American parents, parental involvement, home-based parental involvement, school-based parental involvement, academic socialization, barriers to parental involvement

Parental involvement is a multifaceted construct that includes school-based, home-based, and academic socialization. School-based parental involvement in education has been positively associated with academic achievement for all students. However, educational leaders are challenged to get parents involved in school-based activities, such as the School Site Council, Parent Council, and Open Houses.

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive study is to examine the reasons why African American parents are not fully involved in the policymaking and organizational activities at the target secondary school. This study is guided by the combined conceptual frameworks of Critical Race Theory, the Hoover-Dempsey and Sandler framework, and Epstein's Overlapping Sphere of Influence. This study has three central research questions: (1) What are African American parents' perceptions of organizational activities and policymaking at the secondary level? (2) What barriers prevent African American parents from engaging in organizational activities and policymaking at the secondary level? And (3) What are African American parents' perspectives of the family-school relationship?

Semi structured interviews and focus groups were used to collect data. An interview protocol was developed to guide the interviews and focus groups. Braun and Clark's data analysis framework was used to analyze interview and focus group transcripts. Findings from the study indicated that African American parents perceived organizational and policymaking activities as important; however, parents perceived supporting the child emotionally as most important at the secondary school level. The following barriers to school-based engagement were identified in this study: intergenerational trauma, communication, work schedule, mental health, and recurring illnesses. Several parents experienced racism, but it was not a barrier to school-based parental involvement for any of the parents in this study. Finally, most parents in the study felt a sense of belonging during their time at their child's high school and believed that the school could strengthen the family-school partnership by creating a more inclusive environment where all parents feel welcome.

Table of Contents

	Page
Chapter 1: Introduction	
Statement of Problem	
Researcher's Role	
Definition of Key Terms	
Purpose of the Study	9
Chapter 2: Literature Review	
Conceptual Framework	
Hoover-Dempsey and Sandler Model	
Joyce Epstein's Overlapping Spheres of Influence	
Summary	
Research Questions	55
Chapter 3: Methodology	56
Aim of the Study	
Qualitative Research Approach	56
Participants	
Data Collection and Instruments	63
Procedures	67
Data Analysis	68
Assumptions	71
Delimitations	71
Ethical Considerations	72
Trustworthiness	73
Potential Research Bias	73
Limitations	74
Summary	75
Chapter 4: Findings	78
Research Questions	79
Demographics	79
Findings and Summary	80
Data Analysis for Research Question 1	81
Summary	98
Data Analysis for Research Question 2	
Summary	115
Data Analysis for Research Question 3	
Summary	
-	
Chapter 5: Discussion	123
The Hoover-Dempsey and Sandler Model	
Critical Race Theory	
Overlapping Spheres of Influence	129

Implication of the Study	
Relevance of Study	
Limitations	
Recommendation for Future Research	
References	
Appendix Interview Protocol	172

Tables

1	Demographics	
	Home-Based Support	
	Perception of School-Based Activities	
	Participation in School-Based Activities	
	Breakdown of Communication Challenges	
	Findings and the Conceptual Framework	

Chapter 1: Introduction

Statement of the Problem

Parental involvement in education is essential because parents are a significant part of their child's overall development (Epstein, 2001; Sonnenschein & Sun, 2017). Parent participation in education is correlated to increased academic achievement, graduation, positive mental health, and college enrollment (Degol et al., 2017; James et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2019). Day and Dotterer (2018) posited that parent involvement comprises three areas: school-based involvement, home-based involvement, and academic socialization. School-based involvement involves participating in parentteacher conferences, sporting events, and decision-making committees (Park et al., 2017). Home-based involvement includes helping the child with homework and creating a safe learning space (Duppong et al., 2017). Academic socialization involves the parents' beliefs and practices contributing to their child's growth (Simpkins et al., 2018). Joyce Epstein's six types of parental involvement model and the Hoover-Dempsey and Sandler model are two frameworks that have guided research on parental involvement in education (Epstein, 2011; Hoover-Dempsey et al., 2005).

Parental involvement scholar Epstein (2011) developed a framework for defining the types of parental involvement. The six types—childrearing, interactions between school and home, community service in school, home-based educational practices, policymaking, and collaborating with the community—were established to help schools develop strong family-school partnerships (Epstein, 2011, 2018). In Epstein's (2011) framework, the onus is on the school to adopt practices that support its goals around student achievement and family-school relationships. The Hoover-Dempsey and Sandler

1

(2005) framework established the influences that parents need in order to become involved in their child's education. The first stage of the framework looks at parents' beliefs, view of invitation for involvement, and life context. The second level looks at what influenced the parents' choice of involvement. This section includes the parents' skill and expertise, constraints on the parent's time, and requests from the child and the school for involvement (Hoover-Dempsey et al., 2005). Additionally, Epstein (2011) and Hoover-Dempsey and Sandler (2005) also highlighted the role that schools play in parental involvement. In Epstein's (2011) model, schools are tasked with adopting practices that support parental involvement at home and in school. In Hoover-Dempsey and Sandler's (2005) framework, schools are tasked with creating an atmosphere where parents feel welcomed and invited. Based on these two frameworks, schools significantly determine how parents participate in their child's education (Bartz et al., 2017). As Day and Dotterer (2018) have shown, however, as students matriculate through school, school-based parental involvement declines.

Constantino (2021) theorized that families disengage from high school for two reasons: ideological differences and cultural biases related to low socioeconomic status. The author posited that some teachers have preconceived notions about parents from the lower echelons of society, and therefore they do not involve such parents in their children's education. This point was validated by a number of studies, which indicated that African American and Hispanic parents used more home-based parental involvement and academic socialization than school-based parent involvement because of their negative experiences with schools (Goss, 2019; Leath et al., 2020; Lechuga-Peña & Brisson, 2018; Parsons et al., 2018). These experiences included parents feeling excluded from the school parents feeling unwelcomed in the school, and parents experiencing a lack of culturally sustaining family engagement practices in schools (Allen & White-Smith, 2018; Constantino, 2021; Goss, 2019; Leath et al., 2020; Lechuga-Peña & Brisson, 2018; Parsons et al., 2018). Next, school and family-based barriers have also been found to limit school-based parental involvement in education (Alexander et al., 2017; Clifford & Goncu, 2019; Lechuga-Peña & Brisson, 2018).

Research indicated that family-based barriers such as socioeconomic status is a significant barrier to school-based parental involvement for all ethnic groups (Curtis et al., 2021; Lechuga-Peña & Brisson, 2018; Malone, 2017). Socioeconomic barriers included being the sole provider, lack of childcare, and lack of transportation (Lechuga-Peña & Brisson, 2018). Alexander et al. (2017) found in their study on barriers to parental involvement and Latinos that lack of transportation, feeling unwelcome at school, and conflict with scheduling were all obstacles to the parents' ability to participate in school activities. Clifford and Goncu (2019) found in their study on lowincome African American parents and parental involvement that schedule conflicts, tension with the school community, lack of information being distributed to parents about school events, and childcare were all barriers to school-based parental involvement for the parent in their study. Language barriers were found to be a significant barrier to school-based involvement for Latino and immigrant parents (Alexander et al., 2017). In his study on 21 Latino middle-class families, Inoa (2017) found that limited English skills impeded parents' ability to participate in school and home educational activities. Finally, a common barrier that has been often overlooked is the structure of interactions between parents and schools (Constantino, 2021). An example of this is the Open House. Most

schools have two Open Houses per year. At the Open House, teachers and parents converse about their child's academic progress and behavior. Constantino (2021) posited that these structured interactions create artificial relationships, which could be considered as barriers if the family and school do not have a solid partnership and see their roles as separate rather than shared (Epstein, 2001).

Epstein's (2001) seminal work on school and family partnerships posited three perspectives on family-school relationships: (1) distinct responsibilities of families and schools, which is premised on the inharmoniousness, opposition, and struggle between families and schools; (2) collective responsibility of families and schools, a belief that rests upon the notion of cooperation, coordination, and alliance between families and schools; and (3) successive responsibilities of families and schools, an assumption that is based on the notion that parents and schools contribute to the child's development at critical stages.

A plethora of research has indicated that African American parents and schools have incompatible and conflictual relationships (Allen & White-Smith, 2018; Leath et al., 2020; Lechuga-Peña & Brisson, 2018; Marcucci, 2020). African American parents have had to use navigational and cultural capital in response to school practices that they perceived as intended to exclude them and their children (Allen & White-Smith, 2018; Leath et al., 2020; Lechuga-Peña & Brisson, 2018). These practices include zerotolerance policies, the school-to-prison pipeline, and the lack of culturally sustaining family engagement practices in schools (Marcucci, 2020; Parsons et al., 2018; Schiff, 2018).

Phenomenon of Interest

The problem to be addressed in this study is that African American parents at the target secondary school in a northeastern state are not fully engaged in the school's policymaking and organizational activities as measured by participation in the Parent Council, School Site Council (SSC), and parent-teacher meetings. The current parent participation rate for the two Open Houses is 36%: Hispanic parents represented the highest participation rate at 63%; followed by White parents at 20%, African American parents at 10%, Asian parents at 6%, and 1% other. Secondly, the current parent participation rate in the SSC was 75% (three out of the four available seats for parents were taken, one was vacant). There were three Hispanic and one White voting member on the council, while African American, Asian, and parents who identify as other, did not participate. Participation rates varied monthly for the Parent Council meetings. However, a core group of 10 parents participated monthly. Of that core group, nine of the parents were Hispanic and one was White.

Background and Justification

Research has indicated a strong association between school-based parental involvement and students' increased grade point average (GPA) and graduation rates (Day & Dotterer, 2018; James et al., 2019). However, when students reach high school, school-based parental involvement tends to decrease (Constantino, 2021). According to the National Center for Education Statistic's parent and family survey, 92% of parents of kindergarten through second-grade students conveyed that they regularly met with a teacher. In comparison, only 58% of parents of high school students reported that they attended parent-teacher meetings regularly (U.S. Department of Education Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics [NCES], 2017).

The overall decline in parental engagement at the high school level may be due to students entering adolescence. Erikson (1968) posited in his research on the life cycle that as young people enter adolescence, they have an identity crisis because they are trying to discover who they are, how the group views them, and how they fit into the group. Thus, the young person seeks to become independent from his parents. Parents themselves have experienced this phenomenon and are inclined to give their child more responsibility regarding schooling (Erikson, 1968). The decline in school-based involvement has had a profound effect on African American students, and the drop in school-based parental involvement at the secondary school level was correlated with a decrease in GPA and graduation rates for African American students (James et al., 2019).

African American parents lag behind their peers in participating in policymaking school committees. According to the NCES's parent and family survey, 49% of White and Asian parents reported that they were part of a school committee; 36% of Hispanic parents reported that they served on a school committee; and 34% of African American parents reported that they served on a school committee (NCES, 2017). School-based activities such as participating in the Parent-Teacher Organization (PTO) and the SSC give parents a voice in the policymaking process (Medina et al., 2020). Participation in the decision-making process is important for African American parents because it would enable them to help shape policies and practices that overwhelmingly target African American children. For example, when special education and discipline practices are not designed to support African American students, the result can be a more pronounced

school-to-prison pipeline, biased practices and procedures, and the over enrollment of Black males in classes for students who have learning disabilities (Bell, 2020; Farkas et al., 2020; Marcucci, 2020; Morgan et al., 2017; Schiff, 2018).

Deficiencies in the Evidence

There are a plethora of studies that indicated that African American parents resort to more home-based parental involvement than school-based involvement, compared to their peers because of negative interactions with schools (Goss, 2019; Leath et al., 2020; Lechuga-Peña & Brisson, 2018; Parsons et al., 2018). Barriers to school-based parental involvement included feeling unwelcome in school, being the sole provider, and lack of childcare and transportation (Alexander et al., 2017; Clifford & Goncu, 2019; Lechuga-Peña & Brisson, 2018). Studies indicated that African American parents used more home-based involvement because of the incompatible relationship between families and schools (Allen & White-Smith, 2018; Leath et al., 2020; Lechuga-Peña & Brisson, 2018; Marcucci, 2020). A gap in the current research revolves around a lack of understanding why African American parents do not fully engage in school-based committees, such as the SSC, which create the policies and procedures that profoundly impact their children. School-based committees give parents a vote in the decision-making process concerning curriculum, discipline, budgeting, personnel, policies, and procedures. Every school in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts is mandated by law to have a functioning SSC. Audience

This study provided the knowledge necessary to respond to parents' expressed objections to participation and encourages parents to become more invested in their child's secondary school governance. In this study, I also aimed to enable African American parents to share their experiences with educators and school administrators, whose responsibility is to create an environment that values and welcomes parental involvement.

Researcher's Role

I am currently the Assistant Head of School at the research site. It is my second year in my current position. Before I became the assistant head of the school, I spent 17 years as the senior school counselor at the research site.

Definition of Terms

Academic Socialization

This is the practice of monitoring students' academic performance, engaging in meaningful conversations regarding school and career goals, encouraging the child to pursue their education and career interests, and helping the child prepare for their future endeavors by supporting their goals (Francis et al., 2020; Metzger et al., 2020). Academic socialization is essential in developing the child's self-concept and self-esteem in education (Cross et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2023).

Barriers to School-Based Parental Involvement in Education

These barriers prevent parents from becoming involved in organizational activities. Such barriers may include ethnic identity, racism, single-parenting language, work schedule, culture, and an unwelcoming school environment (Alexandra et al., 2017; Allen & White-Smith, 2018; Lechuga-Peña, 2018).

Home-Based Parental Involvement

These are activities that reinforce learning in school. These activities include providing a space for learning, monitoring, and checking homework, structuring the time spent on schoolwork and leisure, and monitoring the student's progress through report cards, progress reports, and the Student Information System (Jarrett & Coba-Rodriguez, 2019; Ogg & Anthony, 2020). Home-based parental involvement also includes helping the child with homework and fostering extra-curricular activities to stimulate learning, such as taking a child to a museum (Duppong et al., 2017; Huguley et al., 2020)

School-Based Parental Involvement

This involves parents actively participating in activities in the school setting. These activities include participating in the PTO, partaking in parent-teacher conferences, joining the school's governance body, volunteering, and reading to a class (Day & Dotterer, 2018; James et al., 2019).

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive study was to examine the reasons why African American parents at the target secondary school were not fully engaged in policymaking and organizational activities. When African American parents engage in school-based parental involvement, students' GPA and education attainment improve (Day & Dotterer, 2018; James et al., 2019; Otani, 2020). The lack of school-based parental involvement for African American parents has consequences for African American students, such as exacerbating their achievement gap and fortifying the schoolto-prison pipeline (Marcucci, 2020; Schiff, 2018). Barriers to involvement and a familyschool relationship premised on competition and conflict may be the causes for the lack of school-based involvement for African American parents. However, African American parents' involvement or lack thereof in school policymaking and organizational activities is under researched from the parents' perspective. In 2015, Congress passed the Every Student Succeed Act (ESSA) returning states' control over standards, assessments, and policies previously controlled by the federal government under the No Child Left Behind Act (Adler-Green, 2019; Darling-Hammond, 2018). A major part of ESSA is how states and school districts engage parents. Per ESSA's family and community requirements, any district receiving Title 1 funding must develop a written family engagement policy. Families are required by law to be involved in the development of the policy (Massachusetts Department of Education, 2022).

Chapter 2: Literature Review

This literature review aimed to acquire a deep understanding of African American parents' school-based involvement experiences at the secondary school level. The guiding theoretical frameworks used in this study are critical race theory (CRT) (Bridges, 2019; Delgado & Stefancic, 2017; Ladson-Billings, 2013), the Hoover-Dempsey and Sandler model (Hoover-Dempsey et al., 2005), and Epstein's Overlapping Spheres of Influence framework (Epstein, 2011). These three frameworks provided insight and a lens through which to view the problem to be addressed in this study: African American parents at the target secondary school are not fully engaged in the policymaking and organizational activities as measured by participation in the Parent Council, SSC, and parent-teacher meetings.

African American parents' experiences with White supremacy practices have profoundly affected their self-concept and have also shaped their perception of their interactions with schools (Allen & White-Smith, 2018; James, 2017; Johnson & Wakefield, 2020; Lechuga-Peña & Brisson). Critical race theory, which postulates that race is a central structure in society, coupled with the Hoover-Dempsey and Sandler framework, provided this study's explanatory framework for understanding how unwelcoming school practices impact African American parents' decision to become involved in policymaking and organizational activities, and the barriers to their involvement (Bridges, 2019; Delgado & Stefancic, 2017; Ladson-Billings, 2013).

African Americans parents used more home-based involvement because of their experiences with schools, due to barriers such as experiences of racism by staff and other parents, feeling unwelcomed in the school, being a single-parent, and transportation issues (Alexander et al., 2017; Clifford & Goncu, 2019; Lechuga-Peña & Brisson, 2018). The Hoover-Dempsey and Sandler framework coupled with CRT helped to understand parents' essential involvement decision and what they were influenced by (i.e., role construction, parent's sense efficacy, or general invitations from school or child), as well as parents' choice of involvement forms and what they were influenced by (i.e., expertise, constraints on time, and invitations from the school or child) (Hoover-Dempsey et al., 2005). Finally, the Epstein (2011) Overlapping Spheres of Influence framework was used for examining family-school partnerships.

A plethora of research indicated that parent involvement in school bettered student outcomes in the following areas: academic achievement, GPA, and graduation rate (Day & Dotterer, 2018; James et al., 2019). However, parental involvement lessens as students matriculate through school (Bhargava & Witherspoon, 2015; Day & Dotterer, 2018). Epstein's (2011) Overlapping Spheres of Influence framework posited that student learning increases when the community works together to provide the necessary support. By examining African American parents' perception of school-based involvement and school committees, I intended this research to add to the body of knowledge regarding parental involvement at school. In addition, it provided further insight into the impact of race or lack thereof on African American parents' perception of policymaking and organizational activities.

This chapter is organized as follows: (1) A description of CRT, the Hoover-Dempsey and Sandler model of the parental involvement process, and Epstein's Overlapping Spheres of Influence framework; (2) an overview of the types of parental involvement, the benefits of parental involvement, and the impact on student achievement; (3) a discussion of barriers to parental involvement; and (4) a discussion of models of school-parent partnerships and culturally responsive, sustaining parental engagement.

The Nova Southeastern University library and Google Scholar were used to obtain literature for the current study. Search databases used for this study included: Academic Search Complete, EBSCOhost, ERIC, JSTOR, ProQuest, and Roadrunner. Literature searches were limited to peer-reviewed, scholarly articles published in or after 2017, but seminal articles published before 2017 were included as well. Electronic books from the Nova Southeastern Library and the Amazon Kindle store were also used for this study. The following key terms and phrases were used in the search engines: 'types of parent involvement;' 'parental involvement at the secondary school level;' 'parental involvement and academic achievement;' 'CRT;' 'CRT in education;' 'barriers to parental involvement;' 'parental involvement frameworks;' 'White supremacy practices;' 'school-based parental involvement;' 'African Americans and parental involvement;' 'racism in schools;' and 'culturally responsive sustaining parental engagement.'

Conceptual Framework

Critical Race Theory

The first framework used to support this study is CRT. Delgado and Stefancic (2017) posited that "Critical race theory is a movement of interdisciplinary activists and scholars engaged in the studying and transforming the relationship among race, racism, and power" (p. 3). Critical race theory is premised on five tenets, as further elaborated below: racism as usual, not unusual; interest convergence or material determinism; race

as a social construction; intersectionality and anti-essentialism; and voice or counternarrative (Bridges, 2019; Delgado & Stefancic, 2017; Ladson-Billings, 2013).

Critical Race Theory Tenet 1

The first tenet of CRT is the belief that racism is normal and not aberrant. Critical race theory scholars do not agree that racism exists only in individual thoughts and behaviors but rather that it is ingrained in how society operates and impacts people of color daily (Bell, 1992; Bridges, 2019; Delgado & Stefancic, 2017; Ladson-Billings, 2013). Bridges (2019) proposed that being "unconscious of race-or pretending that it does not exist" perpetuates race and racial inequality (p. 10). The dominant culture pretends that race does not exist by promoting color-blindness and meritocracy rhetoric (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017; Ladson-Billings, 2013). The color-blindness theory suggests that everyone enjoys equal treatment regardless of their race while the meritocracy theory suggests that all individuals in a society have a level playing field and an equal chance to succeed (Bridges, 2019; Zamudio et al., 2011). Critical race theory scholars have challenged both theories and labeled them "the myth of color blindness" and "the myth of meritocracy" (Bridges, 2019; Delgado & Stefancic, 2017; Ladson-Billings, 2013). Critical race theory scholars believe that covert racist policies, practices, and procedures interweave through access to equitable housing, education, employment, the healthcare system, and the public welfare system to keep African Americans at a disadvantage (Bell, 1992; Better, 2008; Bridges, 2019; Delgado & Stefancic, 2017; Ladson-Billings, 2013).

Critical Race Theory Tenet 2

The second tenet, interest convergence, is the belief that the dominant culture will only seek racial justice if this action benefits its interests (Bell, 1995; Ladson-Billings, 2013; Lewis & Shah, 2021). This tenet was derived from Bell's (1980) work, which posited that the U.S. Supreme Court's Brown v. Board of Education (1954) decision could not be understood without considering how it benefited Whites. The Brown v. *Board of Education* ruling, which effectively ended racial segregation in U.S. schools, had several outcomes: it gave America credibility in the world; African American veterans were reassured they would have opportunities and freedom at home; and it helped Whites in the U.S. South transition from a plantation society based on segregation to a more profitable Sunbelt society in which industries such as oil, military, and aerospace thrived (Bell, 1980). Racism had advanced the monetary interests of the elite Whites and the psychic interests of the working-class Whites. Delgado and Stefancic (2017) claimed that eliminating racism was thus deemed to be unnecessary. Additionally, Bell (1980) posited that Whites could not understand the sacrifice it takes for true equality because they would have to give up their class and racial privileges.

Critical Race Theory Tenet 3

The third tenet of CRT, race as a social construction, is the belief that race is not a scientific reality; rather, human beings created categories based on genetic differences as a mechanism to create a social hierarchy and maintain White supremacy (Bryant et al., 2022; Delgado & Stefancic, 2017; Ladson-Billings, 2013). Three legal instances exemplify the use of race to maintain White supremacy in the United States: the Dred Scott decision, the 'one-drop rule,' and the creation of Jim Crow laws. Dred Scott and his

wife sued for their freedom on the premise that because they lived in a free territory for a period, they were entitled to their freedom. At the center of the Dred Scott case was whether a Black person whose ancestors were slaves could sue as a citizen (Breyer, 2010). The U.S. Supreme Court ruled that although Dred Scott was free, he could not sue because he was not a citizen of the United States. Justice Breyer (2010) posited that citizens were those who were citizens when the Constitution was adopted. Blacks at the time of the adoption of the Constitution were considered inferior and less human than Whites.

In 1911, the Arkansas legislature passed Act 320, the 'one-drop rule.' The law stated that anyone with a drop of African blood is considered African American (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017). The law made interracial marriage, interracial cohabitation, and interracial sex a crime and relegated African Americans to the status of second-class citizens. The one-drop rule was instrumental in the *Plessy v. Ferguson* decision, which affirmed states' rights to mandate separate but equal spaces for White and African American train passengers (Hickman, 1997). Finally, the 'one-drop rule' was the cornerstone of Jim Crow laws.

Jim Crow laws were established after the ratification of the 13th Amendment, which outlawed slavery in the United States, and became the common law in U.S. southern states from 1877–1964. Jim Crow laws were rooted in the Black codes, which were designed to disenfranchise and relegate African Americans to the lowest levels of society (Woodward, 2002). They forbade African Americans from riding in the front of the bus, attending the same schools as Whites, eating at White establishments, drinking from the same water fountain as Whites, living in the same neighborhoods as Whites, or use the same funeral homes and cemeteries as Whites (Woodward, 2002). All three examples highlight how race, a social construction, was used to maintain White supremacy and create a hierarchy where African Americans were artificially relegated to and treated as an inferior echelon of society.

Critical Race Theory Tenet 4

The fourth tenet of CRT, intersectionality and anti-essentialism is the examination of race, sex, class, and sexual orientation and how their combinations play out in different environments (Kolivoski, 2020). Critical race theory scholars believe that people have multiple identities that overlap (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017; Ladson-Billings, 2013).

Critical Race Theory Tenet 5

The fifth and final tenet of CRT, voice or counter-narrative, is used to amplify the voices, experiences, and perspectives of people of color (Bridges, 2019; Marcias et al., 2021). Critical race theory scholars believe that those who have experienced oppression and racism are the only ones who have the knowledge and expertise to speak on it (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017).

The CRT tenets emerged from critical legal studies, radical feminism, and the works of Antonio Gramsci, Michel Foucault, W. E. B. Du Bois, Cesar Chavez, Martin Luther King, Jr., and the political movements of the 1960s and 1970s (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017). Thus, CRT is a collection of tenets that have a long history of addressing race and racial disparities across all disciplines (Chang, 2013; Gillborn, 2015; Kolivoski, 2020; Liu, 2022; Marcias et al., 2021; Siegel, 2020). The work of Derrick Bell in the 1970s and 1980s and the protest at Harvard law school helped to create the CRT movement.

Bell (1976, 1980, 1992, 1995) challenged many of the civil rights victories of the 1950s and 1960s by refuting the claim that granting of civil rights to African Americans solely benefitted African Americans. Bell (1980) explained this in his theory on interest convergence (a second tenet of CRT), which stated that African American interests only advance when they relate to White interests. In addition, the protest at Harvard Law School over the departure of a prominent professor advanced the CRT movement. Students at Harvard Law believed that only an African American could teach the course on race and the law. The Harvard administration disagreed with the students, and the students boycotted the course. The students organized an alternate course that invited law professors of color from other schools to give lectures that offered a critical analysis of the law and race and challenged the accepted liberal discourse around race (Bridges, 2019; Crenshaw et al., 1995; Delgado & Stefancic, 2017).

Critical race theory emerged from two failures: the critical legal studies movement's lack of interest in questions pertaining to race, racism, and racial justice; and the CRT founders' disappointment in the way political liberals had conceptualized race (Bridges, 2019; Crenshaw et al., 1995; Delgado & Stefancic, 2017). Critical legal studies, a majority-White, male, and neo-Marxist movement, believed the law was instrumental in the maintenance of an unjust social order (Bridges, 2019). The objective of the critical legal studies movement was to destabilize the law by exposing its contradictions (Bridges, 2019). Critical legal studies members of color found these goals attractive, but they had issues with critical legal studies' rejection of the law being valuable to the subordinated, their insignificant social justice efforts, and their disdain towards including the concept of race in any theory, analysis, or political project (Bridges, 2019; Crenshaw et al., 1995; Delgado & Stefancic, 2017). Bell (1976, 1980, 1992, 1995), Freeman (1977), Delgado (1993), and 21 other scholars of color met at the University of Wisconsin to create a race-centered project. Crenshaw, one of the student protesters at Harvard Law School and a CRT scholar, coined the term 'critical race theory' (Crenshaw et al., 1995).

Critical race theory emerged during an era when civil rights laws were being rolled back by conservative judges that narrowly interpreted the new laws and by individuals unsympathetic to race reforms in government agencies (Bridges, 2019). Critical race theory scholars did not believe conservative judges or individuals unsympathetic to race reforms were squarely to blame for ineffective civil rights laws. They also believed that ineffective civil rights laws were a result of liberal civil rights discourse (Bridges, 2019; Crenshaw et al., 1995; Delgado & Stefancic, 2017). Traditional liberals championed a society that was egalitarian, color-blind, and meritocratic (Bridges, 2019; Zamudio et al., 2011). Critical race theory scholars saw the progressive integrationist vision as limited because it was designed to keep people of color subjugated (Bridges, 2019; Zamudio et al., 2011). Critical legal scholars refused to include race in any theory or analysis, the same way that educational scholars did not consider race when looking at the inequities in education.

The CRT movement in education began with Gloria Ladson-Billings and William Tate's presentation at the American Education Research Annual Meeting (Zamudio et al., 2011). There, Ladson-Billing and Tate (1995) postulated that race should be theorized and used as an analytical tool to understand the injustices in our public schools. Ladson-Billing and Tate's (1995) discussion at the conference was premised on three propositions: race determines inequities; property rights are important; and the combinations of race and property can be used to understand social inequities (Ladson-Billing & Tate, 1995). At the time, race was presented as an ideological construct in educational literature and educational scholars developed a deep analysis of inequity based on gender and class (Zamudio et al., 2011). Ladson-Billing and Tate (1995) argued that class and gender explanations of gaps in achievement could not explain the discrepancies in data; thus, race should be employed as an analytical tool to understand social inequities (Ladson-Billing & Tate, 1995). Critical race theory scholars in education have therefore focused primarily on racial inequality.

Critical race theory scholars in education believe that racial inequity is a result of a society based on the false premise of meritocracy and competition (Dixon & Anderson, 2018; Ladson-Billing, 1998, 2013; Ladson-Billing & Tate, 1995: Rankin-Wright et al., 2020; Zamudio et al., 2011); that educational structures create inequities (Grier & Poole, 2020; Ladson-Billing, 1998, 2013; Ladson-Billing & Tate, 1995; Zamudio et al., 2011); that White supremacy practices in schools should be rejected (Daftary, 2018; Hurtado, 2019); that the linkage between racial inequity in education and historical patterns of racial oppression should be examined (Felix & Trinidad, 2020; Robert, 2022); that race intersects with gender, class, and sexuality (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017); and that meaningful outcomes should be advocated to rectify racial inequities in schooling (Kolivoski, 2020; Rankin-Wright et al., 2020).

Studies Using Critical Race Theory

Critical race theory has been used to understand the experiences of people of color. Marrun et al. (2021) used CRT as a framework to examine the educational experiences and perspectives of families of color. Fifteen parents of color were

interviewed about their experience with teachers, and while these families viewed teaching and teachers positively, they struggled with their ability to inspire their child to follow their dream while fighting for what is right. Results of this study challenged the narrative that parents of color do not aspire to see their children succeed at the postsecondary school level (Yull et al., 2018).

Marchand et al. (2019) used CRT to understand how race affects African American parents' experiences in school. To counter to the dominant narrative that African American parents are not concerned with their child's schooling, the authors proposed a new approach: critical parent engagement. A parent who is critically engaged is cognizant of how race impacts their child in school and takes action to mediate the effect (Marchand et al., 2019). The authors used the framework to understand how African American parents examined problems in schools and acted. Bolgatz et al. (2020) used CRT to examine African American parents' perception of their children's academic experiences in a predominately White, K-5 private school. Fourteen African American parents were interviewed about their experiences in the predominately White school. Although the parents appreciated the school's rigor and opportunities, they were concerned about their children being asked to leave the school, about the form of communication or lack thereof with teachers, and the necessity for and access to academic tutors (Bolgatz et al., 2020).

Reynolds-Vasser et al. (2021) used CRT to examine African American males' experiences in suburban middle-class White schools. Five African American males were interviewed about their K-12 interactions with school officials and peers. The researchers examined race, gender, sexuality and participant's experiences in school. All five participants recounted adverse interactions with White teachers and their peers. The themes that emerged in their study were negative mindset, and character, overly masculine, sexuality, limited outlook, and African American boy joy (Reynolds-Vasser et al., 2021). Critical race theory enabled the authors to interrogate the impact of racism on African American boys' school experiences and outcomes.

Allen and White-Smith (2018) used CRT to examine how African American mothers supported their sons in school. Ten African American mothers were interviewed about their perceptions of parental involvement in education, race, and adulthood. Findings indicated the structure of the school and racism made the mothers feel unwelcomed. The mothers were met with exclusionary practices and perceived that no one wanted to help them. The permanence of race, intersectionality, and counterstorytelling were all CRT tenets that were highlighted in this study.

Hoover-Dempsey and Sandler Model

The second framework used in this study is the Hoover-Dempsey and Sandler Model. This model investigated parents' impetus for involvement in education and its correlation with student outcomes (Hoover-Dempsey & Sandler, 1995, 1997; Hoover-Dempsey et al., 2007). The Hoover-Dempsey and Sandler model is premised on the following constructs: parents' belief system, the invitation from child and school, and parents' skill, time, and energy (Hoover-Dempsey et al., 2007; Walker et al., 2005).

Parents' Motivational Beliefs

Parental role construction and self-efficacy are at the center of a parent's educational involvement belief system. Parental role construction involves parents' philosophy on their place in the educational hierarchy (Hoover-Dempsey et al., 2007;

Jarrett & Coba-Rodriguez, 2019; Sira & Holloway, 2018; Williams-Johnson & Gonzalez-DeHass, 2022). Parents' beliefs about child development and parents' peer groups related to schooling all have a significant influence on parents' role construction (Williams-Johnson & Fields-Smith, 2022; Sira & Holloway, 2018; Williams-Johnson & Gonzalez-DeHass, 2022). Self-efficacy has to do with a parent's belief in their ability to help with educational activities (Gibbs et al., 2021). Positive beliefs about efficacy are associated with increased engagement and positive student outcomes (Hoover-Dempsey et al., 2007; Liu & Leighton, 2021; Reininger & Santana, 2017).

Parents' Perception of Invitations for Involvement from others

Hoover-Dempsey et al. (2007) posited that invitation from the school and child influenced parents' involvement in education. Invitations from the school are manifested in the school's parental engagement practices, such as event calendars and progress reports. The responsiveness of the school to parents' questions and concerns is also considered to be a general school invitation (Conrad & Blackman, 2018; Hoover-Dempsey and Sandler, 2007). Next, teacher invitations for involvement play two important roles in the engagement process: they establish a role for parents, and they highlight teachers' appreciation of parent contributions to the educational process (Hoover-Dempsey et al., 2007; Liu & Leighton, 2021). Finally, child invitation for involvement is important to the engagement process because parents will generally help their child in a situation where they are asking for or need help. The child explicitly asking the parent for help with school-related activities increases parental involvement (Durišić & Bunijevac, 2017; Hoover-Dempsey et al., 2007; Liu & Leighton, 2021).

Parent's Perceived Life Context

The parents' skills, constraints on time, and socioeconomic status all influence the parents' form of involvement. A parent's skill and expertise on a subject influence their perception of effectiveness regarding a specific school-related task. A parent knowledgeable in mathematics will feel more motivated to help their child with math work than a less knowledgeable parent (Hoover-Dempsey et al., 2007). Similarly, demands on their time and energy influence parents' involvement in the educational process (Hoover-Dempsey & Sandler, 2007). The two significant demands that profoundly impact parents' decision to get involved are family dynamics and work. Single parents are the family's sole provider; thus, they are limited by family obligations and job schedules (Baker et al., 2016; Hornby & Blackwell, 2018; Lechuga-Peña & Brisson, 2018). There are several variables that affect a parent's choice whether to become involved, or not, in the educational process. There are also countless ways for parents to be involved in their child's education, such as academic socialization, home-based involvement, school-based involvement, or a combination of the three.

Levels of Parental Involvement

Hoover-Dempsey et al. (2007) posited that when parents are engaged in the educational process through academic socialization, home-based involvement, schoolbased involvement, or a combination of all three (Level 2), the following parental behaviors influence school achievement: encouraging, modeling, reinforcing, and instructing (Level 3). Parental involvement behaviors such as encouraging the student to do well in school, modeling habits of mind, reinforcing school-related activities such as homework, and doing instructional activities with the student, all influence the student's perception of parental engagement (Hoover-Dempsey et al., 2007; Liu & Leighton, 2021). These behaviors also help students develop the following qualities: self-confidence, internal drive, control, and emotional intelligence (Levels 4 and 5) (Degol et al., 2017; Lui & Leighton, 2021).

Studies Using the Hoover-Dempsey and Sandler Model

Several studies used the Hoover-Dempsey and Sandler framework to understand what motivates parents to become involved in their children's schooling and this decision's impact on student outcomes. Reininger and Santa Lopez (2017) used the Hoover-Dempsey and Sandler model to examine the connection between parents' belief systems, perception of invitations to engagement, circumstances, and parent involvement. The authors controlled for the child, parent, and socioeconomic status variables. Results from this study indicated a strong association between invitations, parents' sense of usefulness, socioeconomic status, student's grade level, and respective parental involvement. Similarly, Abel (2022) found in her study on African American fathers' involvement in their children's education that invitation from others, communication, and life context all influenced the father's decision to become involved. Lui and Leighton (2021) used the Hoover-Dempsey and Sandler model to explore the distinctive characteristics of parent involvement in predicting students' achievement in mathematics. Results from their study indicated that there was a strong association between a parent's confidence in their ability to teach and students' math achievement.

Joyce Epstein's Overlapping Spheres of Influence

The third and final framework used in this study is Joyce Epstein's Overlapping Spheres of Influence. Epstein (2018) posited that learning occurs in the three spheres: home, school, and in the community. Overlapping spheres equal a strong family, school, and community partnership, while nonoverlapping spheres equal a separate responsibilities relationship based on competition and conflict (Epstein, 2011, 2018). The framework's structure involves both external and internal spheres.

External and Internal Structures of the Model

Four external factors determine whether the external and internal spheres overlap: time, family experience, school experience, and community experience. Time (or 'Force A') refers to the development level of the child. Next, the philosophy of the home ('Force B'), school ('Force C'), and community ('Force D') determine the overlapping or nonoverlapping of the spheres (Epstein, 2011, 2018; Pacino et al., 2023; Reardon & Leonard, 2018; Werber & Fagnano, 2019).

The interior aspect of the framework focuses on internal interactions and communication of family-to-parent, family-to-school, parent-to-teacher, and school-to-teacher within the school (Epstein, 2018; Pacino et al., 2023; Reardon & Leonard 2018; Werber & Fagnano, 2019). Both the family and school spheres independently influence the child. Intrainstitutional interactions between the family and parent help to shape the child at home, and the intrainstitutional interactions between the school and teacher influence the child at school (Epstein, 2011, 2018). When the sphere of influence intersects, organizational communication occurs between families and schools. These intrainstitutional interactions are formal. Formal interactions include workshops for parents, PTO and SSC meetings, and Parent University. Formal parent and teacher interactions include conferencing regarding student progress or mental health concerns. Every family-school and parent-teacher interaction influences the child.

Studies Using the Overlapping Spheres of Influence Model

VanValkenburg et al. (2021) grounded their study on junior high school teachers' parents, the Overlapping Spheres of Influence framework, and surveys to collect qualitative data. Results from their study indicated that parent and teacher perceptions of activities such as volunteering, parenting, and communication were similar, but dissimilar when asked about home-based involvement and community outreach. In a similar study, Al-Fadley et al. (2018) used the Overlapping Spheres of Influence framework as a conceptual framework to look at teachers' views on parent involvement and students' language acquisition and used interviews to collect qualitative data. Three major themes emerged from their results: parents were seen as assets by teachers, teachers promoted home activities, such as reading, and teachers were aware of the reading deficiencies of students.

Benefits of Parental Involvement

Parental educational involvement might include reading with children, volunteering at a bake sale, visiting the zoo, and communicating parental high expectations (Day & Dotterer, 2018). Epstein (2018) has shown that the level of parental engagement in education is a determining factor in student outcomes. Benefits of parental involvement in education included better GPA, increased graduation rates among African Americans, positive mental health, and higher rates of college enrollment (Degol et al., 2017; James et al., 2019; Jeynes, 2016; Khanh & Rush, 2016; Ross, 2016; Wang et al., 2019).

Other studies have claimed that parental engagement in education is associated with student achievement regardless of race, socioeconomic status, and culture (Allen & White-Smith, 2018; Day & Dotterer, 2018; Hamlin & Li, 2019). For example, Li and Hamlin (2019) examined the relationship between home-based engagement and academic outcomes by using data from the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study- Kindergarten (ECLS-K). The sample size began at 21,260 in kindergarten and was reduced to 12,654 by third grade. Li and Hamlin's (2019) results indicated that low-income, disadvantaged, and underrepresented groups were linked to a parent's tendency to help with school assignments, which bettered academic achievement for their children.

Bodovski et al. (2022) also used data from the ECLS-K and growth models to examine the relationship between home-based engagement and academic success in grammar school. Results indicated an adverse relationship between home-based engagement and reading and math scores. However, when Bodovski et al. (2022) corrected for predispositions, the association was absent. A major limitation of their study was that it lacked information about the quality of home-based engagement; thus, the authors merely focused on the rate of occurrence.

These two studies highlighted the importance of looking at quality over quantity when examining parents' impact on their students. Parental self-efficacy may have something to do with the negative association between home-based involvement and student outcomes. Liu and Leighton's (2021) study on parental self-efficacy and math achievement posited the most significant direct effect on students' math achievement. The authors collected data from parents and used achievement scores from students in grammar school to predict students' math scores. Results from their study indicated that parental self-efficacy was influenced by school invitations for parents to become involved. These results aligned with Hoover-Dempsey and Sandler et al. (2007) and Epstein (2018), in that a parent's self-efficacy can be improved through school and student invitations to become involved, as well as through a solid school-family partnership.

Family-School Partnerships

Epstein (2018) and Hoover-Dempsey et al. (2007) suggested that schools must intentionally involve parents in the educational process because they are an asset to their children. Partnerships are one way that schools can operate intentionally about involving parents in the educational process. Forming partnerships with parents is not easy, especially when parents feel unwelcome and excluded from their child's education (Lechuga-Peña & Brisson, 2018; Marcucci, 2020). When barriers exist between parents and the school, creating a meaningful partnership is difficult (Alexander et al., 2017; Clifford & Goncu, 2019; Lechuga-Peña & Brisson, 2018).

Schools must be deliberate about partnering with parents, and the current literature supports what schools can do to engage parents. Epstein et al. (2018) posited the following parent engagement typology: child raising, collaborating, participating in a bake sale, reading to a child before bed, policymaking, and working together in the neighborhood. It is essential to note that in Epstein et al.'s (2018) comprehensive programs model, the onus is on the school to be intentional about providing the necessary support to families in the partnership. Schools help parents establish a supportive environment for their children (parenting), effectively communicate students' progress and programming via email, text message, or phone (communicating), organize parent support (volunteering), provide parents with information on how to provide schoolrelated support (learning at home), afford parents the opportunity to vote on important issues (decision-making), and find and integrate resources that support programming, families, and students' learning (Epstein et al., 2018).

Similarly, Constantino (2021) suggested five principles that schools could adopt to engage every family intentionally. The first is creating a culture that engages families; the second is communicating effectively and developing relationships; the third is building family efficacy; the fourth is making sure that parents have a say in school policies and procedures; and the fifth is engaging the neighborhood. Mapp et al. (2017) posited that schools must examine their beliefs about parents, harness the power of partnerships, create a welcoming environment for all parents, reinvent family conferences, maintain robust engagement strategies throughout the year, and use community resources to support the family-school partnership. Most of the research, however, has been centered around what schools can do to involve parents (Constantino, 2021; Epstein et al., 2018; Mapp et al., 2017). Thus, educational leaders may undervalue what parents bring to the educational ecosystem.

Parental Expectation and Academic Achievement

The relationship between parent engagement and student outcomes is substantial in the research literature. It has been established that parents' educational expectations influence their students' behavior and promote school success (Benner et al., 2021; Koshy et al., 2019; Lee et al., 2022; Lindberg & Guven, 2021; Tan, 2017; Tatlah et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2022; Zhao & Bodovski, 2020). Jeynes' (2022) conducted a study on the parental expectation element of parent engagement and student outcomes. The metaanalysis included 447,137 participants and 54 studies that associated the effect of parent engagement on student outcomes. The results suggested a meaningful connection between parent expectations and student outcomes from elementary school through college.

Findings by Jeynes (2020) implied that parental expectations profoundly impacted student achievement. Interestingly, the impact of parent engagement for African American students was comparable to that for White students. Next, findings were coherent across all social demographic categories and subject matter. The size of the study makes the findings substantial, which strongly supported the impact of parental expectations on students' achievement for all groups. Notably, the study defined parental expectations as whether a child obtains a certain degree, their GPA attainment, and reaching a certain job status. While the study's findings highlighted the importance of parental expectations on student academic achievement, the study did not provide an overview of the support parents gave their children during the process.

In a similar study, Pinquart and Ebeling (2019) conducted a study on parent expectations and academic achievement in children and adolescents. In particular, the authors looked at educational expectations, such as grades and educational attainment. The meta-analysis included data on 538,548 parents from 169 studies. The authors looked at whether student outcomes would change if they controlled socioeconomic status (SES). Findings indicated a medium association between parent outlook and student outcomes. Notably, the association persisted over time after they controlled for parents' SES. The authors also found a limited association between parent outlook and future achievement. Finally, there was a strong association between parent outlook, student outcomes, and socioeconomic status. In comparison, results from Jeynes' (2020) metaanalysis on parental expectations and student outcomes posited that the effects of parental expectations and student outcomes for African American were identical to Whites. A significant limitation of Pinquart and Ebeling's (2019) study was that they introduced parental SES as a third variable, based on the premise that wealthier parents provided their children with more encouragement and resources. However, the authors did not analyze specific reinforcement behaviors in their study.

Xu et al. (2022) examined the association between parent expectations and selfregulated learning. Survey data was collected from 691 Chinese college students, and the authors used partial correlation analysis to determine the relationship between parental expectations, self-regulated learning, mindset, and introspection. Results from their study indicated a strong association between students' view of their parents' expectations of them and their ability to learn on their own. These results aligned with Pinquart and Ebeling's (2019) findings in that they also found a positive correlation between parent expectations and success in the future. Next, Xu et al. (2022) posited that parental academic expectations are filled with emotions that influence the child to do better in school. This point is crucial because it highlights parental reinforcement behaviors, such as emotional labor (managing feelings and expressions) and maintaining a positive environment. A significant limitation of their study was that Xu et al. (2022) only focused on college students who are more independent and self-reflective than middle- and secondary school students.

Tulagan and Eccles (2021) found that African American mothers are positive socializers of their children. The authors used interview data from 619 African American participants. Results from their study indicated that the mothers wanted the best for their children and were cognizant of environmental factors that negatively impacted their children. Accordingly, the mothers were proactive in providing the necessary support, but expressed negative feelings when their children were perceived to be underachieving.

Similarly, the parents in Xu et al.'s (2021) study also had expectations that were filled with emotions and impacted student behaviors. Similarly, the mothers in Tulagan and Eccles' (2021) study wanted the best for their children, but when their children underachieved, this sparked emotionally charged reactions and discussions. In both studies, the parents provided the necessary resources and emotional support. However, in Tulagan and Eccles' (2021) study, the resources and emotional support were insufficient for African American students.

Socioeconomic status may also be to blame. Vukojević (2017) found in his research that socioeconomic status strongly correlated with the overall well-being of the child. The author posited that poverty could affect a person well into adulthood. In their meta-analysis, Korous et al. (2022) examined the strength association between class, reasoning, and academic success. The authors identified 15,000 records and reviewed 262 meta-analyses, of which 14 were selected for review. The researchers used a statistical analysis to evaluate studies on socioeconomic status. The authors found that higher socioeconomic status was positively associated with cognitive and achievement outcomes. The authors also posited that the longer one is exposed to lower socioeconomic status, the more significant the negative impact on cognitive ability. Finally, Korous et al. (2022) found that high socioeconomic status did not translate into higher GPAs and achievement scores for students of color but did for White students.

Assari (2020) examined this socioeconomic status in relations to spatial cognition. Mental rotation is the ability to rotate dimensional objects within the mind (Rahe & Jansen, 2023). Mental rotation is associated with reasoning and numerical proficiency (Moè, 2018; Rutherford et al., 2018). The sample size included over 11,000 school-aged children. Findings indicated a strong association between parents' level of education and spatial cognition. The authors also found mental rotation to be stronger in some groups and weaker in others. This study's results align with Hung et al. (2020), in that environmental factors have a profound effect on African American families regardless of their socioeconomic status.

Academic Socialization and Academic Achievement

Children are academically socialized when they see their parents or older siblings reading books, watching the news, and discussing current events (Bæck, 2017). Suizzo et al. (2023) found an association between parents' messaging about working hard in school and students' grades. The authors proposed that there would be a correlation between current success in school and prospective success; second, that parent messaging would motivate the child; and third, that future planning would be the intermediary between parent messaging and mastery of goals. The sample size for their study included 319 sixth-grade students classified as low-income. The Parental Academic Socialization, Goals and Values in Adulthood, and Parental Academic Socialization questionnaires were used to collect data. Results from Suizzo et al.'s (2023) study indicated a positive association between parent messaging and intrinsic future goals. Next, the authors found a positive correlation between adolescents' future planning and motivation and parent messaging. These results illustrated the positive effects of parental involvement in education.

In a similar study, Chun and Devall (2019) used a path model to examine Hispanic parental engagement strategies and the impact of 'Familismo.' Gonzalez (2019) posited that Familismo is described as feelings of attachment, loyalty, and responsibility towards family and extended family. The author proposed that Familismo would be positively correlated with student outcomes; second, that life barriers would be an impediment to parental engagement; and finally, that a welcoming school environment would be beneficial to Hispanic families. Chun and Devall (2019) used a survey to collect data from 116 Hispanic school-aged children. Findings indicated a good-of-fit for the hypothesized path model, which explained the difference in student outcomes, academic socialization, and parental involvement and adequately explained the interrelationships between the variables. Familismo and a welcoming climate directly affected parental involvement, while life-context barriers did not. The authors also found that academic socialization positively affected academic achievement, and a correlation between life barriers and student outcomes; they therefore posited that students who perceived the barriers were likelier to have lower grades. The mediating effects of parental involvement and academic socialization were therefore supported in this study.

Similar to Suizzo et al.'s (2023) findings, Chun and Devall (2019) found a correlation between a parent's ability to prepare the child for academia and educational success. The authors emphasized the child's perception of parental engagement in education and posited that Familismo profoundly affected parental involvement and the child's academic achievement to the effect that its cultural value, or the dedication and commitment to family, influenced Hispanic students to do well in school.

Francis et al. (2021) did a similar study on academic socialization and African American boys. The author compared parent messages and conducive learning environments from parents of boys who were excellent in school, to parents of boys who performed poorly in school. The authors used in-depth interviews to collect data from 12 families and found that all parents in their study engaged in the following academic socialization behaviors: monitoring student academic progress, daily talks about school, expectations about homework, and racial socialization, as further explained below. The difference between the groups was that the parents of students who performed well in school used all the practices simultaneously and at a higher level. Parents of accomplished African American boys also used racial socialization, which is not part of academic socialization, in order to prepare their children for life. Francis et al. (2021) posited that:

All high-achieving dyads reported extensive and ongoing conversations with their sons about race in America and both historical and contemporary oppression of Blacks. They described unwavering efforts to instill racial pride, to alert sons as to how others will view them based on their appearance and behaviors, to train their son's regarding how to manage encounters with police, and to emphasize that success as a Black man requires harder work, greater effort, and better performance than for their White peers. (p. 8)

Racial Socialization and Academic Achievement

Racial socialization is the messages that African American parents transmit to their children about cultural values, behaviors, and beliefs to prepare them for systemic racism in school and in society – a practice that has been positively associated with academic outcomes (Banerjee et al., 2018; Blanchard et al., 2019; Huguley et al., 2021; Metzger et al., 2021; Neblett et al., 2022; Saleem et al., 2022; Smith et al., 2022; Varner et al., 2018). Metzger et al. (2020) examined the relationship between educational involvement and adolescents' confidence. In particular, the authors looked at academic socialization and racial socialization. A sample of 140 adolescents was used for this study. To collect data, the authors used a student self-report measure adapted from the Hoover-Dempsey and Sandler Parent Involvement Scale, the Student Report of Encouragement Scale, the Racial Socialization Questionnaire, the Student Engagement Scale, and Hare's Multi-dimensional Self-Esteem Inventory. The study indicated six distinctive academic and racialization profiles amongst African American parents: "academic socializers, preparation for bias socializers, low-race salient socializers, unengaged socializers, multifaceted socializers, and salient race socializers" (Metzger et al., 2020, para. 32).

Academic socializers are primarily focused on school engagement; bias-based socializers are primarily focused on biased messaging; low-race socializers are primarily focused on schooling; unengaged socializers are not focused on school or the socialization process; multifaceted socializers are concerned with providing their children with the right amount of messaging and pride; and race-salient socializers are more concerned with messaging than school (Metzger et al., 2020). Metzger et al.'s (2020) findings indicated a strong association between parents who exhibited high levels of pride in tracial identity and their children's academic success. This study highlighted the variation in African American parental involvement practices. Most importantly, the results indicated that parents who instill a sense of pride in their children had better results than parents who focused on bias. Similarly, Varner et al. (2018) found that high levels of biased messaging from parents hampered student outcomes.

Wang et al. (2020) conducted a study on ethnic socialization and African American students' academic outcomes. The authors used 1997 studies to conduct their strength-based meta-analysis. The authors found a strong correlation between cultural pride messaging, intrinsic motivation, and achievement for African American students. In a similar study, Banerjee et al. (2017) examined racial-ethnic socialization and achievement and its relationships to academic engagement. The authors used the Racial Socialization Questionnaire and the National Survey of Student Engagement to garner data from college students. Results from their study indicated a strong relationship between pride-based messaging and persistence in college. However, the authors found a negative association between biased messaging and success in college. These findings aligned with Metzger et al. (2020) and Varner et al. (2018) and highlighted the importance of a balanced approach to racial socialization. Moreover, the results aligned with Banerjee et al. (2018) and Del Toro and Wang (2021) as well, in that cultural messaging instilled a sense of pride in African American students, leading to better outcomes in school.

Hughley's et al. (2020) research on African American parental involvement in education found that parents used different types of engagement strategies to counter highly structured unwelcoming secondary schools. Allen and White-Smith's (2018) study proves it was not enough to prepare African American students for biased messaging. Their study examined African American parents' traditional practices through the counter stories of mothers of low socioeconomic status. The authors used qualitative interviews to collect data from 10 families and used Erikson's (1968) qualitative interpretive approach to transcribe, code, and analyze the interviews and observations. Findings from their study indicated that the mothers used traditional practices such as resistance, cultural pride, and advocacy to help their sons persist in school. In response to their experiences in schools, the mothers used motivation to inspire their sons to do well in school. Ultimately, the mothers used their ability to navigate through unwelcoming institutions and found their children new schools.

It is essential to note that Metzger et al. (2020), Varner et al. (2018), and Banerjee et al. (2018) all posited a negative correlation between biased messaging and academic outcomes. Osborne et al. (2021) found in their study on African American families' racism and preparation for bias that the caregiver's level of exposure was correlated with child internalizing behaviors. Children exposed to higher preparation levels for bias exhibited high anxiety and sadness levels. These studies highlight the importance of a balanced approach when racially socializing children. Parents who focused on school engagement and moderately focused on instilling a sense of pride in their children, as outlined in Metzger et al. (2020) study, had a positive effect on achievement.

School-Based Parental Involvement and Academic Achievement

The PTO, SSC, and parent-teacher conferences are all examples of ways parents participate in school (Hughley et al., 2020). Parent involvement in school activities has

been positively correlated with student success (Degol et al., 2017; James et al., 2019). Day and Dotterer (2018) examined parent engagement across different ethnic groups. Data was utilized from the Educational Longitudinal Study 2002–2003, and the sample size was 4,429 Grade 10 students. The authors analyzed the data by dividing the dataset based on specific criteria to make it more homogeneous and found that parents' transmission of values related to academics and involvement in school activities were positively associated with students' GPA. They also found that African American and Hispanic students benefitted more from parents' transmission of values related to education and involvement in educational activities at home than their White counterparts. There was a minimal correlation between parent involvement in educational activities at home and achievement for White students.

These results regarding students of color were in line with Goss (2019), Leath et al. (2020), Lechuga-Peña and Brisson (2018), and Parsons et al. (2018), in that parents of color tended to use home-based involvement and socialization in response to their negative interactions with schools. In looking at socialization patterns for White students, Abaied et al. (2022) posited that White parents used color-conscious, color-blind, equal treatment, and messaging that emphasized White pride with their children. An essential aspect of Day and Dotterer's (2018) study was that parental involvement in bake sales, parent-teacher meetings, Open Houses, and governance committees were correlated with higher grades for all students.

Similarly, James et al. (2019) examined whether ethnicity, parents' involvement in school and home educational activities predicted GPA attainment. The study's sample size included 25,503 randomly selected grade nine students. The authors used a random coefficient growth curve modeling to analyze the data. Results from their study indicated that Americans of both African and European descent were more involved in school and home educational activities than Asian and Hispanic Americans. Second, students' GPA declined over time for all ethnic groups. Third, parents' involvement in school activities was positively associated with every ethnic group except Asians. The impact of school-based involvement was insignificant for Asian Americans. Lastly, home-based involvement predicted GPA over time, and the impact of parental involvement in Grade 9 was similar in Grade 12.

In a similar study, Benner et al. (2016) examined the associations between parental involvement, grades, student outcomes, and socioeconomic status. The samples included 15,240 Grade 10 students. Parents in this study self-reported three types of involvement: home-based, school-based, and academic socialization via a survey. Students' GPA attainment determined achievement as well as their self-reporting on their level of education eight years after graduation. Benner et al. (2016) found a positive association between school-based parental involvement, educational expectations, GPA, and educational attainment. They also found a positive correlation between parent involvement in school activities and persistence in school for all groups. Lastly, the authors posited that parent involvement in school activities was more beneficial to lowsocioeconomic students, while academic socialization was more valuable to highsocioeconomic students.

In contrast, Gubbins and Otero (2020) found in their study on Chilean parents' engagement, socioeconomic status, and academic outcomes that parental involvement in school activities was not significantly associated with academic achievement for students. Similarly, Lindberg and Güven (2021) found in their study on Turkish parents' involvement, expectations, and academic outcomes a minimal association between school-based involvement and academic outcomes for their students. In both these studies, socioeconomic status predicted academic achievement. Furthermore, according to Gubbins and Otero (2020), Chilean parents were more involved in educational activities at home than in school.

Both studies are aligned with Tan et al. (2019), who found in their meta-analysis on academic benefits, parental involvement, and socioeconomic status that parental expectations, parent support for learning, parent discussions in school, parent participation in school governance and events, and academic socialization were positively associated with academic excellence. Parent education was used as an indicator of parents' socioeconomic status. The researchers used 98 studies and developed a coding scheme to examine important details about the studies. Results from their study indicated that parental expectations and involvement in educational activities in the home were more associated with student achievement than school-based involvement.

In their longitudinal study on the relationship between parents' participation in school activities and academic excellence, Park and Sira (2017) used the ECLS-K dataset, which tracked grammar students from 1998–1999. They used ECLS-K to examine the impact of three dimensions of school-based parental involvement: academic excellence, school-wide academic excellence, and socioeconomic status. The sample consisted of 21,409 students in 992 schools. Results from Park and Sira's (2017) study indicated a strong association between parents' participation in school activities and achievement in reading and math. Private-good parental involvement (concerned only

with the student) was correlated with individual academic achievement. At the other end of the spectrum, public-good parental involvement (concerned with the whole school) was not associated with achievement in reading but strongly correlated with achievement in mathematics. On the second question, the researchers found that public-good parental involvement positively affected the entire school community. School-wide academic achievement increased when parents participated in decision-making committees and volunteering activities.

Zhang et al. (2021) also examined the different types of parental involvement in education and academic excellence. The study had a sample size of 842 adolescents from five public schools in China. The authors used surveys to garner participant data and descriptive statistics to analyze the data. Results from their study indicated that all forms of parental involvement mediated the effects of SES on academic excellence, in particular mathematics. School-based parental involvement had the most substantial mediating effect, while parents' involvement in educational activities at home had the lowest on academic excellence in mathematics.

In contrast, Sebastian et al. (2017) found a negative correlation between parents' involvement in school activities and student academic excellence. The researchers assessed math, science, and reading skills of 500,000 children from 65 countries. The authors used exploratory factor analysis to explore the latent factor structure of items related to parents' involvement in school activities. Findings indicated a strong association between parents' proactively getting involved in educational activities and student success, and a negative correlation between school-structured parental involvement practices and students' success. It is important to note that parents'

involvement in school activities was not associated with students' success in any of the countries. Limitations of this study were that parent involvement in school activities was different in each country and the authors did not examine the customs around schooling in each country.

Erdem and Kaya (2020) and Thomas et al. (2018) found a positive but weak correlation between parent engagement and student success. The weak association may be attributed to the separate or sequential responsibilities of institutions' perspectives. Philosophies based on the separation of school and families have posited that schools and families are incompatible and in competition, while beliefs based on sequential responsibilities assume that the parent prepares the child for formal school. Schools are then tasked with providing the student with an education (Epstein, 2018). These beliefs may create barriers for parents who assume that educating their child is part of their role as a parent (a shared assumption).

Barriers to School-Based Involvement

Barriers to school-based parental involvement encompass two categories: barriers imposed by the school, and family barriers beyond the school's control (Totyodying & Wild, 2019). School-based barriers include: (1) feeling unwelcomed (Alexander et al., 2017; Cureton, 2020; Henderson et al., 2020; Lechuga-Peña & Brisson, 2018); (2) structural and cultural (Allen & White-Smith, 2018; Li et al., 2023); and (3) lack of effective communication (Grace & Gerdes, 2018; Inoa, 2017; Antony-Newman, 2017). Family barriers that are beyond the school's control include: (1) socioeconomic status (Curtis et al., 2021; Lechuga-Peña & Brisson, 2018; Malone, 2017); (2) childcare, transportation, and work schedule (Hornsby, 2018; Inoa, 2017); (3) past negative experiences with the school (Allen & White-Smith, 2018; Henderson et al., 2020; Lechuga-Peña & Brisson, 2018;); and (4) language differences (Zhou & Zhong, 2018).

In Antony-Newman's (2017) meta-synthesis on parental involvement in immigrant families, the author posited that differences in expectations, language barriers, lack of information from the school, and lack of culturally competent teachers have created a different experience for immigrant parents compared to native-born parents. An important aspect this study was its examination of Latino, Chinese, Greek, Jewish, French, Swedish, Dutch, and Austrian immigrants. Similarly, Curenton (2020) found in her study on Syrian Muslim refugees that a lack of English proficiency, discrimination, and xenophobia caused parents to distrust the school's staff.

In Lechuga and Brisson's (2018) study on school-based parental involvement and mothers, the authors posited three main barriers to school-based parental involvement: communication, feeling unwelcome, and socioeconomic status. The authors used in-depth interviews to capture narratives from nine mothers assigned to the "Your Family, Your Neighborhood" program. All the participants were low-income mothers living in public housing. Four participants were Latina, three were African American, and two were from Africa. Findings from this study indicated that all mothers wanted to attend school events for their children. However, the mothers were embarrassed because they could not communicate effectively and because of their socioeconomic status. The mothers were also frustrated with their inability to participate in educational activities at home and the unwelcoming climate at the school and felt a sense of shame for not being able to participate in their child's schooling because they were the sole breadwinner. Notably, the mothers in Lechuga and Brisson's (2018) study experienced school and family-based barriers to involvement.

The school-based barrier, mothers' feelings of unwelcomeness, aligned with those of parents in Henderson et al.'s (2020) study on the differing philosophies on parent involvement. The authors posited that home-school dissonance was the differing philosophy and expectations between home and school. Results from their study indicated that parents reported being engaged in school and feeling unwelcome in the school. The mothers in Allen and White-Smith's (2018) study on parental involvement and cultural wealth likewise felt unwelcome and excluded from their son's school. The authors examined the school engagement practices and experiences of 10 low-income African American mothers. They used CRT and Yasso's (2005) work on cultural capital as their guiding framework. The authors used field observations, documents, and semiand unstructured interviews. Results indicated that the mothers used motivational and cultural strategies to help their sons persist in school; that the school's structure created a barrier for the mothers; that mothers were only invited into school to talk about their respective sons' infractions; and that the school limited the mothers' school involvement role. Notably, the mothers experienced life-context barriers, such as work schedule constraints, poverty, and the inability to hire a babysitter. What separates Allen and White-Smith's (2018) study from Lechuga and Brisson's (2018) and Curenton's (2020) studies, is that the mothers used their cultural strategies to mediate the effects of school barriers.

The mothers in Allen and White-Smith's (2018) study posited that they had more access to their children in elementary school than high school because of schedule

constraints. This is a universal school-based barrier for all families because most high school students are scheduled for six to seven classes in multiple classrooms. In contrast, most elementary students take multiple subjects in one classroom. The mothers also stated that they felt unwelcome at the school because the school only involved them in discussing their child's infractions. The emerging issue is therefore infraction and over disciplining of the child (Burch, 2022; Marcucci, 2020; Walker, 2020).

In this light, and per the U.S. Constitution's Fourteenth Amendment, students accused of an offense have the right to due process and are entitled to a hearing, where they can present their side of the story, and in which their parents are required to attend. High school structure, coupled with the contentious discipline meetings, may have created a feeling of powerlessness for these mothers. If the school and parents had different philosophies on educating students, this would create home-school dissonance among parents (Epstein, 2018; Henderson et al., 2020). Likewise, the inability to communicate effectively with the school makes some parents feel helpless.

A lack of English proficiency has also been shown to hinder school-based parental involvement (Alexander et al., 2017; Antony-Newman, 2019; Ceballo et al., 2017; Vera et al., 2017; Zhou & Zhong, 2018). Inoa (2017) examined middle-class Latino parent engagement and their perceived barriers to engagement. The author used in-depth interviews to garner data from 21 parents. The interviews were primarily in English, but Spanish was used as needed. The data analysis process included coding and theme development. Results from the study indicated that middle-class Latino parents used high levels of academic socialization and concerted cultivation. Next, Latino parents involved in the PTA often remained docile and avoided negative interactions. Finally, work schedules, the inability to speak English effectively, and the parents' lack of selfefficacy limited their ability to become involved. Thus, Latino parents were more concerned with the well-being of their children and encouraged them to pursue their future careers.

In contrast, Anderson et al. (2020) found in their study on Latino parent-child English fluency that language consonance and dissonance predicted parental involvement. The sample size for their study was 637 Grade 7 Latino students, and data was collected via a student self-reported survey in both English and Spanish. Anderson et al.'s (2020) results indicated that having a common language (English or Spanish) was positively associated with family communication and student success. However, children in families where communication was not fluid often became translators, which may have undermined the parents' authority. The authors posited that in most cases, the children who broker were not fully fluent in Spanish, which created conflict between the parent and child. Ultimately, when the family reported using the same language, communication and parental involvement in education increased, while role reversal decreased.

Similarly, Alexander et al.'s (2017) study on Latino parents and barriers to involvement found that work schedules and language barriers were the most common reasons for Latino noninvolvement. The authors explored the association between parental noninvolvement and student outcomes by surveying 343 Latino adolescents to get their perceptions of parent engagement in education, or lack thereof. Alexander et al. (2017) found a negative association between students' perceived notion that their parents felt unwelcome and uncomfortable at school, and their GPA. Next, the authors found that transportation issues and the perception that school was not important were also associated with a lower GPA. Finally, language barriers and lack of childcare were not associated with students' GPAs.

These three studies highlighted that language barriers exist but affect Latino parents differently. They also highlighted the role life context plays in determining school-based involvement. Jeynes (2017) posited a positive correlation between Latino parent engagement in education and student success for kindergarten through college students, but socioeconomic status limits parental involvement. In Jeynes' (2017) metaanalysis, Latino parents were either dual-income earners or had to work more than one job to provide for their family.

Socioeconomic status is a barrier to school-based parental involvement for almost every ethnic group (Curtis et al., 2021; Lechuga-Peña & Brisson, 2018; Malone, 2017). Being the primary caregiver or sole provider significantly restricts a parent's ability to be engaged in school events that coincide with a work schedule (Lechuga-Peña & Brisson, 2018). Lechuga-Peña et al. (2019) found a negative association between living in public housing and mothers' school-based involvement. The authors examined government subsidy programs and parental involvement strategies of low-income mothers. The total sample was 1,351 African American, White, Latino, and other mothers. Mothers selfreported demographic and socioeconomic information. Ordinal logistic regression was used to examine the association between government subsidies and school-based involvement. Findings indicated that mothers who lived in public housing were more involved in school activities than those receiving housing vouchers. The study also found that African American and Latino mothers of low socioeconomic status were more involved in school than their White counterparts. Finally, the authors posited that lowincome mothers who participated in their study had frequently moved to new residences, worked longer hours to cover costs not associated with the subsidy, and had nontraditional work schedules.

The results from Alexander et al. (2017), Lechuga et al. (2019), and Inoa (2017) studies are all aligned with the Hoover-Dempsey and Sandler framework (2007) in that parents' choice whether to become involved or not in their child's education was influenced by the demands on their time and energy. These studies also posited that language barriers only limited Latino school-based involvement but did not have any association with academic success (Alexander et al., 2017; Anderson et al., 2020). This may be due to school programming intentionally communicating with parents and creating a positive school environment (Park et al., 2017). Finally, socioeconomic status profoundly affected parents' involvement in school activities because parents who were the only income earners must work to make ends meet. Low-socioeconomic status parents often did not have traditional work schedules and must work multiple jobs (Peterson et al., 2018).

Home-Based Parental Involvement and Academic Achievement

Home-based parental involvement entails helping with and monitoring of the child's homework completion, providing a safe place to learn, providing resources such as books, Wi-Fi, and a computer, and providing enrichment activities such as visiting an art museum, library, and historical sites such as the Freedom Trail (Huguley et al., 2020). The research on parental involvement in educational activities at home and consequent student success is mixed. Several studies indicated that parent involvement in educational activities at home has been positively associated with student achievement (Day &

Dotterer, 2018; James et al., 2019; Ogg & Anthony, 2020; Puccioni, 2017; Wang et al., 2018). In contrast, some studies indicated that home-based parental involvement had little to no effect on student achievement (Duan et al., 2018; Garcia et al., 2018; Li et al., 2020).

In a comparison study between school-based and home-based parental involvement and its' effects on GPA attainment, James et al. (2019) found a positive association between parent involvement in educational activities at home and student success for all ethnic groups and predicted variance in GPA over parent involvement in school activities. The authors assessed home-based parental involvement by asking parents whether they took their child to the theater, read to their child, or provided a safe place in the home. School-based parental involvement was assessed by asking parents whether they attended a parent-teacher meeting, volunteered, or participated in a fundraiser for the school. An important finding in their study was that distal home-based parental involvement predicted GPA attainment over time because parental involvement in education had shifted as students matriculated through school (Boonk et al., 2018).

In contrast, Garcia et al. (2017) found in their quantitative case study that homebased involvement was minimally associated with academic achievement. The authors used a questionnaire (of 12 items in total), which included items such as building literacy skills with my child, talking to my child about learning, bringing home resources, and reviewing my child's schoolwork daily. Notably, the authors found a positive correlation between Item 8 on their questionnaire (parents taking their child to an academically enriched place, such as a museum or library), and student achievement. Similarly, Anthony and Ogg (2019) found that parent involvement in schoolbased activities and communication between the school and home predicted literacy achievement. In contrast, Wong et al. (2018) found a positive association between homebased parental involvement and students' language competence and psychosocial wellbeing. The authors examined the associations between parental involvement at home and in school, psychological health, and the academic performance of 507 elementary students in Hong Kong. The authors used a survey and mediation analysis to test the relationship among variables. Results from the mediation analysis indicated a significant correlation between parent involvement in literacy development and student performance.

These results aligned with Boonk et al. (2018) and Dong et al. (2020), in that home-based parental involvement was associated with literacy development in children. Consequently, children from poor families lagged behind their counterparts. Hemmerechts et al. (2017) examined parental literacy involvement, socioeconomic status, and reading literacy, by using survey data from the Progress in International Reading Literacy Study. The sample size was 43,870 elementary-age students from Belgium, Austria, Denmark, France, German, Italy, Luxembourg, Norway, and Sweden. A multi-level analysis of the survey data yielded a correlation between parental involvement and an increase in reading levels. They also found that low-income students had lower reading levels than their counterparts and that low-income students experienced delayed parental involvement in literacy activities.

In their study on family socioeconomic status and home-based parental involvement, Li et al. (2020) found that high-socioeconomic status families provided the necessary resources and support, while low-socioeconomic status families provided discipline. In fact, the authors posited that parental attitudes and expectations significantly reduced home-based parental involvement in poor families. Baker and Brooks-Gunn (2020) examined whether there was an association between socioeconomic status, low levels of parental education, and children's executive functioning and behavioral problems. They found that family interactions facilitated the relationship between socioeconomic status and children's executive functioning. The authors also found that African American parents who used harsh discipline practices at home compounded their socioeconomic status and profoundly affected their children's executive functioning.

Some researchers have posited that such parents' disciplinary practices may have been in response to family stressors such as being the sole breadwinner, economic hardship, and psychological distress (Justice et al., 2019; Lechuga-Peña & Brisson, 2018; Masarik & Conger, 2017; Rudenstine et al., 2020). However, some low socioeconomic families have countered these narratives. Sawyer et al. (2016) examined the literacy practices of low-income mothers in their study. Data collected from the semistructured interviews posited that African American and Latino mothers provided their children with educational material, regularly engaged in books, and focused on building language skills, and thus focused on their children's literacy skills. The low-income African American parents in Jarrett and Coba-Rodriguez's (2019) study used several home-based practices to help their children transition to kindergarten. The mothers used literacy practices, books, technology, television programming, and the library to help their children. An important aspect of the study was that the mothers used other family members for assistance with the transition process.

Summary

Parental involvement in education is an integral part of the development of the child. There are several ways parents are involved. Some parents use home-based, school-based, or academic socialization educational strategies to support their children, while other parents use a mixture of all three. The parent's choice of what parental involvement strategy to use can be attributed to race, socioeconomic status, or their philosophy on education. This study's conceptual framework of CRT, the Hoover Dempsey and Sandler model, and Epstein's Overlapping Spheres of Influence framework provided a lens to understand why the African American parents in this study were not fully involved in policymaking and organizational activities at the secondary school level.

There are several benefits of parental involvement in education, such as its positive association with higher GPA attainment, better student mental health, and higher rates of college enrollment (Day & Dotterer, 2018; Hamlin & Li, 2019; James et al., 2018). Schools and families that have a partnership based on the shared responsibility philosophy are intentional about working together to create school environments that are welcoming and supportive for everyone. Schools and families that have a separate responsibility relationship are in competition with each other, in which teachers teach, and parents parent.

Consequently, the addition of factors, such as school-based barriers (language, scheduling, and structure of high school), socioeconomic status, and family-based barriers (scheduling, transportation, and childcare) to parental involvement may have a significant influence on African American parents' decision to become involved in school-based activities. Activities such as volunteering, and school governance

committees is positively associated with achievement. The reluctance of African American parents to become involved in school-based activities has a profound impact on African American students. The school-to-prison pipeline and the differential achievement gap are prime examples of what happens to African American students when their parents are not involved in their schooling.

Research Questions

Research Question 1

What are African American parents' perceptions of organizational activities and policymaking at the secondary level?

Research Question 2

What barriers prevent African American parents from engaging in organizational activities and policymaking at the secondary level?

Research Question 3

What are African American parents' perspectives of the family-school relationship at the secondary level?

Chapter 3: Methodology

Aim of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive study was to examine the reasons why African American parents at the target secondary school are not fully engaged in policymaking and organizational activities. The study explored African American parents' engagement or lack thereof in policymaking and organizational activities in school governance committees such as the SSC, Parent Council, and parent-teacher meetings. Chapter 3 describes the research methodology, research design, participants, data collection methods, and data analysis for this applied dissertation. Finally, the chapter includes a description of ethical considerations, trustworthiness, and limitations of the study.

Qualitative Research Approach

A qualitative methodology has been used in this study. The focus of qualitative research is to explore and understand the meanings individuals ascribe to a phenomenon or a problem, whereas the focus of quantitative methodology is to test theories by examining the relationship between variables (Bloomfield & Fisher, 2019; Creswell & Creswell, 2018; Merriam, 1998; Merriam & Tisdell, 2006; Tracy, 2020). Using a qualitative research design provided an appropriate lens to explore African American parents' experiences with schools (Allen & White-Smith, 2017; Baker et al., 2016; Lechuga-Peña & Brisson, 2018). Open-ended research questions, typical of a qualitative methodology, allowed participants in the current study to share their experiences and views and not be limited to 'yes,' 'no,' or multiple-choice questions (Bloomfield & Fisher, 2019; Creswell & Creswell, 2018). The quantitative methodology seeks to

generalize findings to the population from which it was drawn, while the qualitative methodology does not seek to generalize findings (Merriam, 1998; Merriam & Tisdell, 2006). The goal of the current study is to use purposeful rather than random sampling to recruit a small sample that meets an inclusion criterion. The small sample size in the qualitative methodology enabled the current study to obtain rich, thick explanations of the problem (Merriam, 1998; Merriam & Tisdell, 2006). Furthermore, Merriam (1998) posited that humans are the best data collection instruments in qualitative research because they are sensitive to underlying meanings when gathering and interpreting data.

This study used a descriptive design that focused on discovering and understanding participants' perceptions and worldviews of a problem (Kim et al., 2017; Merriam, 1998; Merriam & Tisdell, 2006). A descriptive design was deemed most appropriate for this study because it does not have a predefined method (Doyle et al., 2020; Kahlke, 2014; Kennedy, 2016; Sandelowski, 2000). The current study does not fit neatly into the more mainstream categories of qualitative research that have predefined methods, such as phenomenology, grounded theory, case study, narrative, or ethnography (Creswell & Creswell, 2018; Creswell & Poth, 2018). The five mainstream qualitative approaches to research are based on methodological frameworks that have emerged from disciplinary traditions (Lambert & Lambert, 2012). The goal of the current study was to use a descriptive design to investigate the problem in its natural state. Therefore, the flexibility of descriptive design enabled me to borrow methods from other designs, which has been essential for the current study (Sandelowski, 2000).

The quantitative approach enables a researcher to investigate theories by examining the correlation between variables (Creswell & Creswell, 2018; Creswell &

Poth, 2018). The quantitative approach has a larger dataset than the qualitative approach; thus, it is easier to generalize and replicate findings (Bloomfield & Fisher, 2019; Creswell & Creswell, 2018). Consequently, a significant weakness of the quantitative approach is the inability to extract descriptive data (Creswell & Creswell, 2018; Creswell & Poth; Tracy, 2019). Closed-ended questions and responses would therefore not elicit a thick description of the African American parents' experiences and perceptions of school-based involvement and school committees (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). This was important for the research design because effective and inclusive parental engagement strategies can only be identified using descriptive, not statistical data (Tracy, 2019). Therefore, the quantitative methodology was not deemed appropriate for this study. The following sections discuss other designs considered for the current study.

A qualitative design considered for this study was phenomenology. A phenomenology study describes the common meaning of participants' lived experience of a phenomenon (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Moustakas, 1994). In phenomenology, phenomena are understood through those who have experienced them; understanding is based on observation and interpretation, and the outcome is a socially constructed personal interpretation of the subjects researched (Ling & Ling, 2017; Moustakas, 1994). Although phenomenology is descriptive in nature and examines phenomena, the approach was not chosen because it seeks to discover a shared meaning of the phenomenon, while this qualitative descriptive study ought to discover the individual meaning of the phenomenon (Kahlke, 2014; Kennedy, 2016; Merriam, 1998; Sandelowski, 2000). Furthermore, phenomenology focuses on the interworking of a lived experience, which means that the phenomenologist is concerned with the inner dimensions of the cognitive process, not the external content that may trigger the cognitive process, such as racism (Moustakas, 1994; Percy et al., 2015). The current study aimed to understand African American parents' experiences and perceptions of policymaking and organizational activities in schools.

A second qualitative design considered for this study was narrative research. Narrative research is premised on the belief that people learn and develop through their social interactions with the world (Clandinin & Connelly, 1990, 2004; Moen, 2006). Narrative research rests on three underpinnings: human beings organize their worldly experiences into narratives; the stories being told are based on the individual's experiences, values, audience, and environment and the multiple voices present in an individual's story (Clandinin & Connelly, 1990, 2004; Moen, 2006). In narrative research, the participant's story captures their understanding of the experience (Merriam, 2009; Moen, 2006). Narrative research is focused on providing a narrative of the person's experience within a specific context (Clandinin & Connelly, 1990, 2004; Moen, 2006). Moreover, in narrative research, the person's story of the experience contains multiple voices, and the researcher is tasked with restoring the account (Clandinin & Connelly, 1990; 2004; Moen, 2006). Restorying involves using the researcher's lens and discretion to retell the participant's story (Creswell & Creswell, 2018; Creswell & Poth, 2018; Moen, 2006). Narrative research was not chosen for this study because the current study sought to understand African American parents' perceptions of school-based parental involvement with little to no interpretation and provide a comprehensive, straightforward description of the problem.

A third qualitative design considered for this study was grounded-theory research. The grounded-theory design aims to build or discover a theory from data (Aldiabat & Navenec, 2011; Chun Tie et al., 2019; Creswell & Poth, 2018). The philosophical underpinning of grounded theory is that realities exist in the shared experience (ontology); the researcher and participants are connected in the natural world to examine behavior (epistemology); and human beings and their shared meaning can only be understood through the interactions between the researcher and participants (Aldiabat & Navenec, 2011). The researcher in grounded theory is tasked with simultaneously collecting and analyzing the data, coding, using the constant comparative method, theory development, memo writing, and sampling aimed at theory construction (Charmaz, 2006). Grounded-theory research design was rejected for this study because its objective was to provide a straightforward description of the phenomenon from the perspectives of the participants, while in grounded theory, the goal is to use data from participants to construct a theory (Aldiabat & Navenec, 2011; Chun Tie et al., 2019; Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Participants

This qualitative descriptive study's target population of African American parents resides in the northeast region of the United States, in a small urban area in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. Each participant in the current study had a child enrolled at the target high school, which serves Grades 9–12. The high school has a current enrollment of 481 diverse students. The African American population at the site is 34.2%; the Asian population is 6.1%; the Hispanic population is 52.3%; the White population is 4.6%; and the multiracial non-Hispanic population is 2.3% (Massachusetts

Department of Elementary and Secondary Education, 2020). More than 75% of the students at the high school receive free or reduced lunch; thus, the high school is considered a Title 1 school.

The high school seeks to involve parents through parent-teacher conferences at the annual open houses and through leadership opportunities. Per the collective bargaining agreement between the school department and the union, the high school can only offer two Open Houses per year: one in the fall and one in the spring. Parents meet with their child's teachers during the Open House to discuss grades and progress.

Parents can also get involved in the high school through participation in the Parent Council and the SSC. Per Massachusetts General Law Chapter 71, Section 59C, every school in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts must establish an SSC. The objective of the SSC is to assist the school principal with budgeting, school improvement, and policymaking (Massachusetts Department of Education, 2021). The legal responsibilities of the SSC include holding all meetings in public, allowing anyone to video or audio tape the meeting, keeping meeting minutes for five years, and adhering to a quorum (Massachusetts Department of Education, 2021).

Meeting minutes must include the date, time, place, members present and absent, and actions taken. The council must consist of the head of the school, an equal number of teachers and parents, and two students. All members except the head of the school are elected to the council. Parents on the SSC are elected by the Parent Council. Furthermore, the Parent Council is the official voice of all parents in the school and schools in the district are required to have a Parent Council meeting monthly. The Parent Council plans school-wide activities, fundraises, raises school leadership concerns, and works closely with the SSC. Primary responsibilities of the council include electing an executive board, electing parents to the SSC, and keeping meeting minutes. Every parent with a child at the high school can participate in the Parent Council. The Parent Council's main goal is to serve parents and ensure all parents' voices are heard. Parents on the SSC ensure that the parent perspective is considered in school governance. The School district and the teachers' union jointly provide training sessions for parents on the SSC and Parent Council. It is the job of the school's family liaison and the head of school to make sure the parent council is functional, and that parents abide by district protocol and procedures around budgeting and spending.

The objective of the current study was to examine African American parents' interactions with school and perceptions of policymaking and organizational activities at the secondary school level; thus, the African American parent who had a child in secondary school constituted an appropriate population for the current study. The study's qualitative research questions elicited a low-inference description of the problem from the perspective of the African American parent who had a child at the high school level (Kahlke, 2014; Kennedy, 2016; Merriam, 1998; Sandelowski, 2000).

Merriam and Tisdell (2016) posited that to gain insight and an understanding of a problem, researchers "must select a sample from which much can be learned" (p. 96). Purposive sampling is a specific type of criterion sampling used in qualitative studies because it establishes a predetermined criterion (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2019; Creswell & Creswell, 2018; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016; Moser & Korstjens, 2018; Patton, 1990; Tracy, 2020). Purposive sampling was used in this study to recruit a sample of 10–12 African American parents who met the following inclusion criteria: (a) an African American parent, and (b) had a student enrolled at the secondary school level. A sample of 10–12 African American parents who had a child at the secondary school level was recruited for the current study. The sample size enabled eliciting of enough data through qualitative interviews to answer the research questions and reach data saturation (Creswell & Creswell, 2018; Creswell & Poth, 2018; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Data saturation, which is essential for study replication, occurs when no additional data are found (Fusch et al., 2015; Sandelowski, 2000; Saunders et al., 2018).

Data Collection and Instruments

The goal of this research study has been to use two common data collection methods in qualitative research: interviews and focus groups (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2019; Creswell & Poth, 2018). The qualitative interviews and focus groups were conducted virtually on Zoom. Qualitative interviews provided insight into participants' experiences and the meaning they made of those experience (Seidman, 2019; Tracy, 2020). Focus groups are used to produce data and insight through group interaction or group think (Morgan, 1997; Powell & Single, 1996). An interview and focus group protocol has been used to guide the data collection.

Semi structured interviews are used to explore a topic using an interview protocol (see **Appendix** for Interview Protocol) (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2019; Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Swaminathan & Mulvihill, 2016). The interview protocol is a guide that researchers use to open and close an interview (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). The protocol consists of the following sections: basic information, introduction, content and probing questions, and closing instructions (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). Jacob and Furgerson (2012) posited that successful protocols have research-guided questions, a script to guide the interview from beginning to end, open-ended questions, basic questions about the interviewee's background, an organization of easy to hard questions, and the use of prompts. Research-based questions are at the core of every interview protocol (Creswell & Creswell, 2018; Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Research Question 1

What are African American parents' perceptions of organizational activities and policymaking at the secondary level?

Research Question 2

What barriers prevent African American parents from engaging in organizational activities and policymaking at the secondary level?

Research Question 3

What are African American parents' perspectives of the family-school relationship at the secondary level?

These three questions enabled me to break down the interview protocol into four areas: background information, perception of parental involvement, barriers to parental involvement, and family and school partnerships. Each area has five to seven subquestions that refined the central research questions.

The background information section of the interview protocol consist of questions about the interviewee's family, socioeconomic status, highest educational level obtained, and job status. These questions are important because several studies have found an association between socioeconomic status, educational level, job status, and parental involvement in education (Lechuga-Peña & Brisson, 2018; Peterson et al., 2018; Sawyer et al., 2016). Sub questions 1–5 in the background section address this area. The 'Perception of Parental Involvement' section consists of questions about the interviewees' views of parental involvement. The central question in this section, RQ1, is based on research indicating that there is a positive association between school-based parental involvement and academic achievement (Degol et al., 2017; James et al., 2019). African American parents used more home-based parental involvement than school-based parental involvement because of their school interactions (Leath et al., 2020; Lechuga-Peña, 2018; Parsons et al., 2018). Questions 1–5 in the Perceptions section sought to understand parents' perceptions of parental involvement in education as a whole and at the high school level. The questions also elicited parents' perceptions of school-based activities such as Open House and committees.

The 'Barriers to Parental Involvement' section was steeped in research that indicated several barriers impeded parents' involvement in their child's education. Barriers to involvement included racism, White supremacy practices, as well as structural and cultural, communication, and family-based barriers, such as socioeconomic status, lack of childcare and transportation, and past negative experiences (Alexander et al., 2017; Allen & White-Smith, 2018; Grace & Gerdes, 2018; Lechuga-Peña & Brisson, 2018). Questions1–4 in the barriers section sought to understand parents' perception of how their experiences shaped their mode of interaction with the educational ecosystem (child, school, and teacher) and to see whether the experience influenced their choice to resort to one parental involvement strategy over another.

The 'Family and School Partnership' section was based on Epstein's (2018) six types of parental involvement for a comprehensive partnership model. This section focused on understanding parents' perception of the family-school partnership or lack thereof. Questions 1–3 in the Partnership section sought to gauge the parent's perception of the family-school partnership and communication patterns between family and school to family. Questions 4–6 sought to elicit parents' perceptions of their role in the partnership.

These perceptions were deemed as important because researchers and practitioners have been guided by three perspectives in thinking about school and family partnerships: separate responsibilities, shared responsibilities, and sequential responsibilities. If the parent or school believes that schools teach and parents parent, the relationship is based on separate responsibilities assumptions, which are naturally governed by conflict, incompatibility, and competition (Epstein, 2018). At the other end of the spectrum, a family-school partnership based on the shared responsibilities assumptions is premised on coordination, cooperation, and collaboration. Lastly, the sequential responsibilities assumptions are based on the parent and teacher's contribution to child development. Parents assume a critical role in the child's early development, and the teachers assume most of the responsibilities when the child enters school (Epstein, 2018).

An expert panel review was used to examine the interview and focus group protocols prior to data collection. An expert panel review occurs when a group of experts in the field of education assesses the content validity of an instrument (Davis, 1992). Expert panel reviews are essential because they evaluate whether the instrument has enough items to represent the domain of content (Davis, 1992). Three experts in the field of educational leadership from the target school and district ensured the instruments were aligned with the research questions. The expert panel also ensured that the questions were appropriate for the study and would elicit sufficient data to answer the research questions. **Procedures**

Before engaging in this study, I sought permission from the Nova Southeastern University's Institutional Review Board (IRB). Upon approval from the Nova Southeastern University IRB, I posted the recruitment letter on the target school's alumni Facebook page (the Facebook page had no affiliation with the school or district and is run by a retired secretary). Once I received confirmation that a potential participant was interested in partaking in the study, I sent them an email that described the study's purpose and procedures and provided information about the financial incentive of \$25. I attached the informed consent form to the email. Participants read a statement outlining the study's problem, purpose, research questions, risks, and benefits of participation in the current study. Participants then indicated their willingness to participate in the study by signing the informed consent section form.

I then contacted participants by phone to schedule the Zoom interview. The interviews were scheduled for an hour. During the call, I answered participants' questions about the study and interview process. Once the interview time was set, I emailed participants instructions on how to set up and use Zoom on a cellphone or computer and the Zoom link with the scheduled date and time of the interview or focus group. Every interview was recorded on the Zoom platform and uploaded to the Cloud. After the interview, I downloaded the audio file to the Max Weber Qualitative Data Analysis software (MAXQDA) and transcribed the interviews. Once the recordings were transcribed, a copy was sent to each participant via email to perform a member check.

Participants were asked to read the transcript, look for errors, and make corrections within three days. Next, I used focus groups to expand on the topics (Morgan, 1997; Patton, 1990; Powell & Single, 1996).

Focus groups are used to supplement semi structured interviews. I emailed the 10 participants the date and time of the focus group and information regarding the incentive to participate. One focus group, which consisted of five participants, was held for this study. The focus group was recorded on Zoom and the session lasted 90 minutes. I used an interview protocol to open and close the focus group. After the focus group, I downloaded the audio file to MAXQDA for transcription. Once MAXQDA transcribed the focus group interview, I shared the transcripts with the participants via email. Participants had three days to look for errors and provide feedback for corrections to the focus group transcripts. Once the interview and focus group transcripts were updated, I used thematic analysis to analyze the data. The MAXQDA software, designed for qualitative data analysis, assisted me in this process, as well as to code, organize, and manage the transcripts.

Data Analysis

The representation of findings in qualitative descriptive research is expected to be straightforward, comprehensive, and descriptive (Kim et al., 2017). Thematic analysis aligns with qualitative descriptive research because it provides in-depth insight into the problem (Braun & Clarke, 2006; Maguire & Delahunt, 2017). I used Braun and Clarke's (2006) six-phase data analysis framework. Strategies of the framework included becoming familiar with the data, generating initial codes, searching for themes, reviewing themes, defining themes, and doing a write-up (Braun & Clarke, 2006; Maguire & Delahunt, 2017).

The familiarization phase involved reading and rereading the entire dataset to become intimately familiar with it (Braun & Clark, 2006; Byrne, 2022; Campbell et al., 2021). I became familiar with the data through immersion and by being critically engaged in the data through reading, rereading, and active listening. Memoing, the act of recording reflective notes, aided me in the analysis by capturing what I learned from the data (Birk & Chapman, 2008).

The coding process involved working systematically through the dataset to create succinct vivid descriptions for each piece of information deemed relevant to addressing the research problem, purpose, or questions (Adu, 2019; Braun & Clark, 2006; Byrne, 2022). In the second phase of Braun and Clark's (2006) data analysis framework, I used the open coding method to start the coding process. Open coding, the initial step of coding, involves breaking down textual data (interview and focus group transcripts) into distinct parts, creating codes, and labeling the parts (Adu, 2019; Charmaz, 2014; Saldaña, 2013; Williams & Moser, 2019). I then reviewed the entire dataset, giving full and equal attention to each datum. Next, I applied code labels to each line or segment of data. My focus was detailed, specific, and aimed at capturing concepts within the dataset. I coded at the latent level to capture conceptual and implicit meanings in the dataset. I created a codebook to keep track of the codes. I then used the MAXQDA software to collate codes with supporting data.

Themes are multi-faceted meanings patterned across a qualitative dataset, unified by the organization of codes (Braun & Clark, 2006; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016; Miles et

69

al., 2020). Theme development is an active process in which the researcher is tasked with using data and knowledge to construct themes (Braun & Clark, 2006). In phase three of the framework, I used axial coding to draw connections between the codes developed in the open coding process and group the codes into categories (Adu, 2019; Charmaz, 2014; Saldaña, 2013; Williams & Moser, 2019). I clustered codes that shared a core idea and answered my research questions into initial themes. I then moved to phase four of the framework and developed and reviewed themes. I assessed whether the themes were coherent in relation to the coded excerpts and the entire dataset. Additionally, I evaluated the themes to see whether they emphasized crucial patterns across the dataset in relation to my research questions. Lastly, I ensured there was enough data to support the theme, broke down related themes, and rewrote and refined codes and themes.

In Phase 5 of Braun and Clark's (2006) framework, I refined, defined, and named themes. To help the researcher in this phase, Braun and Clark (2006) suggested that researchers should ask themselves, "What story does this theme tell?" and "How does this theme fit into my overall story about the data?" (p. 35). I refined my analysis by ensuring every theme had a strong core concept. I then identified the story of each theme in a synopsis. Finally, I rotated between the data and the themes to organize the story.

In the final phase of the framework, I wrote up the report. In this phase, I aimed to combine my informal writing (memoing notes and reflexive journal) into a formal writeup. I then answered the research questions by presenting an analytical narrative with vivid data extracts concisely and compellingly, which is presented in Chapter 4.

Assumptions

Assumptions are elements of the study that I deem true (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018; Creswell & Creswell, 2018; Creswell & Poth, 2018). An assumption of this study is that all African American parents have experienced some form of racism, and that racism permeates all facets of society, including schools. The next assumption was that all participants would engage in the entire interview process. This included the one-hour interview and the focus group interview. The final assumption of this study was that all participants will be truthful about their experiences.

Delimitations

Bloomberg and Volpe (2018) posited that delimitations are boundaries intentionally put in place to limit the scope of the study and to increase the feasibility of the study. A delimitation of this study is the choice only to study African American parents. Another delimitation of this study was the focus on school-based involvement and school-based committees. Existing literature indicated that there was a correlation between school-based involvement and an increase in students' GPA and graduation rates (Benner et al., 2015; James et al., 2019; Ross, 2016). Furthermore, school-based committees, such as the Parent Council, SSC, and the PTO are the school governing bodies. These committees and organizations profoundly impact policies and procedures and how schools are run. Another delimitation of this study was using CRT as its theoretical framework. Racism permeates every social institution in America, including schools. Thus, CRT should be the lens through which to view this study's source material. Finally, the study only used qualitative data; thus, no inferences or relationships between variables were reported (Bloomfield & Fisher, 2019; Creswell & Creswell, 2018; Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Ethical Considerations

The National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research outlined the following ethical principles in the Belmont Report: respect for persons, beneficence, and justice (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). These three principles framed my treatment of participants. I was intentional about treating participants as independent agents and providing the participants who could not protect themselves with protection. Next, I was intentional about doing no harm to participants and maximizing benefits. Finally, I was fair to all participants, treating them as equals (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979).

Before engaging in this study's date collection, I obtained approval from the Nova Southeastern University's IRB. The IRB ensured that the welfare and rights of participants in this study were protected. I provided participants with informed consent documentation that outlined to participants the purpose of the study, procedures, risks, benefits, time/duration of participation, confidentiality/anonymity, compensation, researcher contact information, voluntary participation, and conditions of withdrawal. Obtaining informed consent was important because it enabled participants to have a say in what should and should not happen to them (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). Furthermore, I ensured the privacy of participants by keeping all collected information confidential (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018; Creswell & Creswell, 2018). The information collected from participants did not include names, addresses, phone numbers, or emails. I ensured that there was no link between participant responses and their identities (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018; Creswell & Poth, 2018; Tracy, 2018). Bloomberg & Volpe (2018) posited that confidentiality is an agreement between the researcher and the participant about information obtained about the participant. For the current study, I was the only one who could identify participants through a unique identification number. Files were protected with passwords, information sent via the Internet was encrypted, and codes were substituted for participant identifiers. Lastly, per IRB requirements, electronic documents were downloaded to a flash drive with password protection and will be saved for three years under lock and key before being deleted (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018).

Trustworthiness

To establish trustworthiness in a research study, the researcher must maintain credibility, dependability, confirmability, and transferability (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2018; Creswell & Poth, 2018; Marshall et al., 2022). I established credibility in this study through member checks, triangulation, providing thick descriptions, journaling, and reflexivity. I established dependability through triangulation and an audit trail. An audit trail and journaling were used to show confirmability. Lastly, I used purposeful sampling and thick description to establish transferability. In addition, I shared the findings with participants.

Potential Research Bias

My role in this study was to serve as the human instrument for data collection (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Merriam, 1998; Merriam & Tisdell, 2006). Unlike quantitative studies where the researcher is hypothetically nonexistent, and data is collected through questionnaires and inventories in this study, I was tasked with collecting data using semistructured interviews and focus groups (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2019; Bloomfield & Fisher, 2019; Creswell & Creswell, 2018; Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Swaminathan & Mulvihill, 2016; Tracy, 2018). My goal was to keep the focus on participants; thus, I acknowledged the following biases:

- 1. I am of the same race as the participants
- 2. My job as a counselor required me to advocate for participants
- 3. I have held every leadership position at the research site
- 4. I am an insider, which means I work in the institution.

To embrace this role, I disclosed this information at the beginning of the study. To counter these potential biases, I kept a reflective journal detailing actions, thoughts, and feelings during the data-collection and analysis processes. Reflective journaling facilitated reflexivity by allowing me to examine and reflect on my preconceptions, assumptions, goals, and belief systems (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016; Miles et al., 2020).

Limitations

Limitations of qualitative studies are related to the characteristics of the design and the methodology (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2019). A limitation of descriptive design is that it is not clearly defined. The lack of a description design rulebook may lead to atheoretical research, a lack of literature that would offer guidance to researchers, and the mixing of established methodologies may lead to contradictions (Kahlke, 2014). To minimize this limitation, I used descriptive design to describe the problem. Another major limitation of this study were the constraints regarding transferability. In qualitative studies, it can be difficult to apply findings to different situations and populations (Creswell & Poth, 2018). To mitigate this limitation, I provided a thick description of the participants, problem, and context (Roulston & Choi, 2018; Tracy, 2020). Furthermore, researcher bias may be a limitation of the current study. I am a 17-year educator who has worked as a school counselor and an assistant principal. These two positions hold a considerable amount of power and influence within schools. To mitigate this limitation, I performed member checks, journaled, sought an expert panel review of the protocols, and used reflexivity.

Summary

The goal of the current study was to investigate the problem that African American parents at the secondary school level are not fully engaged in policymaking and organizational activities at the target school. The purpose of this qualitative descriptive study was to examine the reasons why African American parents at the target high school were not fully engaged in policymaking and organizational activities. The qualitative methodology was deemed appropriate for this study because, at its core, was the assumption that reality is constructed by individuals' experiences with the world (Merriam, 1998). The qualitative descriptive design was deemed appropriate for this study because, unlike traditional designs such as grounded theory, phenomenology, and ethnography, it does not align with an established methodology and does not have a philosophical underpinning (Kennedy, 2006). The current study did not fit into the mainstream qualitative designs and the descriptive design allowed me the flexibility to incorporate strengths of traditional methodologies such as narrative and phenomenology. The current study used a purposeful sampling method to recruit participants. The inclusion criteria for this study were that participants must be African American and have an alumnus of the secondary school. The sample size enabled me to elicit enough data to reach data saturation. The data sources for the current study were semistructured interviews and focus groups. Interviews and focus groups took place via the Zoom platform. Interviews and focus groups allowed me to better understand African Americans' experiences and perceptions of school-based involvement and school committees. Once data were collected through interviews and focus groups, I used thematic analysis to analyze the data. I used Braun and Clark's (2006) six-phase data analysis framework. The MAXQDA qualitative data analysis software aided me in the data-analysis process.

Assumptions of the current study were that all African Americans participants have experienced some form of racism, would participate in the entire interview process, would be truthful about their experiences, and would benefit from this study. The limitations of this study were that the design was not theory-oriented and that the study involved researcher bias. Delimitations of the study included the choice only to study African American parents, school-based involvement and committees, and the use of CRT as the framework.

Lastly, I received approval for this study from the Nova Southeastern University IRB, which ensured that the welfare and rights of participants in this study were protected. Once I gained approval, informed consent documents were sent to all participants. The informed consent documents outlined essential aspects of the study to participants, such as the purpose, procedures, risks, confidentiality, and withdrawal procedures. Lastly, I informed participants of my potential biases and plans to mitigate those biases.

Chapter 4: Findings

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive study was to examine the reasons why African American parents at the target secondary school have not been fully engaged in policymaking and organizational activities. This study aimed to provide the knowledge necessary to respond to African American parents' objections to engaging in schoolbased activities and to enable them to share their experiences with educators and administrators. This study also sought to understand and look for ways to strengthen the family-school partnership. The study's findings may help educators, administrators, and district-level leaders create the structure and programming necessary to engage all parents at the secondary school level. Secondly, the findings from the study may help future teachers and administrators understand the importance of African American parental involvement in education and their reluctance to become involved. Lastly, the findings from the study should inform future research on African American parental involvement in education.

In this study I resorted to a qualitative methodology and a descriptive design. Data were collected from 10 African American parents using semistructured interviews and a focus group. Thematic analysis was used to analyze data from the semistructured interviews and focus group. Open and axial coding were used to create themes from the dataset. The themes were then used to create a narrative that answered the study's research questions. The MAXQDA qualitative data analysis software was used to analyze open and axial codes, and to organize the data. This chapter presents the research findings in two sections: Demographics, and Findings and Summary.

Research Questions

Research Question 1

What are African American parents' perceptions of organizational activities and policymaking at the secondary level?

Research Question 2

What barriers prevent African American parents from engaging in organizational activities and policymaking at the secondary level?

Research Question 3

What are African American parents' perspectives of the family-school relationship at the secondary level?

Demographics

Purposeful sampling was used to recruit 10 participants who met the prescribed criteria for this study of being an African American parent of an alumnus of the target secondary school. The sample size elicited sufficient data to reach data saturation. Demographic information from participants in this study included interview order, socioeconomic status, educational level, marital status, and family's sole earner. All participants in the study were female. Eight participants described themselves as middleclass, while two described themselves as low-income. The educational level of participants varied. Three participants obtained master's degrees, four participants achieved bachelor's degrees, one participant enrolled in college but did not finish, one participant obtained a high school diploma, and one participant did not finish high school. As regards marital status, seven participants were single, and three participants were married. For the question of family sole earner, eight out of 10 participants asserted that they were the family's breadwinner. Table 1 provides a breakdown of the categories listed above.

Table 1

Demographics

Participant	Gender	Socioeconomic Status	Education level	Marital Status	Breadwinner
1	Female	Medium	Bachelors	Single	Yes
2	Female	Medium	Masters	Married	Yes
3	Female	Medium	Masters	Married	No
4	Female	Medium	Bachelors	Single	Yes
5	Female	Medium	Bachelors	Married	Yes
6	Female	Low	High School	Single	No
7	Female	Medium	Some College	Single	Yes
8	Female	Low	High School	Single	Yes
9	Female	Medium	Bachelors	Single	Yes
10	Female	Medium	Masters	Single	Yes

Findings and Summary

In this section, findings are organized by research questions. The themes attached to each research question were defined and supported with participant data. Additionally, a summary of key findings is appended at the end of each section. Lastly, the outline of key findings was instrumental in creating the summary.

Data Analysis for Research Question 1

The "Perception of Parental Involvement" IQs 1–3 were used to collect data from participants for RQ1. The following themes emerged from the analysis of the data: "Parental Involvement in Secondary School: Shifting from Active Participation to Emotional Support," "Emotional Nurturance" (sub-theme), "Providing a Safe Space" (sub-theme), "Nurturing Self-Reliance" (sub-theme), and "Challenges of Parental Engagement in Commitment-Based Activities at the High School Level."

Theme: Parental Involvement in Secondary School: Shifting from Active Participation to Emotional Support

This theme emerged from analysis of the "Perception of Parental Involvement" Interview Question (IQ) 1 (What do you think about parental involvement in education?) and IQ2 (What do you think about parental involvement in education at the high school level?). Every participant believed that parental involvement in education was essential at all levels of education.

Participant 5 posited that "I think it's very important. I don't think a child, whether they're in kindergarten to senior, can be successful without parent support." Several participants talked about the stark differences in their involvement in elementary school and high school. Many believed that they were more involved in school-based activities in elementary school than in high school but believed that they played a significant role in supporting their children at the high school level. Most participants equated parental involvement at the high school level with emotional support. These emotional-based practices included participants showing the child that they cared about their education and encouraging them to do the best they could. A major reason participants used emotional-based practices was because their children understood the importance of their engagement or lack thereof.

Participant 3 asserted that "At the elementary and middle school level, the students may not be conscious of the importance of parental involvement, but in high school, they grasp the understanding." It was noticeable during the interview and the focus groups that participants were cognizant of how their children felt about their involvement in their education. For many, it served as a validation for them. Participants who were involved in their child's education were excited to share their experiences. Consequently, participants who struggled with engagement were sad. They often used phrases such as "I wish", or "I did the best I could." The following quote exemplifies participants' awareness and validation:

We had what I would call a very strong relationship. What happened in school, she would come home, and she tell me. Sometimes it could be after the fact, sometimes it could be current. My daughter even talked to me about if there is an incident that happened at school regarding another student, to find out how I would react to that. She would always encourage me to read the parents' newsletter, if you will, so we know the events that were happening, and sometimes she would ask, you know, like, am I aware of this and this happening. (Participant 3)

In this case, Participant 3 was keenly aware that her child was happy with her engagement and often used her as a resource to help her understand experiences at the secondary school level. Most importantly, the validation came when the child encouraged the participant to get involved in school events. To know what was going on at school was everything to most participants. Several participants believed that knowing what was going on at the high school meant they were involved in their children's education. Consequently, participants felt like outsiders when they did not know what was happening in school. The following quote also displayed perceptual awareness:

They say money is everything, but money is not everything, because once you lose that connection with your kids, it slowly adds up, right? So, when you're there for them, it's like, okay, is it money or no money, right? Right now, I get the disability, it's not like a great amount of money. It's something, right? But I'm still here for them. So, it's kind of like, I'm rich on that part. Rich for being there for them. I might be struggling a little bit, but I make it, but I'm there for them. (Participant 6)

In this case, when Participant 6 worked a full-time job, her schedule did not permit her to be involved in her children's education the way she wanted to be. When she became disabled and unable to work, she realized the loss of connection with her children. She realized that she had not been there for them. It was evident during interviews that participants who struggled with engagement were very emotional. Several participants still felt sad even though they were far removed from the high school.

Many participants were compassionately empathetic for their children. They sought to understand their children and alleviate anything causing them distress at the high school level. They did this by emotionally nurturing their children.

Sub-Theme: Emotional Nurturance

The first sub-theme, "Emotional Nurturance," emerged from analysis of data from IQ2 (What do you think about parental involvement in education at the high school level?). Most of the participants believed that their child needed a lot of support during their high school years. They mentioned the impact that COVID-19 and neighborhood violence had on their children as a major reason they strove to create an emotionally safe environment for their children. Participants believed that the safe environment allowed them to keep communication open, cultivate the relationship, provide the necessary resources, and foster independence in their children.

One way participants emotionally nurtured their children was the check-in strategy. Checking-in involved talking to their children about academics, peers, mental health, physical health, sex, and their overall school experience. Several participants posited that they were unable to be there all the time for their child, but they would check in from time to time. Participant 1 explained the reasons why she checked-in with her child:

Either way, all the way around the board, I think it's important for parents to be there to support. They [students] experience a lot and, you know, they're around peers that may be experiencing a lot. So, I think it's very important to be involved in your child's education all throughout school. I try to be more understanding and listen and hear her when she does express that she's frustrated or she's not doing too well on her subject. So, I try to keep that communication base open with her, so she doesn't shut down and she don't just completely go off the rails. (Participant 1) In this case, Participant 1 would have daily check-ins with her child because she recognized the impact of experiences such as puberty and peer pressure had on her child's mental health.

Similarly, Participant 4 also used the check-in strategy to support her child's development. She posited that "I think parent involvement is very important just so we can know what's going on with our children in their own learning, their economic, their social, their mental health, just their overall well-being" (Participant 4). Lastly, Participant 5 used the check-in strategy to let her child know she was there for him when he needed support. She stated that "Well, first of all, I have open communication and I let him know, let them know that they can come to me, even my college kid. I let them know that I'm here. Don't wait. If there's a problem that you're having" (Participant 5). A second area in which participants professed parental support was providing a safe space and support with homework.

Sub-Theme: Providing a Safe Space

The second sub-theme emerged from data analysis of IQ3 (What educational practices do you use to support your student at home?) Many participants mentioned that they provided help with homework, encouragement, and a supportive home environment. These are all home-based parental involvement strategies. Participant 2's response highlighted her perception of what home-based support was. As she asserted,

I was going to make sure you're going to work on your homework. Okay. I was going to make sure that you got enough rest for school in the morning. I was going to make sure you got up on time and that you were out the door and that you attended school. (Participant 2)

85

Comparably, Participant 7 stated this about helping her child with homework:

I want to make sure that they're doing it correctly. I want to make sure that they're not only doing the work, but I'm also checking to see if my child is doing the work that needs to be done to get the grades that they that pretty much best benefits them. (Participant 7)

Participants 1, 6, and 8 posited that they struggled with providing help with homework at the high school level. Participant 1 encapsulated this when she stated, "Like math and stuff definitely got a little bit more complex ... I encouraged my child to get help when she struggled in classes I could not help her with" (Participant 1). Similarly, Participant 8 stated that she struggled in high school and was not able to help her child with her homework, but she encouraged her child to stay after school with the teacher for extra help. As she posited,

I struggled in school and did not graduate on time, but I encouraged my child to get help from her teachers. I did the best I could during her high school years. I provided food and a roof over her head" (Participant 8)

The last phrase is a glimpse on how several participants perceived they provided a supportive home environment. Participants 1, 6, and 8 all equated providing food and a place to live as a supportive home environment. The rest of the participants associated providing a place to do homework, monitoring homework completion, and daily check-ins with a supportive home environment. Table 2 provides a breakdown of the home-based support that participants provided.

Table 2

Home-Based	Support
------------	---------

Participants	Provided Necessities	Provided a Place to do Homework	Monitored Homework Completion	Daily Check- Ins
1	Х			Х
2	Х	Х	Х	Х
3	Х	Х	Х	Х
4	Х	Х	Х	Х
5	Х	Х	Х	Х
6	Х		Х	Х
7	Х	Х	Х	Х
8	Х			Х
9	Х	Х	Х	Х
10	Х	Х	Х	Х

Sub-Theme: Nurturing Self-Reliance

The last area in which participants posited helped to emotionally nurture their children was "Nurturing Self-Reliance." Participants believed that it was their responsibility to be involved in their child's education, but it was also their responsibility to teach their children to advocate for themselves and to take responsibility for their education. Participant 5 explained how she took more of a hands-on and hand-off approach to fostering independence with her son. As she stated: I just wanted to see what he was doing in class. Not necessarily checking on him, but you really are checking on them. They have to know that you're there. They also have to know that it is their responsibility to maintain their grades.

(Participant 5)

This statement highlighted how Participant 5 strived to help her son take more responsibility of his learning while continuing to support him from a distance. Similarly, Participant 10 sought to give her son independence by "letting him figure things out when he struggled in a class" She explained that when her son struggled in a class such as math, she would let him talk with the teacher before she intervened. She stated, "If he could not resolve the problem, I would email the teacher to set up an appointment" (Participant 10).

Participant 9 indicated that she did not check-in as much on her daughter because "she is smart, independent, and gets really good grades" (Participant 9). Participant 3 stated "My daughter is so smart and independent that she pushes my engagement in her schooling" (Participant 3). Some of the participants had to foster independence in their children out of necessity. Participant 6 explained that she has a recurring health issue that required her see a doctor often. Thus, her daughter would be on her own for long a period of time. Similarly, Participant 1 stated that she had mental health issues that sometimes prevented her from being involved in her daughter's education. Both participants were not happy that they could not be there for the children but believed that their children became more independent because of their situations.

Theme: Challenges of Parental Engagement in Commitment-Based Activities at the High School Level

Parent-teacher communication was the number one involvement strategy parents engaged in while at the high school level. The Open Houses were a way the schools were intentional about establishing parent-teacher communication. When asked Question 4 (What do you think about the school's Open House?) and Question 5 (What do you think about school-based activities such as volunteering, parent council, and School Site Council?), the following theme emerged from the data: "Challenges of Parental Engagement in Commitment-Based Activities at the High School Level." Many of the participants believed that open house was valuable and facilitated parent-teacher communication. The following excerpts highlights participants' perception of the benefits of Open Houses. As Participant 4 stated, "So, attending Open House, I mean, it was rewarding just to hear the good positive feedbacks and then whatever, you know, criticisms, it was more positive so then you'll learn how to help your child." (Participant 4). As Participant 10 stated:

Open House, yeah, I think it's very informative. I think it's a great way to, you know, really get to know staff and teachers and the people who are involved at the school level. It was also a way to find out straight from the teacher how my son was doing in his classes. (Participant 10)

This excerpt from participant 10 shed a light on participants' expectations of the Open House: to build a relationship with teachers and other staff members and to get pertinent information about their child's progress. Participant 8 went on to introduce the theme of the importance of parental voice being heard at school:

It's really important. Oh, my God, absolutely. The Open Houses, it was like, what, maybe three a year each semester we came in and we sat, and we discussed the work of our kids. And I know if any of my kids was falling behind to a point where something needed to be changed in their curriculum, it was important. So, if I didn't show up, I'm not going to have a voice. And you might have a teacher that will overlook it, like, well, if the parents don't care, I'm not going to care. (Participant 8)

Like Participant 10, Participant 8 also believed that the Open Houses were a way to get important information about her child. This also highlighted participants' perception of how they would be viewed if they did not show up. In essence, many participants believed that they would be perceived as an uninvolved parent if they did not show up for the Open Houses. Participant 3 stated,

Open House is an opportunity for families, parents to visit the school, to get, you know, especially for first, you know, for a new student at a school, it's an opportunity for them to see the school if they haven't had a chance to see the school, you know, physically visit the classroom and see the life at the school. (Participant 3)

This sentiment accentuated how the Open Houses created a sense of belonging for some parents. But for others, the open houses were incomplete. As Participant 6 stated, I think that's cool. I mean, it gives everybody a chance to meet their student's teacher. I mean, it gave me a chance because I think last year, I didn't really get to meet everybody. I spoke to certain people, but I didn't get to meet them on that level. So that was pretty good. So, they are helpful? I mean, it gives the child like, you know, okay, she is involved, you know, she's not just all talk, she's involved, you know. (Participant 6)

An essential aspect of Participant 6's excerpt is that she mentioned that she could not meet everybody during the open house. Many participants believed the open houses were not as helpful because they could not meet with all their children's teachers. The following extract highlight parents' frustration with not being able to meet with all the teachers. As Participant 7 stated,

Okay, to be honest, I don't really, I don't completely find them helpful. Not all the time, I don't. If you're able to get to a teacher, then yes, it's helpful. But I feel like the way it's laid out; you don't get to talk to a lot of teachers. And then we're sitting in a Zoom room, you're constantly being rushed. I mean, God forbid this is a class that your kid's not doing well in. If your kid is doing well, I guess, you're fine. You might have additional questions that they can do to further themselves and what they're doing. So, you might have questions on that aspect just to push them a little bit more. For a child that she's just doing regular, or he or she is just doing standard and you want to do your best to benefit them, it's not always the easiest to talk to every teacher. And then because of the timeline, you have, we're only getting like two hours. So, like, and you have, I don't know, however many parents there. So, it's a little like, it's a little difficult because there's nothing offered. Like, even though we know we can do it, there's not too much offered like, hey, we did our open house last night. Thank you for coming. We appreciate your support. For those that didn't get to talk to certain teachers, here's the email addresses that you can maybe set up a time frame to maybe meet with them at a different time because we know it's a little difficult trying to meet with everyone for us. Because it's not easy for you guys, I see that. It's a small school, you have a lot of parents. I want to make sure that we all have the opportunity to talk to their teachers. (Participant 7)

Participants 2 and 5 also believed that the open house could have been more helpful during their time at the high school. Like Participant 7, they believed that the Open House was good in theory, but the timing and structure of the Open Houses could have been more inviting. Analysis of the data suggested that most participants (8 out of 10) believed that the Open Houses were helpful, but only 4 participants attended the Open Houses regularly. Only 2 participants found the Open Houses to be unhelpful and uninviting. Table 3 provides a breakdown of participants' perception of the Open House, and whether they attended them regularly.

Table 3

Participants	Attended the Open Houses Regularly	Did Not Attend the Open Houses Regularly	Thought the Open Houses were helpful	Thought the Open Houses were not helpful
1		X	X	•
2		X		X
3	X		X	
4	X		X	
5	X		X	
6		X	X	
7		X		X
8	X		X	
9		X	X	
10		X	X	

Perceptions of School-Based Activities

External factors such as work schedule constraints made it hard for several participants to partake in school-based activities. Comparably, many participants believed that Parent Council, SSC, and volunteering were important but that participation in these school-based activities was very low. The following excerpts highlighted parents' perception of school-based activities such as parental council, SSC, and volunteering:

I think they're important. I think the school needs them. I mean, it's part of the school community. Doing like bake sales, the PTO, the Student Council, the School Site Council, and all of those, because decisions are being made, and they're being made with or without you, parents. They're being done with or without you, so you can't really complain and say, oh, well, I didn't know this

was happening. Why did they decide to put a playground? Well, because the parents that were there voted for it, and the parents that didn't want it weren't there. (Participant 5)

Participant 5 provided insight into parents' thinking around school-based activities, such as the SSC, Parent Council, and volunteering. They understood the importance of schoolbased activities and the consequences of not being involved in such activities. Participant 10 also voiced similar sentiments:

So, I try my best to be present at School Site Council, especially when my son was in high school. Even before he transferred to his last school, I was a part of Parent Council at his previous school. So, I think attending meetings, whether I'm a member or not is really vital because parents need to have a say at the table. I think it's important to even communicate with your child before meetings to talk about, you know, hey, do you have any concerns? And really relay those messages during School Site Council. But it is important to connect with, you know, other parents as well to share common like themes or goals or practices just to connect as well would be good as a support. (Participant 10)

This excerpt highlighted participants' perception of why school-based activities such as SSC are important, which is to be a part in the school's decision-making process. But Participant 10 also claimed she had tried her best to attend the meetings. Participants 2 and 3 believed school-based activities such as SSC, Parent Council, and volunteering were important, but found it difficult to navigate the school's establishment. As Participant 3 stated, I mean, those are good activities that schools put in place for parents to get involved. But I think it's still a matter of how we do it, how we run the activities, how welcome the families will feel because some parents could easily feel intimidated. (Participant 3)

Participant 3 posited that many families felt intimidated by the way the meetings were run. Many families did not understand how the meetings were organized and how to voice their concerns. Several participants believed that the school made it hard for parents like her to stay involved because the activities were not conducive to parents' work schedule. Meetings normally started at 5:00 p.m., a timeframe when most parents had gotten off work. As Participant 3 stated, "This created a sense of uneasiness where I felt out of place." It is notable that Participant 3 was uneasy because she was unable to make it to all the meetings due to their inconvenient timing. She felt that the other members looked at her differently because she was unable to make it to all the meetings. Participant 2 had similar concerns of being an outsider looking in:

I did try, and if I can, I'm going to show you how difficult they make it to navigate joining School Site Council. It's a lot of find this link, go here, but then the dates aren't there. Like it's not saying, hey, next meeting time, this time, or whatever. They kind of make you chase them to get that information so that you can be present. On the website, it might look all inviting, but they don't make it easy to navigate to get there. So, if I am having difficulty navigating to figure out how to get to their next meeting to be present, then imagine the next parent who may not have the literacy skills or the language skills to help them to try to find that information. (Participant 2) Participant 2 highlighted that information regarding school-based events was not easily accessible to parents. Participant 1 similarly indicated that "They send out email all the time. It may have been in one of the many emails, but no one has ever personally invited me to Parent Council or School Site Council. Plus, I work during those times." Like Participant 1, Participant 6 stated that she did not get invited to participate in schoolbased activities such as the parent council and SSC. Table 4 provides a breakdown of participant's perceptions and involvement in school-based activities.

Table 4

Participant	Volunteered at the school.	Participated in Parent Council	Participated in School Site Council	School- Based activities were helpful	School- Based activities were not helpful
1				X	
2			X		Х
3	Х			Х	
4				X	
5	X	X	X	Х	
6				Х	
7	X				Х
8	X				
9	X				
10	X		X	х	

Participation in School-Based Activities

Analysis of the data suggested most participants volunteered but stated that they did not get to volunteer as much as they would have liked to. Furthermore, most of the participants perceived school-based activities to be helpful. Lastly, only three participants participated in the parent and School Site Councils while at the high school level. Several barriers to involvement plagued many of the participants in this study. This is discussed in the data analysis of RQ2.

Answer to Research Question 1

Based on analyzed data from interviews and focused groups, the following answers emerged for RQ1: What are African American parents' perceptions of organizational activities and policymaking at the secondary school level?

- Parents perceived parental involvement in education was essential at all educational levels.
- Supporting their child's emotional development at the high school level was most important to parents.
- Parents equated school-based parental involvement to parent-teacher communication at the high school level.
- Parents based their engagement on the level of communication with their child's teachers.
- Parents believed that school-based activities such as Open House, SSC, and Parent Council were important but were a significant commitment. Volunteering was perceived as a noncommitment activity by parents; thus, they engaged in it more.

Summary

Based on the analysis of data, African American parents who took part in this study perceived organizational and policymaking activities as important and understood the consequences of not being involved in those activities. School-based activities such as Open House, SSC, and Parent Council were second in importance to supporting the child holistically in high school. Participants deemed emotionally supporting their children as most important at the high school level. For most participants, checking-in with their child was the only thing they could do consistently throughout high school because of perceived barriers to engagement.

Data Analysis for Research Question 2

Barriers to parental involvement IQs 1–9 were used to collect data from participants for RQ2 (What barriers prevent African American parents from engaging in organizational activities and policymaking at the secondary school level?). The following themes emerged from the data analysis: An Intergenerational Struggle, Exploring the Struggle to Communicate, Racism's Uneven Impact, and Scheduling constraints.

Theme: An Intergenerational Struggle

This theme emerged from the analysis of IQ2 (What experiences have shaped the way you interact with the school?) and IQ3 (What experiences have shaped the way you interact with teachers?). Several participants posited that their own parents were not involved in their education. This created an internal struggle for many participants because they wanted to provide more educational support to their children than their parents had done but felt powerless because they struggled to be more involved in their children. For many, this also had a profound impact on how they perceived

and dealt with teachers and schools. The following excerpts shed light on their experiences growing up with parents who were unable to be involved in their education and what they learned from that experience. As Participant 2 recounted,

My own experience [was] in the same system as a kid. So, my mom didn't know how to navigate this educational system here in this country. And so, I saw that I lost out on a lot of opportunities and teachers' kind of tossed me to the side, because I think the focus was more like on, like if you understood the system and you knew how to navigate it, you kind of get treated better, because then your parents are not taking any nonsense, they're not taking any shorts. So that taught me too, to always make sure whether the communication came my way or not to communicate with my child's teachers. (Participant 2)

As Participant 4 recounted,

For me, I can say my parents weren't involved at all. You know, there wasn't no timing for them to go up to the school and see what was happening. So, I said that, you know, if I have children, I have to make sure I'm involved because I want to know what's going on, especially with their education. (Participant 4) Participant 8 spoke to the internal struggle that many participants encountered with their won upbringing, and why several of them desperately wanted to be more involved in their child's education:

Well, no, because the way I was brought up, I was brought up in a home where, you know, at that time and day and age, it was all right for you to drink off the beer bottles and, you know. So, I was brought up, my childhood was horrible and there was nobody there for me as far as for came to school or any of that. So honestly, I was always told I'd never be anything. So, I think that's why I was a parent that always wanted to be involved in my kids' school, in the decisionmaking, because no matter what, and still to today, even though they're on their own, you can always be somebody and you can always do it better. (Participant 8)

At the other end of the spectrum, two participants were very involved parents. Both participants gained a lot from their own involved parents, but wanted to provide their children with what their parents did not provide them. As Participant 7 stated,

I'm thankful because my mom was pretty much always involved with the things that I did. I always try to make sure that my kids know that I appreciate everything that they do and everything that they bring to the table. So, to further my kids' education, I always put a positive light on the things that they love the most. (Participant 7)

Participant 10 also stated,

So, my family and my mother being very involved in my education really made me more so very involved and I knew, you know, how to engage and connect and communicate with my son's teachers and support. So, you know, high school, my mother was a little bit more hands-off maybe after the 10th grade. And I think high school is even middle school years, you know, adolescents go through different things hormonally, developmentally. So, I really kind of wanted to be a little bit more emotionally connected. (Participant 10)

For Participant 7, it was essential to her that she provide her children with affirmation around things they love to do, not just academics. For Participant 10, it was providing her son with more emotional support. She felt like her mom took a step back and provided less support at the high school level.

Based on the analysis of IQs 2 and 3, most participants (8 out 10) had uninvolved parents growing up. Every participant wanted to be more involved in their child's education because of their experiences with their own parents. When participants could not be involved in their child's education to the degree they wanted to, this created a sense of failure for them, as was evident in interviews by Participants 1, 6, and 8. These participants often used phrases like "I did my best," "I tried," and "it saddened me." These phrases represented an internal struggle and a sense of failure because they wanted to provide more support than their parents had done for them but could not because of external factors that weighed on their time and energy, such as work schedule, and recurring mental health and other health issues.

Theme: Exploring the Struggle to Communicate

The second theme, "Exploring the Struggle to Communicate," emerged from data analysis from IQ1 (What experiences have shaped your involvement in your child's education?). Data analysis suggested that all participants believed that parent-teacher communication was essential at the high school level. Communicating with a teacher was the number one school-based parental involvement strategy expressed by participants in the study. Most of the communication was through email and in response to an issue that their student was having in the classroom. Participant 7 stated, "My goal was to reach out to teachers. I would first look on ASPEN to see what was happening in school, then I would email the teachers" (Participant 7). This highlighted what several participants did at the secondary school level; they would check their child's grades on ASPEN and send an email to teachers if the grades were not up to par.

Participant 6 was more straightforward about participants' anxiety regarding not being able to communicate with the teacher. As she stated: "I just like to keep in touch with teachers. That is about it. If my child had a problem, I touched base with the teacher" (Participant 6). In this case, Participant 6 had major health concerns and was not able to be involved in her child's education the way she wanted to. Thus, communicating with the teacher was of the utmost importance to her and many of the other participants who could not be involved as they wanted to. Lastly, the following excerpt illustrates participants' perception of why parent-teacher communication was important. Participant 1 stated,

I think just being able to communicate with the teachers to let them know, like, especially on the, you know, things happen outside of school, things happen in school that the teacher may not be aware of. Because one, they're dealing with a bunch of students, a bunch of kids, day in, day out, and they're not going to catch everything. And that's completely understandable. The teachers are not octopuses. I say that about myself, too. So yeah, it's totally understandable. So, just more having a more understanding and being able to listen to what the teacher is saying regarding their kids and just being opened to hearing what they're saying and not be so quick to say, well, what did you do? Or, you know, you're not my child's parent. Yeah, stay with them for eight hours of the day. So, you know, you get that, but, you know, at the end of the day, it's still a respect factor that needs to be there. (Participant 1)

Many participants believed that it was their duty to communicate with the teacher and the school if something was happening with their child inside or outside the school. An important aspect of the quote from Participant 1 is that many participants were cognizant of the number of parents that teachers were expected to communicate with but still wanted a returned email or phone call. Analysis across the data suggested that several participants expressed frustration with the lack of communication from teachers. As Participant 2 stated,

So that may mean I need to reach out to this teacher. If I've seen a few notifications given to me by ASPEN that there is, you know, maybe something not completed or a low score on this quiz or this test or whatever, I'm reaching out. You don't got [*sic*] to reach out to me. I'm going to call you or email you. Something's happening. We're going to connect. It's frustrating. We might get a copy of the syllabus from each individual teacher, and that's about the extent of communication. I feel like at the high school level, in thinking of my son, who's my most recent graduate, I have a daughter who's in high school now, teachers rarely reached out. (Participant 2)

Participant 2 thus shed light on the impersonal communication that many participants had experienced at the secondary school level, as well as teachers' reliance on technology to communicate important information to parents. Participant 7 shed light on participants' dissatisfaction with teachers using technology to communicate pertinent information: "Sometimes teachers expect us to keep checking ASPEN, and sometimes ASPEN tells us a different picture. And the picture may not be necessarily what it is" (Participant 7). Participant 7 took umbrage in this case with the lack of teacher outreach regarding her child's current grade. When she had looked online to view her child's grade, it reflected a passing grade. However, when she received the report card, the child failed the class.

Many participants experienced some form of communication challenge. Most participants stated that teachers rarely called and only reached out to them when there was a major problem. They also stated that teachers relied on technology such as email and Talking Point (text message application) too much. Finally, many participants were frustrated with the timing of receiving pertinent information, such as a child failing a course. The following excerpt highlights what many participants went through during their time at the high school. Participant 9 stated,

I feel like some teachers don't respond. I had an issue last year with one of her classes that she was struggling with. I emailed the teacher, and he didn't respond to me. I sent another email basically saying you know I know that she's having some issues, but I really need you to connect with me to resolve this matter.

(Participant 9)

Table 5 provides a breakdown of communication challenges that participants had faced during their child's time at the high school.

Table 5

Participant	Limited Teacher Outreach	Teacher Over- Reliance on Technology to Communicate	Lack of Timely Information
1	Х	Х	Х
2	Х	Х	Х
3		X	
4	х		Х
5	х	X	Х
6	х	X	Х
7	х	X	Х
8	Х		
9	Х	X	Х
10	х		Х

Breakdown of Communication Challenges

Most participants (8 out of 10) experienced limited teacher outreach, teacher using technology to communicate (8 out of 10), and the lack of teachers communicating important information in a timely manner (8 out of 10). Several participants felt like outsiders because of the communication challenges they experienced at the high school. As Participant 2 stated, I don't know if they valued members in that community because I definitely didn't feel it. I don't think they invested in trying to make parents feel like part of the community. I feel like at the time that my son was there, they were going through so many shifts in their leadership that trying to build that sense of community wasn't at their forefront. They would let a kid silently fail, and I'm not okay with that. And that's the problem. (Participant 2)

This point of view served to explain how the school and teachers' lack of communication failed to create a sense of belonging with participants. Participant 7 asserted this about her relationship with the school during her tenure there, to the effect that "So, the relationship I would say in the last few years was rough. It really was. It was not a relationship I wanted to have" (Participant 7). Similarly, Participant 6 described how she did not feel like she was a part of the community. The lack of communication between teacher and parent was a major barrier to parental involvement for many of the participants because it was the only school-based strategy they could consistently use at the secondary school level.

Theme: Racism's Uneven Impact in Schools

The third theme, "Racism's Uneven Impact in Schools," emerged from data analysis of IQ8 (Has racism influenced how you interact with your child's school?). Data analysis suggested that, on the one hand, several participants acknowledged the existence of racism in the school environment but posited that it did not deter their involvement in their child's education. On the other hand, many participants expressed that they never experienced racism at the school. The following excerpts highlighted participants' perception of racism at the school. As Participant 10 stated, Race to me is always going to be a factor in education. It's really, you as a person of color, you really must be there. I don't know if it's in your brain to be trained to think this way, or because of experiences, it feels like I had to be a little bit more involved because of the population and the demographics of my son's school. (Participant 10)

This summed up other participants' sentiments about racism as well, given that several of them were cognizant of racism and believed that it was prevalent at the school. Participant 2 voiced that criticism when describing her perception of institutionalized racism in that setting:

Somewhat, yes. And I'm going to share something with you. So, my son has always been into the arts, and he was taking a music class, and it was like band. So, he came home, and he had one of those little flute things, clarinets, that he was playing. And the band teacher was this cool black woman, but she was teaching all different levels in this one class. That's how they set her up. Right? And you know, I had, you know, the pleasure of talking to her a few times in regard to my son, you know, and how he was like adjusting to her classroom. And I really respected, you know, the way she was trying to manage things with all these different levels. So just imagine teaching [a subject] like math, right? And there's various skills of math that you have to teach at one time. It was like a recipe for failure. And it was a full class size, right? No assistants, no help, nothing. There was no other teacher or faculty member in the room. Even just knowing this, and I'm like, wow, like that's not only a disadvantage for her, but it's a disadvantage for every kid in that room. Right? How do you set up a system where you have this one person teaching all these various skill levels, and that's okay? That was racism on so many levels, I can't even begin to explain it. (Participant 2)

As seen in this excerpt, Participant 2 connected with the teacher on several levels (African American and woman) and believed that the teacher was set up for failure because of racism. Participant 2 also believed that such institutionalized racism put children in this teacher's classroom at a disadvantage.

Participant 3 also indicated that racism was prevalent in the school environment, but she chose to ignore it:

I mean, I understand. Let me explain. So, I know that they may have their own bias. I'm aware of it. I pretend I don't see it because it's for the success of my child. and I have resources within the school that I can use to, you know, I don't want to say file a complaint, not to take it to that extent, but to make my voice be heard. (Participant 3)

This excerpt underscored participants' belief that racism exists within the school environment, and also highlighted how many participants chose to deal with it. Participant 5, for instance, was determined to take it head on:

I mean, I found that on all levels. And I feel that sometimes when they're dealing with Black families, it's not the same urgency. It's not the same caring. And I know that for a fact, whether it's on elementary level, all the way up to the high school and college, it's the same thing. You know, they don't have the same caring. I'm not saying all White educators, but a good amount of them. They don't have the care for our students. On an elementary school level, if the kids know where they need to be and they're old, they need an IEP [individualized education program]. We don't have to have all our Black boys and our Black children on IEPs, but we have a lot of Black boys that are on IEPs, and our Black and Brown babies are on IEPs. It's just so in the rush to do it. But I feel that if they have an issue, sometimes, if you give them extra support, maybe they need a tutor. They don't feel they need to talk to us as parents. That has a lot to do with it. And that's what most of my experience has been with White teachers. That's all that's really there anyway. There's not a lot of representation. Most students will see maybe one Black teacher in their whole entire education. And that's the statistic. If they're lucky, I see it where I'm at now. Most of those kids will see they'll have one Black student, one Black teacher out of 8 years, out of 8 years, right? And I don't care what district, I've seen it in all districts, right? So, I think it's important. And they're not culturally competent. They don't know how to deal with us. They're afraid to deal with us. They think that we're all just poor and just Black, and we don't know any better. So, they talk down to us; they're condescending. So, a lot of times we have to come and that's why we have to come in and be strong and let them know that we are there for our children. We expect the best of them. We want the best for them. And we expect them to do the best that they can by our children, whether they're White, whether they're Black. And you can say that without being crazy, you know? (Participant 5)

This interview excerpt encompassed several participants' perceptions of racism within the school and the education system in general, as Participant 5 shared this experience of racism at all grade levels. It is noteworthy that she consistently participated

in all school-based activities during her time at the high school and advocated for families of color while on the SSC. Lastly, her experience of racism did not deter her from getting involved in her child's education.

In contrast, several participants had not experienced any racism at the school. As Participant 4 stated,

No, I've never had an issue with anything with racism, but I just made sure that that wasn't going to deter me from anything. Because at the end of the day, I'm there for my children. I'm not there for any other nonsense in between. And I think I'm a firm parent, so I think they would have seen that in me. But I never came across it, and if I did, it wouldn't have happened. Like, I would have nipped that 100. (Participant 4)

This excerpt is important for highlighting the participant's willingness to overcome any adversity when it came to her children. Although she did not experience racism, Participant 4 would have taken it on for the sake of her children. Lastly, Participant 7 illustrated the school's response to what she perceived as racism, but she nevertheless believed that the school did not have issues with race. As Participant 7 stated,

I'll say that a lot of my teachers are biracial, so no, no, I would say 80% of that no. I mean, you know, you know, something occurred. And that's why certain predicaments happened. But now this person is not, you know, no longer there. But, you know, I just, but to know that we voiced concerns about, you know, certain scenarios and it took years for this person no longer to be there. But I can't say that I don't feel comfortable sending my kids to that school. There's a lot of minority teachers that work there, and even the ones that are not minority, even those teachers and those faculty that are not minorities, I don't believe that they have any issues with color. And I don't think that we have a lot of issues. Not that I've noticed. I don't think we have a lot of issues with racism at our school. I think we do kind of nip stuff in the bud really quick. If we even think that anybody's even making anybody ever feel a certain way. I will say that the school does try when it comes to certain things like that. I personally haven't had anything. (Participant 7)

Participant 7 highlighted the school's response to an incident that she perceived to have racial undertones. She believed that a teacher intentionally failed her son because he was African American. The school did an investigation, and she was happy with the outcome. Overall, Participant 7 did not believe that the school had issues with racism and claimed that she would feel comfortable sending her other children to the school. Participants 1, 6, 8, and 9 similarly did not experience any racism at the school.

Theme: Scheduling Constraints

The fourth theme, scheduling constraints, emerged from IQ5 (In your current job, do you have the flexibility to attend school-based activities such as volunteering at an event or participating in a committee?). Data analysis suggested that work schedules and health issues were significant barriers to involvement for several participants. The following excerpts are evidence for this theme. The following passages shed light on participants' struggle with making things work with their job schedule. Participant 1 stated this about her involvement in school-based activities: I can't participate regularly. I wish, you know, at that time with my work schedule, and then sometimes I get caught up in the client. So sometimes it's like, oh shoot, I forgot about doing this or doing that, or having to get to a thing with the school. So, it gets a little questioning. When you're doing the home, I tend to think, like, she's the mom who's not there. But no, it's just sometimes when it's a busy, busy day, it's not always busy. But for the most part, when it's, you know, it has days. I'll say that because of the population of people that I deal with, with the mental health and substance abuse and then the homelessness, and you're filling up a lot of other factors. It'd be like, OK, I'm getting sidetracked a lot sometimes. (Participant 1)

Following excerpts from Participants 1, 4 and 6 highlighted how the timing of the event dictated their involvement. As Participant 2 stated,

Unfortunately, sometimes they might do like a parent breakfast, right? I can't do it. Not unless I'm not present at my job. You know, just because of the hours I work are the same hours that he has to be in school. So, in order to do something like where I volunteer like on a field trip or something like that, I have to take a day off. (Participant 2)

Yeah, it depends on the time of the open house. So, if it was during a day that it was like in between of a shift, that was tough. But if it was something a little later where I was able to make arrangements, then I can go. There were sometimes I had my sister actually attend for me, you know, so I try to make it however I can go to get some form of information to let them know that I'm present, you know. I might not be there for that day, but I'm still present, you know, so yeah. So they had to volunteer, but I do have to say that it was hard for me to do some of those volunteering just because of the scheduling with my job that I wasn't able to but They have some good ones. (Participant 4)

Anything that happens in the early evening, on the weekends, I'm able to attend. And that's the majority of the activities, especially the weekends, because I don't work on the weekends. So, I'm able to attend, I'm able to volunteer, I'm able to participate. (Participant 6)

Several participants posited that they had significant health issues and other time conflicts that prevented them from participating in school-based activities. Participant 1 stated,

She almost lost her dad recently. She lost two of her cousins. And, you know, mom been in and out of the hospital. I've been in and out of the hospital and stuff. And, you know, it has not been easy for her. And I recognize that. So that's why I kind of handle her a little bit more with a little bit more gentleness because, dissonance but firm, because I know some of the things, like, it's not easy. It's not easy. So, I'm just trying to stay on top of just trying to be there for her and just support her in anything she chooses to do, you know, she has my support ten toes down.

Participant 1 signified her struggle with being in and out of the hospital while still trying to be involved in her child's education and spoke in terms of how her daughter perceived the situation. Participant 6 also had her share of medical troubles that impeded her involvement at school: Sometimes I do have my doctor's appointments, you know, for the lupus and my kidneys and stuff because the lupus took my kidneys and stuff. So, I have that to deal with. So that's like every three months, but sometimes, sometimes they'll be like, okay, you have to go and take blood work or whatever, because they're always changing my medication. So that's, that kind of goes into that. (Participant 6)

This excerpt from Participant 6 shed light on her battle with an autoimmune disease and the reason she could not consistently be involved in her child's education and school-based activities. She claimed that she could not drive at night because the medication made her drowsy. Every participant experienced a schedule constraint at the secondary school level. Many participants could not attend school-based events unless they were deep into the evening or on the weekend because of their work schedule. Others could not attend them at all because of their recurring health conditions.

Answer to Research Question 2

Based on analyzed data from interviews and focused groups, following are the answers to RQ2: What barriers prevent African American parents from engaging in organizational activities and policymaking at the secondary level?

- Participants' parents had an influence on how they dealt with teachers and the school.
- Participants wanted to be more involved in their child's education than their parents has been with them.
- Communicating with the teacher was the primary school-based strategy participants used.

- Lack of teacher outreach, reliance on technology, and timing of pertinent information were a unique barrier for participants.
- Most participants did not experience any racism at the school. Those who encountered racism either ignored it or took it head on. Overall, racism did not deter participants from being involved in their child's education.
- Work schedule constraints and recurring health conditions were impediments to participants' school involvement.

Summary

Based on the data analysis, several barriers prevented African American parents who participated in this study from engaging fully in organizational and policymaking activities at the secondary school level. The first was intergenerational trauma. Many participants struggled with the need to be better than their parents, who were uninvolved in their education. This added a significant amount of stress to participants who struggled to be involved. Next, communicating with the teacher was the number one school-based strategy participants had used at the secondary school level. Consequently, many of the participants believed that teachers rarely communicated and only communicated via email or text when there was a significant problem. This was a unique barrier because communicating with teachers was the only thing most participants could consistently do, due to schedule constraints. Furthermore, work schedules and recurring health conditions also posed barriers for several participants, as many participants were unable to miss work for school events. Thus, they could not be consistently involved in events that took place during the week unless it was late in the evening. Additionally, several participants experienced recurring health conditions that prevented them from being involved in any

educational activity. Lastly, most participants did not experience any racism at the school, but participants who did either chose to ignore it or face it head on. Overall, racism did not deter any participant from being involved in their child's education.

Data Analysis for Research Question 3

For RQ3: What are African American parents' perspectives of the family-school relationship at the secondary school level? Family and school partnerships IQs 1, 4, 5, and 6 were used to collect data from participants. The following themes emerged from the data analysis: Exploring a Sense of Belonging through Inclusive Practices and Connecting through Inclusivity: Open, Consistent, Timely Communication.

Theme: Exploring a Sense of Belonging Through Inclusive Practices

The theme, Exploring a Sense of Belonging, emerged from IQ1 (How would you describe your relationship with your child's school?), IQ4 (Do you think that you are a valued member of the school community?), and IQ5 (What can the school do to strengthen the relationship with parents?). Most participants believed that they had a good relationship with the school. Participants 1, 4, 5, 8, and 9 posited that their relationship with the school was positive.

Participant 8 spoke to the positive relationship between participants and the school:

I can honestly say my relationship with any of the schools that my children have been in, in the Boston Public School, have been great. They've been great, 100%. And I think because I was that parent that kicked doors in, like, I honestly, even to the special education department over there when it was on Dorchester Ave., which it still is, when I was walking in there, whether it was because of IEP, whether it was because [of] transportation, whether it was because I knew my options, and this is what I'm saying, you have to get learning, get educated, and what you feel that you don't know, you go and you sit and you let them tell you, you know, if you're not understanding that pamphlet. And I'm not one that reads and absorbs, so I may need to sit so you can speak to me so I can really get an understanding of what's my rights and how far can I go, where can I go, and how do I go. (Participant 8)

Participant 8 and others felt a sense of belonging because the school provided them with the necessary support. In the case of Participant 8, her daughter had an IEP in place enabled her to get specialized support due to her learning disability. Furthermore, Participants 3, 7, and 9 were uncertain about their relationship with the school. They perceived certain teachers, school counselors, and administrators to be helpful but had issues with other staff members during their time at the high school. The following excerpt from Participant 3 exemplified this:

That I don't know if I can answer that, honestly. But whenever we visit, whenever we're there, the principal is always in the hallway welcoming everybody. They have an overall, at least overall appreciation for parents. But I'm sure like, you know, they may have their own little parents with whom that they communicate more often. But even if you don't have that level of relationship with them, but as soon as you say you're so and so's parent, you get their attention. (Participant 3)

In the case of Participant 3, the good interactions outweighed the bad interactions during her children's time at the high school. She remarked that there were minimal negative interactions with teachers and that staff members were pleasant. She was uncertain about a sense of belonging because she perceived that there were parents who received more attention from the school than she did. Lastly, Participants 2 and 6 did not feel a sense of belonging at the high school and perceived their experiences to have been overly negative during the time there. As Participant 2 stated,

I don't know if they valued members in that community because I definitely didn't feel it. I don't think they invested in trying to make parents feel like part of the community. I feel like at the time that my son was there, they were going through so many shifts in their leadership that trying to build that sense of community wasn't at their forefront. It was more so, I think, and I think it still is, trying to create stabilization at that school. (Participant 2)

An important aspect of Participant 2's interview was her perception that the school was not concerned with creating a sense of belonging for the community. Data analysis of Interview Question 5 (What can the school do to strengthen the relationship with parents?) revealed that most participants wanted the school to foster more collaboration and community engagement. Several participants wanted parent-only events where parents could really get to know their child's teachers and where teachers could get to know parents.

Participant 3 accentuated this sentiment. With regards to fostering collaboration, she claimed, "I think building relationships with teachers and staff is another was to foster as sense of belonging." Like if we can come up with ways, like have parent events just for the parents, not including the kids" (Participant 3). Similarly, Participant 5's highlighted the need for events that were more social than academic. As she stated, "Just keep doing more social gatherings, which they do try to do. I think doing like potlucks, like getting to know you, meet and greets" (Participant 5). Lastly, several participants believed that the school should have done more to understand parents. Participant 8 claimed:

Invite the parents in and see what their struggles are and, you know, find out what resources there can help them. Because not every parent is a parent that like, I didn't successfully go from first grade to graduation. I had to go back to school and get my high school diploma and adult education here in Boston. (Participant 8)

Although Participant 8 felt a sense of belonging when her daughters attended the high school, she believed that other parents could have benefitted from the extra support that she received at the school.

Theme: Connecting through Inclusivity: Open, Consistent, Timely Communication

The second theme, "Connecting through Inclusivity: Open, Consistent, Timely Communication," emerged from data analysis of family and school partnerships IQ 3 (How does the school communicate with you?) and IQ 3A (How do you feel about the way the school communicates with you?). Participants perceived the lack of communication to be a major barrier at the secondary school level. Participants highlighted that teachers rarely responded to their emails, tended to use impersonal communication, such as emails and text messages to communicate important information, and that overall there was a lack in receiving pertinent information in a timely fashion. Many participants believed that the school was responsible for fostering open communication with parents to strengthen the relationship. Participant 2 posited that "Schools must seek parents out, not the other way around. It is the responsibility of the school staff to establish communication with parents" (Participant 2).

Many participants believed that an open dialogue would enable them to share important information about their child with their teachers. Participant 1 explained that "just kind of have an open dialogue about the parent-student-teacher relationship and what it is that we can do to kind of help them with our kids" (Participant 1). Most participants equated open communication to a dialogue. They perceived the communication patterns at the high school to be consistent but impersonal or not a dialogue. Participant 2 perceived that the school let "kids silently fail" due to the way they communicated (Participant 2). To counter this narrative, several participants believed that the school should communicate information in a timely fashion, such as when a child was failing a course, in order to strengthen the relationship. Many participants believed that a phone call would suffice but were cognizant of teacher responsibilities at the high school level. Participant 6 highlighted why participants wanted a phone call, saying, "Not everybody gets their email, so that's not, I don't know if that's good either. Some people be like, I didn't even look at my email. But that's something you would have to communicate with the parents" (Participant 6). Ultimately, participants wanted teachers to call them more.

Answer to Research Question 3

Based on analyzed data from interviews and focus groups, following are answers to RQ3: What are African American parents' perspectives of the family-school relationship at the secondary school level?

- Most participants believed that they had a positive relationship with the school during their tenure there.
- Participants who felt a strong sense of belonging perceived that the school met their child's needs.
- Participants who were uncertain about the family-school relationship believed that certain staff members were helpful and accommodating but others were not.
- Participants who did not feel a sense of belonging perceived their negative experiences outweighed their positive experiences.
- Several participants believed that events that only catered to parents' meeting with teachers would strengthen the relationship.
- Participants believed that the school was responsible for communicating with parents, not the other way around.
- Participants preferred open communication or a dialog to impersonal communication.

Summary

Based on the data analysis, most participants believed that they had a positive relationship with the school during their tenure there. Many participants felt the school was welcoming and that it provided the necessary support and services for their children. However, not all participants felt that way. Several participants were uncertain about their relationship with the school because they experienced conflict, while others did not have a good relationship with the school due to negative experiences. Participants believed that the school could improve its relationship with parents by focusing on events that were more social than academic, such as parent-teacher-only events, and by improving interpersonal communication.

Chapter 5: Discussion

Parental involvement is essential at all levels of education. It has been shown that a strong association exists between school-based parental involvement and student academic achievement, mental health, and college enrollment (Benner et al., 2021; Degol et al., 2017; Jeynes, 2020; Tatlah et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2019). However, as students matriculate through school, school-based parental involvement wanes (Constantino, 2021). This tendency has far-reaching consequences for many African American students. Firstly, African American students have lower achievement scores, graduation rates, and college enrollment rates than their peers (Henry et al., 2020; James et al., 2019). Secondly, African American students are disciplined and referred for special education services at twice the rate of their peers (Farkas et al., 2020; Morgan et al., 2020). Lastly, the overdiscipline of African American students leads to a more pronounced school-to-prison pipeline (Aronowitz et al., 2021; Brown et al., 2020).

This study sought to understand why African American parents at the target secondary school were not fully engaged in the policymaking and organizational activities as measured by participation in the Parent Council, SSC, and parent-teacher meetings. School-based committees give parents a vote in the decision-making process concerning curriculum, discipline, budgeting, personnel, policies, and procedures. In essence, such parental participation could change the trajectory of African American students, who are overly disciplined and referred for special education services at a high rate. Most importantly, it could disrupt the school-to-prison pipeline. Chapter 5 discusses the study's research findings in the context of the conceptual framework, and examines

123

the implications, relevance, limitations, and future recommendations for the study. Table

6 provides a breakdown of the research questions and themes.

Table 6

RQ	Theme	Theme	Theme	Theme	Theme
What are African American parents' perceptions of organizational activities and policymaking at the secondary level?	Parental Involvement in Secondary School: Shifting from Active Participation to Emotional Support	Emotional Nurturance (Sub-theme)	Providing a Safe Space (Sub- theme)	Nurturing Self- Reliance (Sub-theme)	Challenges of Parental Engagement in Commitment- Based Activities at the High School Level.
What barriers prevent African American parents from engaging in organizational activities and policymaking at the secondary level?	An Intergenerational Struggle	Exploring the Struggle to Communicate	Racism's Uneven Impact	Scheduling Constraints	
What are African American parents' perspectives of the family-school relationship at the secondary level?	Exploring a Sense of Belonging through Inclusive Practices	Connecting through Inclusivity: Open, Consistent, Timely Communication.			

Findings and the Conceptual Framework

The Hoover-Dempsey and Sandler Model

The Hoover-Dempsey and Sandler Model, Joyce Epstein's Spheres of

Overlapping Influence, and CRT were the conceptual frameworks used to support the

current study. The Hoover-Dempsey and Sandler Model investigates parents' reasons for

getting involved in their child's education. At the heart of the model are the parents'

belief systems, the child and school invitation, and the parent's skill, time, and energy (Hoover-Dempsey et al., 2007; Walker et al., 2005).

Parents' Belief System

The overarching theme for RQ1 was Parental Involvement in Secondary School: Shifting from Active Participation to Emotional Support. Results indicated that parents understood the importance of school-based activities such as the open house, SSC, and Parent Council. Every parent in the study asserted that parental involvement in education was essential. But as their children matriculated to high school, their belief systems shifted, and school-based activities came second in importance next to supporting their children holistically in high school.

Bhargava and Witherspoon (2015) indicated this trend in their study on parental involvement across middle and high school. Results from their study found that over time, both home-based and school-based parental involvement declined, but academic socialization increased. Similarly, Dotterer (2022) also found that parental involvement shifted over time. Results from her work on parental involvement during adolescence and emerging adulthood found that parental involvement shifted based on developmental periods in middle and high school. An important aspect of her study was parental role construction. This is when parents decide what level of involvement they will have in their child's education. At the crux of role construction are parents' agency and resources (Hill, 2022; Hoover-Dempsey et al., 2007).

The Child and School's Invitation

There is a strong association between child and school invitation and parental involvement (Abel, 2022; Reininger & Santa Lopez, 2017). Findings from this study

indicated that parents used more emotional support at the secondary school level because their children were cognizant of their involvement, or lack thereof. In essence, parents who participated in the study perceived that their children wanted them to be involved in their education. It is important to note that the Hoover-Dempsey model does not explicitly say that the child's invitation for involvement has to be verbal. The parents in this study understood their children enough to know when they needed help with something, even when they did not explicitly say it. Many of them used the ASPEN school information system to monitor grades and prided themselves on communicating with the teacher. According to the findings, invitations from the school were not easily accessible to parents. Parents who had the time to commit to activities such as the SSC felt like outsiders because they were not part of the group they perceived as being favored by the school. They expressed the feeling that communication by school authorities was purposefully complicated, difficult, and impenetrable, causing them to feel that their participation was actually discouraged. Most parents in this study could not commit to school-based activities because of external factors that affected their time and energy.

Parent's Skill, Time, and Energy

Findings from the study indicated parents perceived school-based activities such as Open Houses, volunteering, SSC, and Parent Council as important, but did not attend them consistently because they could not commit to attending on a regular, consistent, and ongoing basis. Factors such as work schedule, recurring illnesses, and mental health issues prevented parents from commitment-based activities. These are family-based barriers to involvement, which are beyond the family and school's control (Curtis et al., 2021; Lechuga-Peña & Brisson, 2018). In response to these barriers, many parents sought to nurture their children emotionally by exercising check-in. Checking-in involved conversing with their child about academics, peers, mental health, physical health, sex, and school. The findings also indicated that parents provided a safe space to do homework, provided necessary resources, and fostered independence in their children. These are all home-based parental involvement strategies. Research indicated that African American parents used more home-based parental involvement because of negative interactions with schools and feeling that their presence was unwelcome at the school (Goss, 2019; Leath et al., 2020; Lechuga-Peña, 2018; Parsons et al., 2018). Findings from the current study indicated, however, that most parents felt a sense of belonging but used home-based strategies because their belief system shifted and because of constraints on their time and energy. Most importantly, at the root of the check-in strategy that parents in this study resorted to was an interpersonal connection with their children. Participants prided themselves on being emotionally connected with their children at the high school level.

Critical Race Theory

Critical race theory is premised on five tenets: racism normalized as usual, not aberrational; interest convergence or material determinism; race as a social construction; intersectionality and anti-essentialism; and voice or counter-narrative (Bridges, 2019; Delgado & Stefancic, 2017). The findings from this study indicated that most participants did not experience any racism at the school, and those who experienced racism either ignored it or took it head-on. Thus, racism had an uneven impact on participants but did not deter any of them from school-based involvement activities. The parents who experienced racism believed that racism is an everyday experience for African Americans. They recounted their experiences with White staff, their experiences with systemic racism inside and outside the school, and their experiences with dealing with institutions that they perceive do not value the African American family. Lastly, there were parents who ignored racism because they perceived bringing attention to it would do more harm than good to their children. It is important to note that the parents who experienced racism in the school were also the parents who were involved in school-based activities such as the Parent Council and SSC during their time at the high school. This factor aligned with Brooks and Watson's (2018) study on school leadership and racism, who posited that school leadership was influenced by the racial dynamics within the school. In essence, leaders within schools that are plagued by racism are more likely to exacerbate White supremacy practices.

Most parents in this study would not have felt racism within the school because they could not commit to school-based activities. Their involvement was limited to noncommitment activities, such as the Open Houses and volunteering at a bake sale; thus, they did not experience the totality of the school's culture. The parents who experienced racism at the school were more inclined to experience its culture first-hand due to their participation in school-based activities, which were dominated by people who did not look like them. This pattern aligned with Alexander et al. (2017) and Lechuga-Peña and Brisson's (2018) studies, in that participants in those studies also experienced the racist culture of the schools first-hand. The mothers in Lechuga-Peña and Brisson (2018) did not feel a sense of belonging because the staff at the school treated them as less than others. The parents in the current study who experienced racism also felt like outsiders because they were not welcomed in the group they perceived to be supported by the school, and saw this group enjoying privileged relationships with administrators and teachers on the committees. Equally, participants who chose to ignore racism were similar to the mothers in the previous two studies, having experienced a sense of powerlessness. They perceived that they could not voice their experience of racism with the school for fear of retribution.

Overlapping Spheres of Influence

Learning occurs in three spheres in this model: the home, school, and community. Overlapping spheres are equated to a strong partnership among the family, school, and community. However, nonoverlapping spheres equal a relationship based on conflict and competition (Epstein, 2018). The themes that emerged from RQ3 were 'Exploring a Sense of Belonging Through Inclusive Practices' and 'Connecting Through Inclusivity: Open, Consistent, Timely Communication.'

The findings were mixed on how parents perceived their relationship with the school. Most participants felt the school was welcoming and provided support and the necessary resources for their children. However, some participants perceived that they did not have a good relationship with the school because of their negative experiences. The parents who felt that they had a good relationship with the school had a relationship based on shared responsibility. In contrast, the participating parents whose relationship with the school was not perceived as good, had a relationship based on separate responsibilities (Epstein, 2019).

At the crux of the shared responsibility perspective were families and schools that collaborated to support the student. Participant 8 was an example of this, when she and the school worked collaboratively to ensure that her daughters had the necessary services to succeed at the school; her experience was pleasant because she felt she was part of a team. However, Participant 2's negative interactions with the school aligned with the separate responsibility perspective, for being in conflict with the school, and believing that the school was not concerned with or invested in creating a sense of belonging in the community. Participant 2's major concern was the school's inability to communicate with parents.

To strengthen the family-school partnership, participants believed that the school should have intentionally created a sense of belonging through more inclusive practices, such as catering parent-teacher-only events that are more social than academic-oriented ones and improving interpersonal communication by calling parents on the phone rather than using online technology to connect with them.

Implication of the Study

This study was intended to provide insight into why African American parents were not fully involved in policymaking and organizational activities at the secondary school level. The findings from this study have implications for educators, administrators, district-level leaders, and researchers who work with African American parents. The findings that African American parents shift from active participation to emotional support at the secondary school level dispel the myth that African American parents are not involved in their child's education (Day & Dotterer, 2018; Huguley et al., 2020).

Parents used a strategy, which this research termed as 'checking-in,' to nurture their children emotionally. Checking-in involved conversing with the child about school, mental health, sex, and physical health. Parents asking the child about their school experience was an important aspect of checking-in. Phrases such as "How was school" or "How are you doing in school" helped parents cultivate the parent-child relationship and set expectations around school. This aligned with studies that indicated that parental educational expectation was associated with student outcomes (Benner et al., 2021; Lindberg & Guven, 2021).

Similarly, barriers to parental involvement for participants in this study, such as work schedule constraints and communication, were also aligned with previous research (Bordalba & Bochaca, 2019; Conus & Fahrni, 2019; Hornsby, 2018; Inoa, 2017). Work schedule constraints are a family-based barrier beyond the school's control. Communication barriers are school-based barriers and can be alleviated by the school. Epstein (2018) posited that effective communication in school occurred when teachers, administrators, and families established home-to-school and school-to-home communication practices. Findings from this study indicated that teachers' overreliance on technology to communicate important information was not an effective communication practice as parents preferred a simple phone call. Other barriers to parental involvement, such as mental health and recurring health issues, were not found in the research. This may be a cultural factor, because many African American families do not seek mental health counseling and do not like to disclose their private information due to the stigma surrounding it (Hendricks & Smith, 2024). Schools could help African American parents who suffer from mental health issues by hiring a wrap-around coordinator. Wrap-around coordinators connect students and their families with community services such as mental health providers, housing, and community healthcare centers. A plethora of research indicates that wrap-around service providers increased the school's efficacy in supporting students (Mills et al., 2021; Moeck & Branford, 2023; White et al., 2022).

Furthermore, this study's findings shed light on parents' uneven experiences of racism in schools, where some parents experienced racism, and some did not; some parents felt a sense of belonging, and some did not. This study's findings gave credibility to the importance of an inclusive culture in schools. At the center of a shared responsibilities perspective is the student. Pacino et al. (2023) posited the following tenets of a robust, culturally-responsive family, school, and community partnership: relationships must be built on trust, all stakeholders must have increased capacity, student success should be at the center of the partnership, and families and the community must be looked at as an asset in the partnership. Schools, educational leaders, district leaders, and researchers must consider every parent an asset regardless of ethnicity, educational background, socioeconomic status, or marital status. Schools must understand their parents' identities before creating a sense of belonging for all parents.

This study's findings indicated that parents recommended school events that catered to only parents and teachers, where parents and teachers could get to know each other. Furthermore, schools must schedule events with the working parent in mind, and activities such as Open Houses should occur at the parents' convenience, not the school. Lastly, school governance committees such as the SSC and Parent Council should meet on Saturdays to accommodate as many parents as possible. The school's website and other communication modalities should be clear and provide the times, directions, and expectations for participation.

Relevance of Study

The present study is relevant because the findings from the three research questions may be used to address African American parents' engagement or lack thereof in school-based activities. Findings may be used to help district and school leaders create inclusive school environments where all parents feel welcome. The findings can help teachers understand the benefits of open dialog rather than impersonal communication such as email or text messages. Finally, the findings can help researchers understand the importance of getting perspectives from African Americans, immigrants, and other marginalized groups (Moree, 2018).

This study is relevant because research on parental involvement at the secondary school level and African American parental involvement at all levels is sparse. Moreover, research on African American involvement in organizational and policymaking activities at the secondary school level is nonexistent. Thus, the current study addressed a void in the literature (Allen & White-Smith, 2018; Goss, 2019; Leath et al., 2020; Lechuga-Peña et al., 2019; Parsons et al., 2018). Lastly, the study is relevant because it is my plan to meet with district and school leaders about the findings and provide guidance and training on creating inclusive school environments where every parent feels welcome. **Limitations**

There were several limitations to this study. A major limitation occurred in the sample obtained for this study, where no fathers participated in the study. Two fathers were slated to participate but could partake in the interviews or focus groups. Having fathers in the sample would have made the findings much more extensive because their perspectives on parental involvement in education are different than those of mothers.

For example, Possey-Maddox's (2017) study on African American fathers and the intersection of race, class, gender, and engagement in school found that African American fathers used parental involvement strategies, such as goal setting and advice-giving, and prided themselves on making their presence known in the school.

A second limitation on this study was the inability to generalize the findings to a larger population of African American parents beyond the 10 parents in the current study. The purpose of qualitative descriptive design is to provide a straightforward description of the problem through the lens of those who have experienced it (Doyle et al., 2020; Kahlke, 2014; Kennedy, 2016; Sandelowski, 2000). Thus, the findings may differ for African American parents in suburban or private schools. Lastly, researcher bias may have been another limitation in this study. Yarborough (2021) posited that one cannot rid research of all bias, but nevertheless strive towards less bias. To counter researcher bias, I used member checks and a reflective journal. I also provided detailed descriptions of participants' responses in the data analysis section. However, the connection with participants was strong because I could empathize with them from the standpoint of an African American and an educator. Thus, it was a struggle to separate myself from the participants.

Recommendation for Future Research

The following study sought to understand why African American parents at the target secondary school were not fully engaged in the policymaking and organizational activities as measured by participation in the Parent Council, SSC, and parent-teacher meetings. Thus, the first recommendation for future research is to study the perspective of the African American father as it pertains to parental involvement at the secondary

school level. Too often, researchers use parent involvement and motherinterchangeability, whereas the father is also a parent with a role and a voice.

The second recommendation for future research is to study the rest of the educational ecosystem that consist of parent, child, teacher, and school (Epstein, 2018). Parental involvement encompasses all the above-mentioned stakeholders; thus, researchers should seek a fuller picture of the engagement problem through every lens.

Third, many parents in the study believed that school-based activities (Open House, Parent Council, and SSC) were important; however, very few participated in school-based activities during their time at the high school. Parents posited that external activities such as job schedules, recurring illnesses, and mental health issues significantly impacted their ability to participate in school-based activities. The third recommendation for future research is therefore to investigate this further using a mixed-methods design where one could use a survey to garner straightforward quantitative information on the subject. Lastly, researchers should explore parental involvement and other ethnicities to gauge whether they had shifted as well to more emotional support than active support at the high school level. This would provide schools with the knowledge to modify their current practices around school-based activities at the secondary school level, to the benefit of all stakeholders.

References

- Abel, Y. (2022). African American fathers' involvement in their children's school-based lives. *Journal of Negro Education*, 81(2), 162–172.
- Adler-Greene, L. (2019). Every student succeeds act: Are schools making sure every student succeeds. *Touro L. Rev.*, *35*, 11.
- Agee, J. (2009). Developing qualitative research questions: A Reflective
 Process. International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education (QSE), 22(4),
 431–447.
- Aldiabat, K. M, & Le Navenec, C-L. (2011). Philosophical roots of classical grounded theory: It's foundations in symbolic interactionism. *The Qualitative Report*, *16*(4), 1063-1080. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR16-4/aldiabat.pdf

Alexander, M. (2012). The New Jim Crow. New Press.

- Alexander, J. D., Cox, R. B., Behnke, A., & Larzelere, R. E. (2017). Is all parental "noninvolvement" equal? barriers to involvement and their relationship to Latino Academic Achievement. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, *39*(2), 169– 179. https://doi.org/10.1177/0739986317700837
- Al-Fadley, A., Al-Holy, A., & Al-Adwani, A. (2018). Teacher perception of parents' involvement in their children's literacy and their reading instructions in Kuwait EFL primary school classrooms. *International Journal of Education and Practice*, 6(3), 120–133.
- Allen, Q., & White-Smith, K. A. (2014). "Just as bad as prisons": The challenge of dismantling the school-to-prison pipeline through teacher and community

education. *Equity & Excellence in Education*, 47(4), 445–460. https://doi.org/10.1080/10665684.2014.958961

- Allen, Q., & White-Smith, K. (2018). "That's why I say stay in school": Black mothers' parental involvement, cultural wealth, and exclusion in their son's schooling. *Urban Education*, 53(3), 409-435. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085917714516
- Amankwaa, L. (2016). Creating protocols for trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Journal of Cultural Diversity*, *23*(3), 121–127.
- Anderson, M., Cox, R. B., Giano, Z., & Shreffler, K. M. (2020). Latino parent-child English language fluency: Implications for maternal school involvement. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 42(4), 547–562. https://doi.org/10.1177/0739986320956912
- Ansley, F. L. (1989). Stirring the ashes: Race, class and the future of civil rights scholarship. 1. Cornell Law Review, 74, 993.
- Antony-Newman, M. (2018). Parental involvement of immigrant parents: A metasynthesis. *Educational Review*, 71(3), 362–381. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2017.1423278
- Bæck, U., K. (2017). It is the air that we breathe. Academic socialization as a key component for understanding how parents influence children's schooling. *Nordic Journal of Studies in Educational Policy*, 3(2), 123–132. https://doi.org/10.1080/20020317.2017.1372008

- Baker, T. L., Wise, J., Kelley, G., & Skiba, R. J. (2016). Identifying barriers: Creating solutions to improve family engagement. *School Community Journal*, 26(2), 161-184.
- Baker, C. E., & Brooks-Gunn, J. (2019). Early parenting and the intergenerational transmission of self-regulation and behavior problems in African American head start families. *Child Psychiatry & amp; Human Development*, 51(2), 220–230. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-019-00921-5
- Bell, C. (2020). "Maybe if they let us tell the story I wouldn't have gotten suspended":
 Understanding Black students' and parents' perceptions of school discipline. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *110.* https://doi.org/10.1016
- Bell, D. (1976). Serving two masters: Integration ideals and client interests in school desegregation litigation. Yale Law Journal, 85, 2.
- Bell, D. (1980). Brown v. board of education and the interest-convergence dilemma. *Harvard Law Review*, 93.
- Bell, D. (1992). Faces at the bottom of the well. Basic Books.
- Bell, D. A. (1995). Who's afraid of critical race theory. University of Illinois Law Review, 1995(4), 893–910.
- Benner, A., Boyle, A., & Sadler, S. (2016). Parental involvement and adolescents' educational success: The roles of prior achievement and socioeconomic status. *Journal of Youth & Adolescence, 45*(6), 1053-1064. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-016-0431-4
- Benner, A. D., Fernandez, C. C., Hou, Y., & Gonzalez, C. S. (2021). Parent and teacher educational expectations and adolescents' academic performance: Mechanisms of

influence. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 49(7), 2679–2703. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.22644

- Benns, M., Ruther, M., Nash, N., Bozeman, M., Harbrecht, B., & Miller, K. (2020). The impact of historical racism on modern gun violence: Redlining in the city of Louisville, KY. *Injury*, 51(10), 2192–2198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.injury.2020.06.042
- Better, S. J. (2008). *Institutional racism: A primer on theory and strategies for social change*. Rowman & Littlefield.
- Bhargava, S., & Witherspoon, D. P. (2015). Parental involvement across middle and high school: Exploring contributions of individual and neighborhood characteristics. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 44(9), 1702-1719. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-015-0334-9
- Birks, M., Chapman, Y., & Francis, K. (2008). Memoing in qualitative research. *Journal* of Research in Nursing, 13(1), 68–75. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987107081254
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802–1811.
- Bleich, S. N., Findling, M. G., Casey, L. S., Blendon, R. J., Benson, J. M., Steel Fisher,
 G. K., Sayed, J. M., & Miller, C. (2019). Discrimination in the United States:
 Experiences of black Americans. *Health Services Research*, 54, 1399–1408.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.13220
- Bloomberg, L., Volpe, M. (2019). *Completing Your Qualitative Dissertation* (4th ed). Sage Publishing.

- Bloomfield, J., & Fisher, M. J. (2019). Quantitative research design. *Journal of the Australasian Rehabilitation Nurses Association*, 22(2), 27–30.
- Bodovski, K., Munoz, I. G., & Apostolescu, R. (2022). Parental help with homework in elementary school: Much ado about nothing? *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, 36(4), 631–647. https://doi.org/10.1080/02568543.2022.2027830
- Bohrnstedt, G., Kitmitto, S., Ogut, B., Sherman, D., and Chan, D. (2015). School composition and the Black–White achievement gap (NCES 2015-018). U.S.
 Department of Education, Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics.
- Bolgatz, J., Crowley, R., & Figueroa, E. (2020). Countering White dominance in an independent elementary school: Black parents use community cultural wealth to navigate "private school speak." *Journal of Negro Education*, 89(3), 312–327.
- Boonk, L., Gijselaers, H. J. M., Ritzen, H., & Brand-Gruwel, S. (2018). A review of the relationship between parental involvement indicators and academic achievement. *Educational Research Review*, 24, 10–30. https://doi-org /10.1016/j.edurev.2018.02.001
- Bordalba, M. M., & Bochaca, J. G. (2019). Digital media for family-school communication? Parents' and teachers' beliefs. *Computers & Education*, *132*, 44-62.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77–101.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2013). Successful qualitative research. Sage Publications Ltd.

Breyer, S. G. (2010). A Look Back at the Dred Scott Decision. *Journal of Supreme Court History*, 35(2), 110–121.

Bridges, K. M. (2019). Critical race theory: A primer. Foundation Press.

Brinkmann, S., & Kvale, S. (2018). *Doing interviews*. SAGE Publications Ltd, https://doi.org/10.4135/9781529716665

Brown, E. L. (2017). Intersectional lives, intersectional experiences: Exploring the impact of stigma in the lives of African American women. University of California, Santa Cruz.

- Bryant, B. E., Jordan, A., & Clark, U. S. (2022). Race as a Social Construct in Psychiatry Research and Practice. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 79(2), 93–94. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2021.2877
- Burch, P. (2022). System failure: Policy and practice in the school-to-prison pipeline.Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group.
- Butler, A. (2021). Low-income black parents supporting their children's success through mentoring circles. *Canadian Journal of Education*, 44(1), 93–117. https://doi.org/10.53967/cje-rce.v44i1.4979
- Byrne, D. (2022). A worked example of Braun and Clarke's approach to reflexive thematic analysis. *Qual Quant 56*, 1391–1412. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-021-01182-y
- Campbell, K. A., Orr, E., Durepos, P., Nguyen, L., Li, L., Whitmore, C., Gehrke, P., Graham, L., & Jack, S. M. (2021). Reflexive thematic analysis for applied qualitative health research. *The Qualitative Report*, *26*(6), 2011-2028. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2021.5010

- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: the interview protocol refinement framework. *The Qualitative Report*, *21*(5), 811+.
- Ceballo, R., Jocson, R. M., & Alers-Rojas, F. (2017). Parental educational involvement and Latino children's academic attainment. *Handbook on positive development of minority children and youth*, 343-359.
- Chang, B. (2013). Voice of the voiceless? Multiethnic student voices in critical approaches to race, pedagogy, literacy and agency. *Linguistics and Education*, 24(3), 348–360. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.linged.2013.03.005
- Charmaz, K. (2014). Constructing Grounded Theory. United Kingdom: SAGE Publications.
- Chen, Y., Chiu, S. W. K., Zhu, J., & So, W. W. M. (2022). Maintaining secondary school students' STEM career aspirations: the role of perceived parental expectations, self-efficacy, and cultural capital. *International Journal of Science Education*, 44(3), 434–462. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2022.2032463
- Christian, M., Seamster, L., & Ray, V. (2019). New directions in critical race theory and sociology: Racism, White supremacy, and resistance. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 63(13), 1731–1740. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764219842623
- Chun, H., & Devall, E. (2019). A parental involvement and academic socialization model: A cultural approach. *School Psychology*, *34*(5), 555–565. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000330
- Chun Tie, Y., Birks, M., & Francis, K. (2019). Grounded theory research: A design framework for novice researchers. SAGE open medicine, 7, 2050312118822927. https://doi.org/10.1177/2050312118822927

- Clandinin, D.J. & Connelly F.M. (1990). Stories of Experience and Narrative Inquiry. *Educational Researcher*, *19*(5), 2–14. https://doi.org/10.2307/1176100
- Clandinin, D.J. & Connelly F.M. (2004). Narrative inquiry: Experience and story on qualitative research. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass publishers.
- Clarke, V. (2017). Thematic analysis. The Journal of Positive Psychology. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2016.1262613
- Clifford, A.P. & Göncü, A. (2019) Portrayals of parental involvement: descriptions of family and school relationships in a low-income African American community, Mind, Culture, and Activity, 26(1), 75-92, https://doi.org/10.1080/10749039.2019.1587635
- Conrad, D. A., & Blackman, S. (2018). *Responding to learner diversity and learning difficulties*. Information Age Publishing, Inc.
- Constantino, S. M. (2021). Engage every family: Five simple principles. Corwin.
- Crenshaw, K. (1995). *Critical race theory: The key writings that formed the movement.* The New press.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). *Research design qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches.* SAGE.
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches*. Sage.
- Cross, F. L., Marchand, A. D., Medina, M., Villafuerte, A., & Rivas-Drake, D. (2019). Academic socialization, parental educational expectations, and academic selfefficacy among Latino adolescents. *Psychology in the Schools*, 56(4), 483-496.

- Conus, X., & Fahrni, L. (2019). Routine communication between teachers and parents from minority groups: an endless misunderstanding?. *Educational Review*, 71(2), 234-256.
- Cureton, A. E. (2020). Strangers in the school: Facilitators and barriers regarding refugee parental involvement. *The Urban Review*, 52(5), 924–949. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11256-020-00580-0
- Curtis, K., Anicama, C., & Zhou, Q. (2021). Longitudinal relations among school context, school-based parent involvement, and academic achievement of Chinese American children in immigrant families. *Journal of School Psychology*, 88, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2021.07.002
- Dancy II, T. E. (2014). (Un)doing hegemony in education: Disrupting school-to-prison pipelines for black males. *Equity & Excellence in Education*, 47(4), 476–493. https://doi.org/10.1080/10665684.2014.959271
- Darling-Hammond, L. (2018). From "separate but equal" to "No Child Left Behind": The collision of new standards and old inequalities. In *Thinking about schools* (pp. 419-437). Routledge.
- Davis, L. L. (1992). Instrument review: Getting the most from a panel of experts. *Applied Nursing Research*, 5(4), 194–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0897-1897(05)80008-4
- Day, E., & Dotterer, A. M. (2018). Parental involvement and adolescent academic outcomes: Exploring differences in beneficial strategies across racial/ethnic groups. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 47(6), 1332-1349. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-018-0853-2

Degol, J. L., Wang, M.-T., Ye, F., & Zhang, C. (2017). Who makes the cut? Parental involvement and math trajectories predicting college enrollment. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 50, 60–70.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2017.03.007

Delgado, R. (1984). The imperial scholar: Reflections on a review of civil rights literature. *University of Pennsylvania Law Review*, *132*, 561.

Delgado, R., & Stefancic, J. (1993). Critical race theory: An annotated bibliography. Virginia Law Review, 79(2), 461-516. https://doi.org/10.2307/1073418

- Delgado, R., Stefancic, J., & Harris, A. P. (2017). *Critical race theory: An introduction*. New York University Press.
- Del Toro, J., & Wang, M. (2021). School cultural socialization and academic performance: Examining ethnic-racial identity development as a mediator among African American adolescents. *Child Development*, 92(4), 1458–1475. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13467
- Dixson, A.D. & Anderson, C. A. (2018). Where are we? critical race theory in education
 20 years later. *Peabody Journal of Education*, 93(1), 121131, https://doi.org/10.1080/0161956X.2017.1403194

Dong, Y., Wu, S. X.-Y., Dong, W.-Y., & Tang, Y. (2020). The effects of home literacy environment on children's reading comprehension development: A meta-analysis. *Educational Sciences: Theory & amp; Practice*, 20(2), 63–82. https://doi.org/10.12738/jestp.2020.2.005

- Doyle, L., McCabe, C., Keogh, B., Brady, A., & McCann, M. (2020). An overview of the qualitative descriptive design within nursing research. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 25(5), 443.
- Duppong Hurley, K., Lambert, M. C., January, S.-A. A., & Huscroft D'Angelo, J. (2017). Confirmatory factor analyses comparing parental involvement frameworks with secondary students. *Psychology in the Schools*, (9), 947. https://doi.org//10.1002/pits.22039
- Đurišić, M. & Bunijevac, M. (2017). Parental involvement as an important factor for successful education. *Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal*, 7(3), 137– 153.
- Dworkin, S. L. (2012). Sample size policy for qualitative studies using in-depth interviews. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 41(6), 1319–1320. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-012-0016-6
- El Nokali, N. E., Bachman, H. J., & Votruba-Drzal, E. (2010). Parent involvement and children's academic and social development in elementary school. *Child Development*, 81(3), 988–1005.
- Epstein, J. L. (2011). School, family, and community partnerships: Preparing educators and improving schools. Westview Press.
- Epstein, J. (2018). School, family, and community partnerships, student economy Edition: Preparing educators and improving schools. United Kingdom: Taylor & Francis.
- Epstein, J. L., Sanders, M. G., Sheldon, S. B., & Simon, B. S. (2019). School, family, and community partnerships your handbook for action. Corwin.

- Erdem, C., & Kaya, M. (2020). A meta-Analysis of the effect of parental involvement on students' academic achievement. *Journal of Learning for Development*, 7(3), 367–383.
- Erikson, E. H. (1968). Identity youth and crisis. United Kingdom: W. W. Norton.
- Farkas, G., Morgan, P. L., Hillemeier, M. M., Mitchell, C., & Woods, A. D. (2020).
 District-level achievement gaps explain Black and Hispanic overrepresentation in special education. *Exceptional Children*, 86(4), 374-392.
- Feagin, J. R. (2006). Systemic racism: A theory of oppression. Routledge.
- Felix, E. R., & Trinidad, A. (2020). The decentralization of race: Tracing the dilution of racial equity in educational policy. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 33(4), 465–490. https://doi.org/10.1080/09518398.2019.1681538
- Francis, T. E., Hughes, D. L., Watford, J. A., & Way, N. (2020). Consistency is key: Understanding academic socialization among high-achieving Black boys. *Journal* of Applied Developmental Psychology, 72.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2020.101181

- Freeman, A. D. (1977). Legitimizing racial discrimination through antidiscrimination law: A critical review of Supreme Court doctrine. *Minnesota Law Review*, 62(6), 1049–1120.
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408-1416.
- Garcia, V. T., Garcia Fernandez, B., & Reyes Ruiz-Gallardo, J. (2018). Home-based family involvement and academic achievement: a case study in primary

education. *EDUCATIONAL STUDIES*, 44(3), 361–375. https://doi.org/10.1080/03055698.2017.1373636

- Gibbs, B. G., Marsala, M., Gibby, A., Clark, M., Alder, C., Hurst, B., Steinacker, D., Hutchison, B., & Parton, N. (2021). "Involved is an interesting word": An empirical case for redefining school-based parental involvement as parental efficacy. *Social Sciences (2076-0760)*, *10*(5), 156. https://doi/10.3390/socsci10050156
- Gillborn, D. (2015). Intersectionality, critical race theory, and the primacy of racism: race, class, gender, and disability in education. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 21(3), 277–287. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800414557827
- Gonzales, S. M. (2019). Cultivating *familismo*: belonging and inclusion in one Latina/o learning community. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 23(9), 937–949.
- Goodman, K., & Hooks, L. (2016). Encouraging family involvement through culturally relevant pedagogy. *SRATE Journal*, *25*(2), 33–41.
- Goss, A. C. (2019). Power to engage, power to resist: A structuration analysis of barriers to parental involvement. *Education and Urban Society*, *51*(5), 595-612. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124517747363
- Grace, M., & Gerdes, A. C. (2018). Parent-teacher relationships and parental involvement in education in Latino families. *Contemporary School Psychology*, 23(4), 444– 454. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40688-018-00218-9
- Grace, J. E., & Nelson, S. L. (2019). "Tryin" to survive": black male students' understandings of the role of race and racism in the school-to-prison

pipeline." *Leadership & Policy in Schools*, *18*(4), 664–680. https://doi.org/10.1080/15700763.2018.1513154

- Grice, S. (2022). Perceptions of family engagement between African American families and schools: A Review of Literature. *Journal of Multicultural Affairs*, 5(2).
- Grier, S. A., & Poole, S. M. (2020). Reproducing inequity: the role of race in the business school faculty search. *Journal of Marketing Management*, 36(13/14), 1190–1222. https://doi.org/10.1080/0267257X.2020.1800796
- Gubbins, V., & Otero, G. (2019). Parental involvement and low-SES children's academic achievement in early elementary school: new evidence from Chile. *EDUCATIONAL STUDIES*.

https://doi.org/10.1080/03055698.2019.1620691

- Hamlin, D., & Li, A. (2019). Is daily parental help with homework helpful? Reanalyzing national data using a propensity score–based approach. *Sociology of Education*, 92, 367–385.
- Harry, B., & Anderson, M. (1994). The disproportionate placement of African American males in special education programs: A Critique of the Process. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 63(4), 602-619. doi:10.2307/2967298
- Hascoët, M., Giaconi, V., & Jamain, L. (2021). Family socioeconomic status and parental expectations affect mathematics achievement in a national sample of Chilean students. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 45(2), 122–132. https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025420965731

- Hemmerechts, K., Agirdag, O., & Kavadias, D. (2016). The relationship between parental literacy involvement, socio-economic status and reading literacy. *Educational Review*, 69(1), 85–101. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2016.1164667
- Henderson, L. J., Williams, J. L., & Bradshaw, C. P. (2020). Examining home-school dissonance as a barrier to parental involvement in Middle School. *Preventing School Failure: Alternative Education for Children and Youth*, 64(3), 201–211. https://doi.org/10.1080/1045988x.2020.1719964
- Hendricks, L., & Smith, D. J. (2024). Changing the stigma of mental health among African Americans moving from denial to acceptance. Information Science Reference.
- Hill, N. E. (2022). Parental involvement in education: Toward a more inclusive understanding of parents' role construction. *Educational Psychologist*, 57(4), 309–314. https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2022.2129652
- Hirano, K., Garbacz, S., Shanley, L., & Rowe, D. (2016). Parent Involvement in secondary special education and transition: An exploratory psychometric study. *Journal of Child & Family Studies*, 25(12), 3537–3553. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-016-0516-4
- Hornby, G., & Blackwell, I. (2018). Barriers to parental involvement in education: an update. *Educational Review*, 70(1), 109–119.
- Huguley, J. P., Delale-O'Connor, L., Wang, M.-T., & Parr, A. K. (2021). African American Parents' educational involvement in urban schools: contextualized strategies for student success in adolescence. *Educational Researcher*, 50(1), 616. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X20943199

- Hung, M., Smith, W. A., Voss, M. W., Franklin, J. D., Gu, Y., & Bounsanga, J. (2020).
 Exploring student achievement gaps in school districts across the United
 States. *Education and Urban Society*, 52(2), 175–193.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124519833442
- Hurtado, A. (2019). Critical race theory and questioning whiteness: young feminists speak out against race and class privilege. *Frontiers: A Journal of Women Studies*, 40(3), 90–116. doi.org/10.5250/fronjwomestud.40.3.0090
- Inoa, R. (2017). Parental involvement among middle-income Latino parents living in a middle-class community. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 39(3), 316–335. https://doi.org/10.1177/0739986317714200
- Jacob, S. A., & Furgerson, S. P. (2012). Writing interview protocols and conducting interviews: tips for students new to the field of qualitative research. *Qualitative Report*, 17.
- James, A. G., Rudy, D., & Dotterer, A. (2019). Longitudinal examination of relations between school- and home-based parent involvement and GPA across ethnic groups. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 28(11), 3000-3010. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-019-01475-9
- James, D. (2017). Internalized racism and past-year major depressive disorder among African Americans: the role of ethnic Identity and self-esteem. *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*, *4*(4), 659. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-016-0269-1
- Jansorn, N. R., Williams, K. J., Martin, C. S., Hutchins, D. J., Sanders, M. G., Simon, B. S., VanVoorhis, F. L., Sheldon, S., Salinas, K. C., Thomas, B. G., Greenfield, M.

D., & Epstein, J. L. (2018). *School, family, and community partnerships: Your handbook for action.* United States: SAGE Publications.

- Jarrett, R. L., & Coba-Rodriguez, S. (2019). "Whatever I can imagine, we did it": Homebased parental involvement among low-income African American mothers with preschoolers enrolled in head start. *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, 33(4), 538–557. https://doi-/10.1080/02568543.2019.1642970
- Jensen, K. L., & Minke, K. M. (2017). Engaging Families at the Secondary Level: An Underused Resource for Student Success. *School Community Journal*, 27(2), 167–191.
- Jeynes, W. H. (2016). A meta-analysis: The relationship between parental involvement and African American School outcomes. *Journal of Black Studies*, 47(3), 195– 216.
- Jeynes, W. H. (2017). A meta-analysis: The relationship between parental involvement and Latino student outcomes. *Education and Urban Society*, *49*(1), 4–28. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124516630596
- Johnson, A. J., & Wakefield, J. (2020). Examining associations between racism, internalized shame, and self-esteem among African Americans. *Cogent Psychology*, 7(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311908.2020.1757857

Justice, L. M., Jiang, H., Purtell, K. M., Schmeer, K., Boone, K., Bates, R., & Salsberry,
P. J. (2019). Conditions of poverty, parent–child interactions, and toddlers' early
language skills in low-income families. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*,
23(7), 971–978 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-018-02726-9

- Kahlke, R. M. (2014). Generic qualitative approaches: Pitfalls and benefits of methodological mixology. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *13*(1), 37–52. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940691401300119
- Kennedy, D. M. (2016). Is it any clearer? Generic qualitative inquiry and the VSAIEEDC model of data analysis. *The Qualitative Report*, 21(8), 1369-1379.
- Khanh, B., & Rush, R. A. (2016). Parental involvement in middle school predicting college attendance for first-generation students. *Education*, 136(4), 473–489.
- Kim, H., Sefcik, J. S., & Bradway, C. (2017). Characteristics of qualitative descriptive studies: a systematic review. *Research in nursing & health*, 40(1), 23–42. https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.21768
- Kogan, S. M., Yu, T., Allen, K. A., & Brody, G. H. (2015). Racial microstressors, racial self-concept, and depressive symptoms among male African Americans during the transition to adulthood. *Journal of youth and adolescence*, 44(4), 898–909. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-014-0199-3
- Kolivoski, K. M. (2020). Applying critical race theory (CRT) and intersectionality to address the needs of African American crossover girls. *Child and Adolescent Social Work Journal*, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10560-020-00726-9
- Koshy, P., Dockery, A. M., & Seymour, R. (2019). Parental expectations for young people's participation in higher education in Australia. *Studies in Higher Education*, 44(2), 302–317. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2017.1363730
- Ladson-Billings, G. (1998). Just what is critical race theory and what's it doing in a nice field like education? *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 11(1), 7-24, https://doi.org/10.1080/095183998236863

- Ladson-Billings, G. (2013). Critical race theory—what it is not! In M. Lynn & A. D. Dixson (Eds.), Handbook of critical race theory in education (pp. 34–47). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Ladson-Billings, G., & Tate, W. (1995). Toward a critical race theory of education. *Teachers College Record.* 97. 47-68.
- Lambert, V. A., & Lambert, C. E. (2012). Qualitative descriptive research: An acceptable design. *Pacific Rim International Journal of Nursing Research* 16: 255–256
- Leath, S., Marchand, A. D., Harrison, A., Halawah, A., Davis, C., & Rowley, S. (2020).
 A qualitative exploration of Black mothers' gendered constructions of their children and their parental school involvement. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, *53*, 124–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2020.03.007
- Lechuga-Peña, S., & Brisson, D. (2018). Barriers to school-based parent involvement while living in public housing: A mother's perspective. *Qualitative Report*, 23(5), 1176.
- Lechuga-Peña, S., Becerra, D., Mitchell, F. M., Lopez, K., & Sangalang, C. C. (2019).
 Subsidized housing and low-income mother's school-based parent involvement:
 Findings from the fragile families and child wellbeing study wave five. *Child & Youth Care Forum*, 48(3), 323–338. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-018-9481-y
- Ledesma, M. C., & Calderón, D. (2015). Critical race theory in education: A review of past literature and a look to the future. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 21(3), 206–222. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800414557825
- Lee, H. J., Lee, J., Song, J., Kim, S., & Bong, M. (2022). Promoting children's math motivation by changing parents' gender stereotypes and expectations for

math. Journal of Educational Psychology, 114(7), 1567–1588. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000743

- Leo, A., Wilcox, K. C., & Lawson, H. A. (2019). Culturally responsive and asset-based strategies for family engagement in odds-beating secondary schools. *School Community Journal*, 29(2), 255–280.
- Lewis, K. R., & Shah, P. P. (2021). Black students' narratives of diversity and inclusion initiatives and the campus racial climate: An interest-convergence analysis. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 14(2), 189–202. https://doi.org/10.1037/dhe0000147
- Li, L.-W., Ochoa, W., McWayne, C. M., Priebe Rocha, L., & Hyun, S. (2023). "Talk to Me": Parent–teacher background similarity, communication quality, and barriers to school-based engagement among ethnoculturally diverse head start families. *Cultural Diversity & Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 29(2), 267–278. https://doi.org/10.1037/cdp0000497
- Lindberg, E. N., & Güven, P. (2021). The impact of parental involvement and expectations on elementary school students' academic achievement. *Inonu University Journal of the Faculty of Education (INUJFE)*, 22(1), 809–840. https://doi.org/10.17679/inuefd.888292
- Little, M., & Gragson, A. (2023). Nationally representative evidence on the association between preschool and school-based parental involvement in elementary school. *Educational Policy*, 0(0). https://doi.org/10.1177/08959048231167169

- Liu, Y., & Leighton, J. (2021). Parental self-efficacy in helping children succeed in school favors math achievement. *Frontiers in Education*, 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2021.657722
- Liu, C.-W. (2022). What does critical race theory have to do with music education? *Journal of General Music Education*, 35(3), 25–27. https://doi.org/10.1177/27527646211061500
- Long, H., & Pang, W. (2016). Family socioeconomic status, parental expectations, and adolescents' academic achievements: a case of China. *Educational Research and Evaluation*, 22(5–6), 283–304.
- Macias, D., Shramko, M., Pech, A., Romero, A., & Encinias, V. (2021). Counterstory methodology in a university-high school collaboration to center and humanize Latina/o voices. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 49(5), 1436–1456. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.22496
- Maguire, M., & Delahunt, B. (2017). Doing a thematic analysis: A practical, step-by-step guide for learning and teaching scholars. *AISHE-J: The All-Ireland Journal of Teaching & Learning in Higher Education*, *9*(3), 3351–33514.
- Malone, D. (2017). Socioeconomic status: A potential challenge for parental involvement in schools. *Delta Kappa Gamma Bulletin*, *83*(3), 58-62.
- Mapp, K. L., Carver, I., & Lander, J. (2017). *Powerful partnerships: A teacher's guide to engaging families for student success*. Scholastic.
- Marchand, A. D., Vassar, R. R., Diemer, M. A., & Rowley, S. J. (2019). Integrating race, racism, and critical consciousness in black parents' engagement with

schools. *Journal of Family Theory & Review*, *11*(3), 367–384. https://doi.org/10.1111/jftr.12344

- Marcucci, O. (2020). Parental involvement and the Black–White discipline gap: The role of parental social and cultural capital in American schools. *Education & Urban Society*, 52(1), 143–168. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124519846283
- Marrun, N. A., Rodriguez-Campo, M., Plachowski, T. J., & Clark, C. (2021). Divergent values: a family critical race theory analysis of families of color and their perceptions of teachers and teaching as a profession. *Taboo: The Journal of Culture & Education*, 20(3), 11–36.
- Marshall, C., Rossman, G. B., & Blanco, G. L. (2022a). *Designing qualitative research*. SAGE Publishing, Inc.
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). *Designing qualitative research*. SAGE.
- Masarik, A. S., & Conger, R. D. (2017). Stress and child development: A review of the Family Stress Model. *Current opinion in psychology*, *13*, 85-90.
- McCoy, D. L., & Rodricks, D. J. (2015). Critical race theory. *ASHE Higher Education Report*, 41(3), 1–117. https://doi.org/10.1002/aehe.20021
- McMullen, C., & Braithwaite, I. (2013). Narrative inquiry and the study of collaborative branding activity. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 11(2), 92-104.
- Medina, M. A., Grim, J., Cosby, G., & Brodnax, R. (2020). The power of community school councils in urban schools. *Peabody Journal of Education*, *95*(1), 73–89.
- Merriam, S. B. (1998). Qualitative research and case study applications in education. Jossey-Bass.

- Merriam, S. B. (2009). Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation. Jossey-Bass.
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). *Qualitative research: a guide to design and implementation* (Fourth edition.). Jossey-Bass, a Wiley Brand.

Metzger, I. W., Cooper, S. M., Griffin, C. B., Golden, A. R., Opara, I., & Ritchwood, T. D. (2020). Parenting profiles of academic and racial socialization: Associations with academic engagement and academic self-beliefs of African American adolescents. *Journal of School Psychology*, 82, 36–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2020.07.001

- Miles, M. B., Huberman, A. M., & Saldaña, J. (2020). *Qualitative Data Analysis: a methods sourcebook*. SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Millett, G. A. (2020). New pathogen, same disparities: why COVID-19 and HIV remain prevalent in U.S. communities of colour and implications for ending the HIV epidemic. *Journal of the International AIDS Society*, 23(11), e25639. doihttps://doi.org/10.1002/jia2.25639
- Mills, C. (2003). Reducing overrepresentation of African American males in special education: The role of school social workers. *Race, Gender & Class, 10*(2), 71-83.
 Retrieved January 24, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/41675074
- Mills, M., McGregor, G., Riddle, S., & Howell, A. (2021). Educational leadership and the challenge of engaging young people in meaningful learning. *The school leadership survival guide: What to do when things go wrong, how to learn from mistakes, and why you should prepare for the worst*, 187-199.

- Moeck, P. E., & Branford, A. K. (2023). Designing for the Needs of a Thriving School
 Community Hub. In Schools as Community Hubs: Building 'More than a School'
 for Community Benefit (pp. 191-202). Singapore: Springer Nature Singapore.
- Moen, T. (2006). Reflections on the Narrative Research Approach. International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 56–69. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690600500405
- Moree, D. (2018). Qualitative approaches to studying marginalized communities. In Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Education.
- Morgan, E. H. (2019). " Alls My Life I Has to Fight": Single Black Mothers Using Cultural Capital in Schools. *AERA Online Paper Repository*.
- Morgan, P. L., Farkas, G., Cook, M., Strassfeld, N. M., Hillemeier, M. M., Pun, W. H., & Schussler, D. L. (2017). Are Black children disproportionately overrepresented in special education? A best-evidence synthesis. *Exceptional Children*, 83(2), 181-198.
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part
 3: sampling, data collection and analysis. *The European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1), 9–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091

Moustakas, C. E. (1994). Phenomenological research methods.

Myende, P. E. (2019). Creating functional and sustainable school–community partnerships: Lessons from three South African cases. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 47(6), 1001–1019. https://doi.org/10.1177/1741143218781070

- National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) Home Page, part of the U.S. Department of Education. The Condition of Public Education. (2020, May). http://nces.ed.gov/.
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research*. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-andpolicy/belmont-report/read-the-belmont-report/index.html
- Neergaard, M. A., Olesen, F., Andersen, R. S., & Sondergaard, J. (2009). Qualitative description - the poor cousin of health research?. *BMC medical research methodology*, 9, 52. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-9-52
- Nelson, S. L., & Grace, J. E. (2015). The right to remain silent in New Orleans; The role of non-politically accountable charter school boards in the school-to-prison pipeline. *Nova Law Review*, 40(3), 447–492.
- Noguera, P. (2008). The trouble with Black boys: And other reflections on race, equity, and the future of public education. Jossey-Bass.
- Ogg, J., & Anthony, C. J. (2020). Process and context: Longitudinal effects of the interactions between parental involvement, parental warmth, and SES on academic achievement. *Journal of School Psychology*, 78, 96–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2019.11.004
- Otani, M. (2020). Parental involvement and academic achievement among elementary and middle school students. *Asia Pacific Education Review*, 21(1), 1-25.

- Pacino, M. A., Warren, S. R., & Epstein, J. L. (2023). *Building culturally responsive* partnerships among schools, families, and Communities. Teachers College Press.
- Park, S., & Holloway, S. (2018). Parental involvement in adolescents' education: An examination of the interplay among school factors, parental role construction, and family income. *School Community Journal*, 28(1), 9–36.
- Park, S., Stone, S. I., & Holloway, S. D. (2017). School-based parental involvement as a predictor of achievement and school learning environment: An elementary school-level analysis. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 82, 195-206.
- Parsons, A. A., Walsemann, K. M., Jones, S. J., Knopf, H., & Blake, C. E. (2018). Parental involvement: Rhetoric of inclusion in an environment of exclusion. *Journal of Contemporary Ethnography*, (1), 113.

Patton, M. (1990). Qualitative evaluation and research methods. Sage.

- Peek, M. E., Simons, R. A., Parker, W. F., Ansell, D. A., Rogers, S. O., & Edmonds, B. T. (2021). COVID-19 among African Americans: An action plan for mitigating disparities. *American Journal of Public Health*, 111(2), 286–292. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2020.305990
- Percy, W. H., Kostere, K., & Kostere, S. (2015). Generic qualitative research in psychology. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(2), 76-85.

Peterson, J., Bruce, J., Patel, N., & Chamberlain, L. (2018). Parental attitudes, behaviors, and barriers to school readiness among parents of low-income Latino children. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(2), 188. MDPI AG. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15020188

- Pinquart, M., & Ebeling, M. (2020). Parental educational expectations and academic achievement in children and adolescents—a meta-analysis. *Educational Psychology Review*, 32(2), 463–480.
- Powell, R. A., & Single, H. M. (1996). Focus groups. International Journal for Quality in Health Care: Journal of the International Society for Quality in Health Care, 8(5), 499–504. https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/8.5.499
- Punter, R. A., Glas, C. A.W., & Meelissen, M. R. M. (2016). Psychometric Framework for modeling parental involvement and reading literacy. Springer International Publishing.
- Rabionet, S. E. (2011). How I Learned to Design and Conduct Semi-Structured
 Interviews: An ongoing and continuous journey. *Qualitative Report*, 16(2), 563–566.
- Rankin-Wright, A. J., Hylton, K., & Norman, L. (2020). Critical race theory and black feminist insights into "race" and gender equality. *Ethnic & Racial Studies*, 43(7), 1111–1129. https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870.2019.1640374
- Reardon, R. M., & Leonard, J. (2018). Innovation and implementation in rural places: School-university-community collaboration in education. Information Age Publishing, Inc.

Reininger, T., & Santana López, A. (2017). Parental involvement in municipal schools in Chile: Why do parents choose to get involved? *School Psychology International*, *38*(4), 363–379. https://doi-/10.1177/0143034317695378

Reynolds, A. D., Crea, T. M., Medina, J., Degnan, E., & McRoy, R. (2014). A mixedmethods case study of parent involvement in an urban high school serving minority students. *Urban Education*, *50*(6), 750–775. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085914534272

Reynolds-Vassar, R. E., Barnett III, C., & Johnson, S. L. (2021). Qualitative exploration of black middle-class males' experiences in suburban schools. *Negro Educational Review*, 72(1–4), 27–69.

Robert, P. (2022). Public school funding in the United States and its systemic inequities. *Economia Aziendale Online 2000 Web*, 13(1), 143–147. https://doi.org/10.13132/2038-5498/13.1.143-147

- Ross, T. (2016). The differential effects of parental involvement on high school completion and post-secondary attendance. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 24(30).
- Roulston, K., & Choi, M. (2018). Qualitative Interviews.
- Rudenstine, S., McNeal, K., Schulder, T., Ettman, C. K., Hernandez, M., Gvozdieva, K., & Galea, S. (2020). Depression and anxiety during the COVID-19 pandemic in an urban, low-income public university sample. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, *34*(1), 12–22. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.22600
- Saldana, J. (2013). The Coding Manual for Qualitative Researchers. United Kingdom: SAGE Publications.
- Sandelowski M. (2000). Focus on research methods. Whatever happened to qualitative description? *Research in Nursing & Health*, *23*(4), 334–340.
- Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S., Waterfield, J., Bartlam, B., Burroughs, H.,
 & Jinks, C. (2018). Saturation in qualitative research: exploring its
 conceptualization and operationalization. *Quality & quantity*, 52(4), 1893–1907.

- Sawyer, B. E., Cycyk, L. M., Sandilos, L. E., & Hammer, C. S. (2016). 'so many books they don't even all fit on the bookshelf': An examination of low-income mothers' home literacy practices, beliefs and influencing factors. *Journal of Early Childhood Literacy*, *18*(3), 338–372. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468798416667542
- Schiff, M. (2018). Can restorative justice disrupt the 'school-to-prison pipeline?'. Contemporary Justice Review, 21(2), 121-139.
- Sebastian, J., Moon, J., & Cunningham, M. (2017) The relationship of school-based parental involvement with student achievement: a comparison of principal and parent survey reports from PISA 2012, Educational Studies, 43:2, 123-146, https://doi.org/10.1080/03055698.2016.1248900
- Seeberg, V. (2021). Family engagement in Black students' academic success: achievement and resistance in an American suburban school. Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group.
- Seidman, I. (2019). Interviewing as qualitative research: A guide for researchers in education and the Social Sciences. Teachers College Press.
- Shatkin, G., & Gershberg, A. I. (2007). Empowering parents and building communities:The role of school-based councils in educational governance and accountability. *Urban Education*, 42(6), 582–615.
- Sheldon, S. B., & Turner-Vorbeck, T. (2019). *The Wiley Handbook of Family, school, and community relationships in Education*. Wiley Blackwell.
- Siegel, M. (2020). Racial Disparities in Fatal Police Shootings: An Empirical Analysis Informed by Critical Race Theory. *Boston University Law Review*, 100(3), 1069– 1092.

Simpkins, S., Estrella, G., Gaskin, E., & Kloberdanz, E. (2018). Latino parents' science beliefs and support of high school students' motivational beliefs: Do the relations vary across gender and familism values? *Social Psychology of Education: An International Journal*, 21(5), 1203. https://doi.org/1.10.1007/s11218-018-9459-5

Sonnenschein, S., & Sun, S. (2017). Racial/ethnic differences in kindergartners' reading and math skills: Parents' knowledge of children's development and home-based activities as mediators. *Infant & Child Development*, 26(5), https://doi.org/10.1002/icd.2010

- Suizzo, M., Pahlke, E., Yarnell, L., Chen, K., & Romero, S. (2014). Home-based parental involvement in young children's learning across U.S. ethnic groups: Cultural models of academic socialization. *Journal of Family Issues*, 35(2), 254.
- Suizzo, M. A., Jackson, K. M., & Nauman, C. (2023). Low-income adolescents' future goals and current achievement: Parents as sources of resilience during the transition to middle school. *Journal of Early Adolescence*, 43(6), 815–838. https://doi.org/10.1177/02724316221126414
- Swaminathan, R., & Mulvihill, T. M. (2017). *Critical approaches to questions in qualitative research*. Routledge Taylor & Francis Group.
- Tan, C. Y. (2017). Do parental attitudes toward and expectations for their children's education and future jobs matter for their children's school achievement? *British Educational Research Journal*, 43(6), 1111–1130.

https://doi.org/10.1002/berj.3303

- Tan, C. Y., Lyu, M., & Peng, B. (2019). Academic benefits from parental involvement are stratified by parental socioeconomic status: A meta-analysis. *PARENTING SCIENCE AND PRACTICE*. https://doi.org/10.1080/15295192.2019.1694836
- Tatlah, I. A., Masood, S., & Amin, M. (2019). Impact of parental expectations and students' academic self-concept on their academic achievements. *Journal of Research & Reflections in Education (JRRE)*, 13(2), 170–182.
- Thomas, V., Muls, J., De Backer, F., & Lombaerts, K. (2020). Middle school student and parent perceptions of parental involvement: unravelling the associations with school achievement and wellbeing. *EDUCATIONAL STUDIES*, 46(4), 404–421. https://doi.org/10.1080/03055698.2019.1590182
- Tracy, S. K. (2020). *Qualitative research methods: collecting evidence, crafting analysis, communicating impact* (2nd ed.). Wiley-Blackwell.
- Trinidad, J. E. (2019). Collective Expectations Protecting and Preventing Academic Achievement. *Education and Urban Society*, 51(9), 1147–1171. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124518785444
- Tulagan, N., & Eccles, J. S. (2021). African-American mothers' socialization strategies to address adolescent-related academic expectations and risk concerns. *Journal of Child & Family Studies*, 30(4), 855–869. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-021-01922-6
- Vaismoradi M, Turunen H, & Bondas T. (2013) Content analysis and thematic analysis: Implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study. *Nursing & Health Sciences* 15: 398–405.

- Vera, E. M., Heineke, A., Carr, A. L., Camacho, D., Israel, M. S., Goldberger, N., ... & Hill, M. (2017). Latino parents of English learners in catholic schools: Home vs. school based educational involvement. *Journal of Catholic Education*, 20(2), n2.
- VanValkenburgh, J., Putnam, J., & Porter, M. (2021). Middle school parent involvement: Perceptions of teachers and parents. *Middle School Journal*, 52(4), 33–42. https://doi-/10.1080/00940771.2021.1948299
- Vasquez Heilig, J., Brewer, T. J., & Williams, Y. (2019). Choice without inclusion?:Comparing the intensity of racial segregation in charters and public schools at the local, state and national Levels. *Education Sciences*, 9.
- Vukojević, M. (2017). Parental socioeconomic status as a predictor of physical and mental health outcomes in children – literature review. Acta Clinica Croatica. https://doi.org/10.20471/acc.2017.56.04.23
- Walker, B. L. T. (2020). "Loud, proud, and love a crowd:" African American girls and school discipline practices. *Middle School Journal*, 51(1), 12–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/00940771.2019.1689776
- Walker, J. M. T., Wilkins, A. S., Dallaire, J. R., Sandler, H. M., & Hoover, D. K. V. (2005). Parental involvement: Model revision through scale development. *The Elementary School Journal*, *106*(2), 85–104. https://doi.org/10.1086/499193

Walton, S. (2020). Why the critical race theory concept of 'White supremacy' should not be dismissed by neo-Marxists: Lessons from contemporary Black radicalism. *Power and Education*, *12*(1), 78–94. https://doi.org/10.1177/1757743819871316

- Wang, C., La Salle, T. P., Do, K. A., Wu, C., & Sullivan, K. E. (2019). Does parental involvement matter for students' mental health in middle school? *School Psychology*, 34(2), 222–232. https://doi.org/10.1037
- Wang, M.-T., & Sheikh-Khalil, S. (2014). Does parental involvement matter for student achievement and mental health in high school? *Child Development*, 85(2), 610– 625. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12153
- Wang, M., Smith, L. V., Miller, C. D., Huguley, J. P., Wang, M.-T., & Miller-Cotto, D. (2020). Parental ethnic-racial socialization and children of color's academic success: A meta-analytic review. *Child Development*, 91(3), e528–e544. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13254
- Welsh, Elaine (2002). Dealing with data: using NVivo in the qualitative data analysis process. *Qualitative Social Research*, *3*(2), Art. 26.
- Werber, B., & Fagnano, C. L. (2019). School, family, and community interaction: A view from the firing lines. United Kingdom: Taylor & Francis.
- White, C., Nash, L., Karageorge, A., van der Pol, R., Hunt, G. E., Hamilton, B., & Isobel,
 S. (2022). Bridging the gap: A new integrated early intervention service for young people with complex mental health issues. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, 16(2), 186-194.
- Williams, M., & Moser, T. (2019). The Art of Coding and Thematic Exploration in Qualitative Research. *International Management Review*, 15(1), 45–55.
- Williams-Johnson, M., & Gonzalez-DeHass, A. R. (2022). Parental role construction leading to parental involvement in culturally distinct communities. *Educational Psychologist*, 57(4), 231–237. https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2022.2131554

- Williams-Johnson, M., & Fields-Smith, C. (2022). Homeschooling among Black families as a form of parental involvement: A focus on parental role construction, efficacy, and emotions. *Educational Psychologist*, 57(4), 252–266. https://doi-/10.1080/00461520.2022.2129648
- Wong, R. S., Ho, F. K., Wong, W. H., Tung, K. T., Chow, C. B., Rao, N., Chan, K. L., &
- Ip, P. (2018). Parental involvement in primary school education: Its relationship with children's academic performance and psychosocial competence through engaging children with school. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *27*(5), 1544–1555. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-017-1011-2
- Woods, L. L. (2018). "The inevitable products of racial segregation": Multigenerational consequences of exclusionary housing policies on African Americans, 1910–1960. *American Journal of Economics & Sociology*, 77(3/4), 967–1012. doi-https://doi.org/10.1111/ajes.12229

Xu, L., Ma, L., & Duan, P. (2022). Relationship between perceived parental academic expectations and students' self-regulated learning ability: A cross-sectional study. FRONTIERS IN PSYCHOLOGY, 13.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.786298

- Yamamoto, Y., & Sonnenschein, S. (2016). Family contexts of academic socialization: The role of culture, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status. *Research in Human Development*, 13(3), 183–190. https://doi.org/10.1080/15427609.2016.1194711
- Yarborough, M. (2021). Moving towards less biased research. BMJ Open Science, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjos-2020-100116

- Yosso, T. J. (2006). *Critical race counterstories along the Chicana/Chicano educational pipeline*. Routledge.
- Yotyodying, S., & Wild, E. (2019). Effective family–school communication for students with learning disabilities: Associations with parental involvement at home and in school. *Learning, Culture and Social Interaction, 22*, 100317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lcsi.2019.100317
- Yull, D., Wilson, M., Murray, C., & Parham, L. (2018). Reversing the dehumanization of families of color in schools: Community-based research in a race-conscious parent engagement program. *School Community Journal 28*(1). 319-247.

Zamudio, M. (2011). Critical race theory matters: Education and ideology. Routledge.

- Zhang, M. R., Shen, Y., Choi, Y., & Kim, K. (2023). Parental Academic Socialization and Youth Adjustments: A Comparison of Korean Youth in South Korea, China, and the United States. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 52(12), 2526-2544.
- Zhao, J., & Bodovski, K. (2020). The effect of family background and parental expectations on eighth graders' academic achievement in rural and urban China. *Frontiers of Education in China*, *15*(4), 647–677. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11516-020-0030-8
- Zhou, G., & Zhong, L. (2018). Chinese immigrant parents' involvement in their children's School-Based Education: Behaviours and Perceptions. *Home-School Relations*, 89–111. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-0324-1_6
- Zulfiqar, N., Shafi, M. T., & Ajmal, R. (2023). Academic achievement of first-generation university students in spotlight: Role of parental involvement, autonomy support,

and academic motivation. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory* & *Practice*, 0(0). https://doi.org/10.1177/15210251231160774

Appendix

Interview Protocol

Interview Protocol

Date:	Time:	Location:
Interviewer:		
Interviewee:		
Interviewer's Currer	t Position:	

Consent Agreement:

The interviewee has signed the consent form and has given the interviewer permission to record the interview. Please circle YES or NO.

Confidentiality Statement:

Any information you provide in this interview will be kept confidential. Your name and identity will be anonymous and replaced by a six-digit code. The information you provide today will be stored in an encrypted file and secured by multifactor authentication.

Purpose of Study:

The purpose of this study will be to examine the reasons why African American parents at the target secondary school are not fully engaged in policymaking and organizational activities.

Length of the Interview

The interview will take approximately 45–60 minutes. The interview will be divided into four sections: background information, perception of parental involvement, barriers to parental involvement, and family-school partnerships.

Interviewer: Do you have any questions about confidentiality, the purpose of the study, or the topics being discussed?

Background Information

Can you tell me a little about yourself and your family?

How would you describe your socioeconomic status?

A. Low

- B. Medium
- C. High

What is the highest level of education you have obtained?

How many children do you have, and how many are in school?

Are you the sole breadwinner of the family?

- A. If yes, what is your daily work schedule?
- B. If not, who is most likely to attend a school event?

Perception of Parental Involvement

- 1. What do you think about parental involvement in education?
- 2. What do you think about parental involvement in education at the high school level?
- 3. How would you describe your current involvement in your child's education?
 - a. What educational practices do you use to support your student at home?
 - b. What educational practices do you use to support your student at school?
- 4. What do you think about the school's Open House?
- 5. Do you attend?
- 6. What would encourage you to attend?
 - a. Are they helpful?
 - b. Are they inviting?
- 7. What do you think about school-based activities such as volunteering, parent council, and School Site Council?
 - a. Have you ever volunteered at a school event? How did you feel about that experience?

- b. Have you ever been part of a parent council? How did you feel about that experience?
- c. How would you describe the School Site Council?
- d. Are you currently a parent council, school's governance committee, or School Site Council member?

Barriers to Parental Involvement

- 1. What experiences have shaped your involvement in your child's education?
- 2. What experiences have shaped the way you interact with the school?
- 3. What experiences have shaped the way you interact with teachers?
- 4. Have the experiences influenced your use of one parental involvement strategy over the other? (An example would be using more home-based parental involvement over school-based involvement.)
- 5. In your current job, do you have the flexibility to attend school-based activities such as volunteering at an event or participating in a committee?
- 6. In your opinion, do you feel that you are encouraged by the school to participate in school-based activities?
 - a. If yes, how did the school encourage you?
 - b. If not, why do you think the school did not encourage you?
 - c. What would you need to feel welcome or encouraged to participate?
- 7. Do you feel that your work and family responsibilities have influenced your level of involvement in your child's education at home and in school?
- 8. Has racism influenced how you interact with your child's school? If so, how?

9. Have white supremacy practices influenced how you interact with your child's school?

Family and School Partnerships

- 1. How would you describe your relationship with your child's school?
- 2. How do you communicate with the school? How do you communicate with guidance counselors and teachers?
- 3. How does the school communicate with you? How do you feel about the way the school communicates with you?
- 4. Do you think that you are a valued member of the school community?
- 5. What can the school do to strengthen the relationship with parents?
- 6. What can you do as a parent to strengthen your relationship with the school?